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Dear Fellow Shareholder:

Fiscal year 2006 represented our third full year operating as a public company during which we
continued our positive momentum by accelerating our geographic expansion and by recruiting additional
experienced management personnel. Within the past several months, we have opened new retail-commercial
banking offices in both Hamblen and Knox Counties. Qur recent additions of the Merchants-Greene office in
west Hamblen County and our Farragut office in west Knox County have allowed us to expand our customer
base and to strengthen our continued commitment to provide quality people, services and products to forge
lasting relationships with our customers in the Morristown and Knoxville communities. To best serve our
shareholders, customers, and employees, we continue to watch for strategic branch location sites. Our most
recent land acquisition was in the desirable west Knoxville neighborhood of Bearden Hill, where construction
on our next branch office is well underway with an estimated completion date of mid 2007.

As a community-oriented financial institution, our success depends greatly on providing high quality
customer service. During the last half of this fiscal year, we were able to strengthen our management group
through the recruitment of an experienced retail banking executive, as well as experienced bankers to lead our
expansions in Hamblen and Knox Counties. We have a strong management team and an excellent mix of credit
and deposit products to enable us to retain existing customers, as well as attract new customer relationships.

Fiscal year 2006 was our second year of compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which represents an
ongoing effort to put technology and policies in place to meet the high levels of company and management
accountability required under the Act. To achieve regulatory compliance and ensure shareholder confidence,
in 2006 we continued our monitoring pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, in addition to outsourcing our
internal audit and compliance work to an independent third party.

Capital management remains an important tool for Jefferson Bancshares. Our first and second stock
repurchase programs were completed in March 2006 and we authorized a third repurchase program in
February 2006 to repurchase an additional 690,261 shares of our common stock. As of June 30, 2006, we had
repurchased 1,793,091 shares, or 21% of our original outstanding shares.

Fiscal year 2006 was a challenging period for financial institutions, as the rising interest rate environment
in conjunction with a continued flattening of the yield curve put downward pressure on net interest income.
Despite this difficult environment, we were successful in responding to the challenge, as net earnings for the
fiscal year were positively impacted by a 22% growth in our loan portfolio. A 15% increase in interest income
was mostly offset by a 50% increase in interest expense, producing a slight increase in net interest income over
last year. Asset quality continued to improve as evidenced by a net charge-off to average loans ratio of .02%
as compared to .09% and .19% for the prior two fiscal periods. With a full year of secondary market mortgage
originations completed, we are pleased with the level of non-interest income this area generated in fiscal 2006
and we anticipate additional fee income in 2007 and beyond.



As consolidation in our industry continues, we see opportunities to acquire not only new customers, but
also experienced bankers in attractive markets that lack the presence of a mid-sized regional bank. While we
anticipate that our investment in the expansion into the Knox County market will yield significant long-term
benefits for our company, we continue to seek strategic opportunities that make sense for our company.

Thank you for your confidence and support of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc.

Sincerely,

Anderson L. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer




JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC.

120 Evans Avenue
Morristown, Tennessee 37814
(423) 586-8421

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

ITEMS OF BUSINESS ........

RECORDDATE. .............

PROXY VOTING .............

September 18, 2006

2:00 p.m. on Thursday, October 26, 2006

Independence Room
Jefferson Federal Bank
120 Evans Avenue
Morristown, Tennessee

(1)  To elect three directors to serve for a term of three years.

(2) To ratify the selection of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C. as our
independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2007.

(3) To transact such other business as may properly come before the
meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

To vote, you must have been a stockholder at the close of business on
August 31, 2006.

It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting.
You can vote your shares via the Internet, by telephone or by completing
and returning the proxy card or voting instruction card sent to you.
Voting instructions are printed on your proxy or voting instruction card
and included in the accompanying proxy statement. You can revoke

a proxy at any time before its exercise at the meeting by following the
instructions in the proxy statement.

%IQW/J%D

Jane P. Hutton
Chief Financial Officer and
Corporate Secretary




JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT

This proxy statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors
of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (“Jefferson Bancshares” or the “Company™) to be used at the annual meeting
of shareholders of the Company. Jefferson Bancshares is the holding company for Jefferson Federal Bank
(“Jefferson Federal”). The annual meeting will be held in the Independence Room of Jefferson Federal at 120
Evans Avenue, Morristown, Tennessee on October 26, 2006, at 2:00 p.m., local time. This proxy statement and
the enclosed proxy card are being first mailed to shareholders of record on or about September 18, 2006.

General Information About Voting

Who Can Vote at the Meeting

You are entitled to vote your Jefferson Bancshares common stock if the records of the Company show
that you held your shares as of the close of business on August 31, 2006. As of the close of business on August
31, 2006, a total of 6,601,754 shares of Jefferson Bancshares common stock were outstanding. Each share of
common stock has one vote. The Company’s Charter provides that record holders of the Company’s common
stock who beneficially own, either directly or indirectly, in excess of 10% of the Company’s outstanding shares
are not entitled to any vote in respect of the shares held in excess of the 10% limit. With respect to shares held
by a broker, bank or nominee, the Company generally will lock beyond the holder of the shares to the person or
entity for whom the shares are held when applying the voting limitation. However, where the ultimate owner
of the shares has granted voting authority to the broker, bank or nominee that holds the shares, the Company
would apply the 10% voting limitation to the broker, bank or nominee.

Attending the Meeting

[f you are a beneficial owner of Jefferson Bancshares common stock held by a broker, bank or other
nominee (i.e., in “street name”), you will need proof of ownership to be admitted to the meeting. A recent
brokerage statement or letter from a bank or broker are examples of proof of ownership. If you want to vote
your shares of Jefferson Bancshares common stock held in street name in person at the meeting, you will have
to get a written proxy in your name from the broker, bank or other nominee who holds your shares.

Quorum and Vote Required

The annual meeting will be held only if there is a quorum present. A quorum exists if a majority of the
outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote are represented at the meeting. If you return valid proxy
instructions or attend the meeting in person, your shares will be counted for purposes of determining whether
there is a quorum, even if you abstain from voting. Broker non-votes also will be counted for purposes of
determining the existence of a quorum. A broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee
holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not
have discretionary voting power with respect to that item and has not received voting instructions from the
beneficial owner.

In voting on the election of directors, you may vote in favor of all nominees, withhold votes as to
all nominees, or withhold votes as to specific nominees. There is no cumulative voting for the election of
directors. Directors must be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the annual meeting. This means that the
nominees receiving the greatest number of votes will be elected. Votes that are withheld and broker non-votes
will have no effect on the outcome of the election,




In voting on the ratification of the appointment of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C. as the independent
registered public accounting firm of the Company, you may vote in favor of the proposal, vote against the
proposal or abstain from voting. The ratification of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C. as the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes
cast at the annual meeting. On this matter, abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the voting.

Voting by Proxy

The Board of Directors of Jefferson Bancshares is sending you this proxy statement for the purpose of
requesting that you allow your shares of Jefferson Bancshares common stock to be represented at the annual
meeting by the persons named in the enclosed proxy card. All shares of Jefferson Bancshares common stock
represented at the meeting by properly executed and dated proxies will be voted according to the instructions
indicated on the proxy card. If you sign, date and return a proxy card without giving voting instructions,
your shares will be voted as recommended by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Board of Directors
recommends that you vote:

e foreach of the nominees for director; and

o forthe ratification of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C. as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm.

If any matters not described in this proxy statement are properly presented at the annual meeting, the
persons named in the proxy card will use their own best judgment to determine how to vote your shares. This
includes a motion to adjourn or postpone the annual meeting in order to solicit additional proxies. If the annual
meeting is postponed or adjourned, your Jefferson Bancshares common stock may be voted by the persons
named in the proxy card on the new annual meeting date as well, unless you have revoked your proxy. The
Company does not know of any other matters to be presented at the annual meeting.

You may revoke your proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the meeting, regardless of whether you
submitted your original proxy by mail, the Internet or telephone. To revoke your proxy, you must either advise
the Corporate Secretary of the Company in writing before your common stock has been voted at the annual
meeting, deliver a later dated proxy or attend the meeting and vote your shares in person. Attendance at the
annual meeting will not in and of itself constitute revocation of your proxy.

If your Jefferson Bancshares common stock is held in “street name,” you will receive instructions from
your broker, bank or other nominee that you must follow in order to have your shares voted. Your broker, bank
or other nominee may allow you to deliver your voting instructions via the telephone or the Internet. Please see
the instruction form provided by your broker, bank or other nominee that accompanies this proxy statement.

Instead of voting by mailing a proxy card, registered stockholders can vote their shares of Company
common stock via the Internet or by telephone. The Internet and telephone voting procedures are designed to
authenticate stockholders’ identities, allow stockholders to provide their voting instructions and confirm that
their instructions have been recorded properly. Specific instructions for Internet or telephone voting are set
forth on the enclosed proxy card. The deadline for voting by telephone or via the Internet is 11:59 p.m., Eastern
time, on Wednesday, October 25, 2006.

Participants in Jefferson Federal’s ESOP and 401(k) Plan

If you participate in the Jefferson Federal Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “ESOP”) or if
you hold shares through the Jefferson Federal Bank Employees’ Savings & Profit Sharing Plan and Trust
(the “401(k) Plan™ ), you will receive a single voting instruction card for both plans that reflects all shares you
may vote under the plans. You may submit the voting instruction card, or convey your voting instructions via
the Internet or by telephone. Specific instructions for Internet or telephone submission are set forth in the
voting instruction card. Under the terms of the ESOP, the ESOP trustee votes all shares held by the ESOP, but
each ESOP participant may direct the trustee how to vote the shares of common stock allocated to his or her
account. The ESOP trustee, subject to the exercise of its fiduciary duties, will vote all unallocated shares of
Company common stock held by the ESOP and allocated shares for which no voting instructions are received
in the same proportion as shares for which it has received timely voting instructions. Under the terms of the




401(k) Plan, a participant is entitled to direct the trustee as to the shares in the Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. Stock
Fund credited to his or her account. The trustee will vote all shares for which no directions are given or for
which instructions were not timely received in the same proportion as shares for which the trustee received

voting instructions. The deadline for submitting your voting instructions is 11:59 p.m., Eastern time, on
Thursday, October 19, 2006.

Corporate Governance

General

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance policies and procedures to ensure that the
Company meets the highest standards of ethical conduct, reports results with accuracy and transparency and
maintains full compliance with the laws, rules and regulations that govern the Company’s operations. As
part of this periodic corporate governance review, the Board of Directors reviews and adopts best corporate
governance policies and practices for the Company.

Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures
Jefferson Bancshares has adopted a corporate governance policy to govern certain activities including:
(1) the duties and responsibilities of each director;
(2) the composition, responsibilities and operation of the board of directors;
(3) the establishment and operation of board committees;
(4) succession planning;
(5) appointing an independent lead director and convening executive sessions of independent directors;
(6) the Board of Directors’ interaction with management and third parties; and

(7) the evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors and of the chief executive officer.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that is designed to ensure that the
Company’s directors, executive officers and employees meet the highest standards of ethical conduct. The
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct requires that the Company’s directors, executive officers and employees
avoid conflicts of interest, comply with all laws and other legal requirements, conduct business in an honest
and ethical manner and otherwise act with integrity and in the Company’s best interest. Under the terms of the
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, directors, executive officers and employees are required to report any
conduct that they believe in good faith to be an actual or apparent violation of the Code.

As a mechanism to encourage compliance with the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, the Company
has established procedures to receive, retain and treat complaints received regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing matters. These procedures ensure that individuals may submit concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters in a confidential and anonymous manner. The Code
of Ethics and Business Conduct also prohibits the Company from retaliating against any director, executive
officer or employee who reports actual or apparent violations of the Code.

Meetings of the Board of Directors

The Company and Jefferson Federal conduct business through meetings and activities of their Boards
of Directors and their committees. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, the Board of Directors of the
Company held 12 regular meetings and two special meetings and the Board of Directors of Jefferson Federal
held 12 regular meetings and two special meetings. No director attended fewer than 75% of the total meetings
of the Boards of Directors and committees on which he served.




Committees of the Board of Directors of Jefferson Bancshares

The following table identifies our standing committees and their members as of June 30, 2006. All
members of each committee are independent in accordance with the listing standards of the Nasdaqg Stock
Market, Inc.

Nominating/

Audit/ Corporate

Compliance Compensation Governance
Director Committee Committee Committee
Dr. Terry M. Brimer.......................... X X* X
Dr. Jack E. Campbell ......................... X* X X
WilliamT.Hale .......... ... ... ... ......... X X X
JohnF. McCrary, Jr. ... i
H.ScottReams............. ... ..., X X*
Anderson L. Smith...........................
WilliamF. Young . .......... ... ... .. ...... X X
Number of Meetings in 2006 .. ................. 6 4 1

* Denotes Chairperson

Audit/Compliance Committee. The Board of Directors has a separately-designated standing Audit/
Compliance Committee (the “Audit Committee™ ) established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Committee meets periodically with independent
auditors and management to review accounting, auditing, internal control structure and financial reporting
matters. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent in accordance with the listing standards of
Nasdaq. The Board of Directors has determined that the Audit Committee does not have a member who is an
“audit committee financial expert” as such term is defined by the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. While the Board recognizes that no individual Board member meets the qualifications
required of an “audit committee financial expert,” the Board believes that appointment of a new director to the
Board of Directors and to the Audit Committee at this time is not necessary as the level of financial knowledge
and experience of the current members of the Audit Committee, including the ability to read and understand
fundamental financial statements, is cumulatively sufficient to discharge adequately the Audit Committee’s
responsibilities. The Audit Committee acts under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, a copy
of which is included as Appendix A to this proxy statement. The report of the Audit Committee required by
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission is included in this proxy statement. See “Proposal
2—Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Report of Audit/Compliance Committee.’

’

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is responsible for determining annual grade
and salary levels for employees and establishing personnel policies. The Compensation Committee operates
under a written charter. The report of the Compensation Committee appears in this proxy statement under the
heading “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation.”

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for the annual selection of the Board of Directors’ nominees for election as directors and developing
and implementing policies and practices relating to corporate governance, including implementation of and
monitoring adherence to Jefferson Bancshares’ corporate governance policy. The Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee acts under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, a copy of which was
included as Appendix A to Jefferson Bancshares’ proxy statement filed on September 15, 2004. Information
regarding the director nomination process appears in this proxy statement under the heading “Nominating/
.Corporate Governance Committee Procedures.”




Directors’ Compensation

Cash Retainer and Meeting Fees for Directors. The following table sets forth the applicable retainers
and fees that will be paid to our directors for their service on our Board of Directors during 2007.

Quarterly Retainer for Board Service .............. ... .. ... ... ... $1,000
Fee for Attendance at Regular Board Meetings. . .......................... 800
Fee for Attendance at Special Board Meetings .. ............. ... ... .. .... 200
Fee for Attendance at Committee Meetings ............ ... ... ... .. ..., 100
Monthly Retainer for Chairman .............. ... .. ... . o i, 1,000

Director Compensation. The following table sets forth the total cash compensation paid to our
directors, except for Mr. Smith, whose compensation is disclosed under “Executive Compensation - Summary
Compensation Table” of this proxy statement, for their service on our Board of Directors during 2006. During
2006, no restricted stock awards or stock options were granted to our directors.

Directors Cash

Dr. Terry M. Brimer. .. ..o oo i i e e $15,100
Dr.Jack E. Campbell ... ... 15,100
William T. Hale . ... 15,100
John F. McCrary, Jr. . ..o e 26,100
H. Scott ReamS . . oottt i e e e 14,500
William F. Young . . ... oo e 14,500

5




Stock Ownership

The following table provides information as of August 31, 2006 about the persons, other than directors

and executive officers, known to the Company to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. A person may be considered to beneficially own any shares of common stock over
which he or she has, directly or indirectly, sole or shared voting or investment power. ‘

Percent of
Number of Common Stock
Name and Address Shares Owned Outstanding
Jefferson Federal Bank . . ...................... 669,189 10.1%

Employee Stock Ownership Plan
120 Evans Avenue
Morristown, Tennessee 37814

Bank of America Corporation . ................. 473,8500 7.2%
NB Holdings Corporation

Bank of America, NA

Columbia Management Group, LLC

Columbia Management Advisors, LLC

100 North Tryon Street

Floor 25

Bank of America Corporate Center

Charlotte, North Carolina 28255

Friedlander & Co., Inc........... ... ... ....... 363,300@ 5.5%
Theodore Friedlander 111

322 East Michigan Street

Suite 250

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202

0

@

Based upon information in a Schedule 13G/A filed jointly on February 8, 2006 with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). According to this filing, Bank of America Corporation and NB
Holdings Corporation have shared voting power with respect to 377,050 shares and shared dispositive
power with respect to 473,850 shares; Bank of America, NA has sole voting power with respect to 79,250
shares, shared voting power with respect to 297,800 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 86,750
shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 387,100 shares; and Columbia Management Group,
LLC and Columbia Management Advisors, LLC have shared voting power with respect to 297,800 shares
and shared dispositive power with respect to 387,100 shares.

Based upon information in a Schedule 13G filed on February 8, 2006 with the SEC. According to this
filing, Friedlander & Co., Inc. (“Friedlander”) has sole dispositive power with respect to 363,300 shares
and Theodore Friedlander III has sole voting power with respect to 20,000 shares. Mr. Friedlander is a
controlling person of Friedlander and as such may be deemed to benefically own the shares of Company
common stock benefically owned by Friedlander. Mr. Friedlander benefically owns less than 1% of the
shares held by Friedlander and disclaims beneficial ownership of all other shares held by Friedlander.




The following table provides information as of August 31, 2006 about the shares of Jefferson Bancshares
common stock that may be considered to be beneficially owned by each director, each nominee for director and
all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. A person may be considered to beneficially
own any shares of common stock over which he or she has, directly or indirectly, sole or shared voting or
investment power. Unless otherwise indicated, each of the named individuals has sole voting power and sole
investment power with respect to the shares shown.

Number of Shares

Number of That May Be
Shares Owned Acquired Within Percent of

(Excluding 60 Days by Common Stock
Name Options)® Exercising Options Outstanding®
Dr. Terry M.Brimer.............................. 103,5109 16,881 1.82%
Dr.Jack E.Campbell ............................. 69,989® 13,681 1.26
Anthony J. Carasso. ... 8,604® — *
WiliamT.Hale ........... ... ... ... .. ... ....... 97,711® 10,482 1.64
JohnF. McCrary, Jr. ......... ..o i 160,191™ 10,482 2.58
H.ScottReams. ..., 115,627® 10,482 1.91
CharlesG. Robinette. . .............. ..., 18,5940 — *
AndersonL.Smith . ......... .. 68,47900 35,615 1.57
WilllamF. Young ........... ... ... i 94,1169 14,748 1.65
All directors and executive officers as a group

(I3 Persons). ..o e 830,766 151,248 14.54%

* Less than 1.0%.

(1) Includes unvested shares of restricted stock held in trust under the Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. 2004 Stock-
Based Incentive Plan, with respect to which the beneficial owner has voting but not investment power as
follows: Messrs. Brimer, Campbell, Hale, McCrary, Reams and Young — 8,384 shares; and Mr. Smith
— 27,950 shares.

(2) Based on 6,601,754 shares of Company common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of the close
of business on August 31, 2006, plus the number of shares that may be acquired within 60 days by each
individual (or group of individuals) by exercising stock options.

(3) Includes 36,500 shares held by his wife.
4) Includes 54,249 shares held jointly with his wife.

(5) Includes 1,896 shares allocated under the Jefferson Federal Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan
(“ESOP”).

(6) Includes 25,000 shares held by his wife.
(7) Includes 1,760 shares allocated under the ESOP.

(8) Includes 88,632 shares held jointly with his wife, 12,500 shares held by 401(k) plan, 1,500 shares held by
TR A and 2,050 shares held by his wife.

(9) Includes 300 shares held by IRA, 700 shares held jointly with his wife and 2,594 shares allocated under
the ESOP.

(10) Includes 18,000 shares held jointly with his wife, 4,903 shares held by 401(k) plan, 15,000 shares held by
IR A and 9,614 shares allocated under the ESOP.

(11) Includes 24,183 shares held by his wife, 14,820 shares held by his wife’s IRA and 16,845 shares held by
IRA.




Proposal 1 — Election of Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors consists of seven members, all of whom are independent under the
current listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market, except for Mr. Smith and Mr. McCrary. Mr. Smith is
not independent because he is an employee of Jefferson Bancshares and Jefferson Federal, and Mr. McCrary is
not independent because he receives a salary from Jefferson Federal for his service as Chairman of the Board
of Directors. The Board is divided into three classes with three-year staggered terms, with approximately
one-third of the directors elected each year. Three directors will be elected at the annual meeting to serve
for a three-year term, or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified. The nominees are
Anderson L. Smith, Dr. Jack E. Campbell and William F. Young. All of the nominees are currently directors of
the Company and Jefferson Federal.

The Board of Directors intends that the proxies solicited by it will be voted for the election of the
nominees named above. If any nominee is unable to serve, the persons named in the proxy card will vote your
shares to approve the election of any substitute proposed by the Board of Directors. Alternatively, the Board of
Directors may adopt a resolution to reduce the size of the Board. At this time, the Board of Directors knows of

no reason why any nominee might be unable to serve.
The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of all nominees.

Information regarding the nominees for election at the annual meeting is provided below. Unless
otherwise stated, each nominee has held his current occupation for the last five years. The age indicated
for each individual is as of June 30, 2006. The indicated period of service as a director includes service as
a director of Jefferson Federal. There are no family relationships among directors or executive officers of
Jefferson Bancshares.

Board Nominees for Election of Directors

Anderson L. Smith has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Jefferson Federal and
Jefferson Bancshares since January 2002 and March 2003, respectively. Prior to joining Jefferson Federal, Mr.
Smith was President, Consumer Financial Services - East Tennessee Metro, First Tennessee Bank, National
Association. Age 58. Director since 2002.

Dr. Jack E. Campbell has served part-time as the President Emeritus of Walters State Community
College, Morristown, Tennessee since July 1, 2005. He previously served as the President of Walters State
Community College since 1974. Age 67. Director since 1979.

William F. Young is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Young’s Furniture Manufacturing
Company, Inc., of Whitesburg, Tennessee. Age 66. Director since 2000.

Directors Continuing in Office
The following directors have terms ending in 2007:

Dr. Terry M. Brimer is the President and majority owner of Doctor’s Hospital Pharmacy, Inc.,
Morristown, Tennessee. Age 58. Director since 1977.

H. Scott Reams is a Partner in the law firm of Taylor, Reams, Tilson and Harrison of Morristown,
Tennessee. Age 57. Director since 1982.

The following directors have terms ending in 2008:

William T. Hale is employed by PFG-Hale, Inc., a wholesale food distributor. Age 54. Director since
2000.

John F. McCrary, Jr. is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Jefferson Bancshares and Jefferson
Federal. Mr. McCrary is a real estate broker and President of Century 21 Masengill-McCrary Realtors
Company and Secretary of Masengill-McCrary-Gregg Company, an insurance agency, both located in
Morristown, Tennessee. Age 81. Director since 1963.




Proposal 2 — Ratification of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Audit/Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors has appointed Craine, Thompson & Jones,
P.C. to be the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the 2007 fiscal year, subject to
ratification by shareholders. A representative of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C. is expected to be present at
the annual meeting to respond to appropriate questions from shareholders and will have the opportunity to
make a statement should he or she desire to do so.

If the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm is not approved
by a majority of the votes cast by shareholders at the annual meeting, the Audit/Compliance Committee will
consider other independent registered public accounting firms.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Craine,
Thompson & Jones, P.C. as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.

Audit Fees

The following table sets forth the fees billed to the Company for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2006 and
2005 by Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C.:

2006 2005
Auditfees . ... ... $62,370  $41,000
Auditrelatedfees . .............. ... .. ...... — —
Tax fees(1). ... v 14,410 9,130
Allotherfees(2) ......... ... ... i, 13,415 22,495

(1) Consists of tax filing and tax related compliance and other advisory services.

(2) Includes fees for assistance with securities filings other than periodic reports and section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act certification services.

Policy on Audit/Compliance Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit/Compliance Committee is responsible for appointing and reviewing the work of the
independent registered public accounting firm and setting the independent registered public accounting firm’s
compensation. In accordance with its charter, the Audit/Compliance Committee approves, in advance, all audit
and permissible non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm. This
approval process ensures that the independent registered public accounting firm does not provide any non-audit
services to the Company that are prohibited by law or regulation. During the year ended June 30, 2006, all
services were approved in advance by the Audit/Compliance Committee in compliance with these procedures.

Report of the Audit/Compliance Committee

The Audit/Compliance Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors is comprised of three non-
employee directors and operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. The Board of

Directors has determined that each Audit/Compliance Committee member is independent in accordance with
the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market.

The Company’s management is responsible for the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an independent audit of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and issuing an opinion on the conformity of those financial
statements with generally accepted accounting principals. The Audit/Compliance Committee oversees the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting on behalf of the Board of Directors.




In this context, the Audit/Compliance Committee has met and held discussions with management and the
independent registered public accounting firm. Management represented to the Audit/Compliance Committee
that the Company’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and the Audit/Compliance Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated
financial statements with management and the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit/
Compliance Committee discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm matters required
to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (“Communication With Audit Committees™),
including the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant
judgments, and the clarity of the disclosures in the financial statements.

In addition, the Audit/Compliance Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the
independent registered public accounting firm required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1
(“Independence Discussions With Audit Committees”) and has discussed with the independent registered
public accounting firm the auditors’ independence from the Company and its management. In concluding that
the auditors are independent, the Audit/Compliance Committee considered, among other factors, whether the
non-audit services provided by the auditors were compatible with its independence.

The Audit/Compliance Committee discussed with the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm the overall scope and plans for its audit. The Audit/Compliance Committee meets with the
independent registered public accounting firm, with and without management present, to discuss the results of
their examination, their evaluation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and the overall
quality of the Company’s financial reporting process.

In performing all of these functions, the Audit/Compliance Committee acts only in an oversight capacity.
In its oversight role, the Audit/Compliance Committee relies on the work and assurances of the Company’s
management, which has the primary responsibility for financial statements and reports, and of the independent
auditors who, in their report, express an opinion on the conformity of the Company’s financial statements to
generally accepted accounting principles. The Audit/Compliance Committee’s oversight does not provide it
with an independent basis to determine that management has maintained appropriate accounting and financial
reporting principles or policies, or appropriate internal controls and procedures designed to assure compliance
with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, the Audit/Compliance
Committee’s considerations and discussions with management and the independent auditors do not assure that
the Company’s financial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
that the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements has been carried out in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board or that the Company’s independent auditors are
in fact “independent.”

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referenced above, the Audit/Compliance Committee
recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board has approved, that the audited consolidated financial
statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2006 for
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit/Compliance Committee has appointed,
subject to shareholder ratification, the selection of the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

The Audit/Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors
of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc.

Dr. Jack E. Campbell (Chairman)
Dr. Terry M. Brimer
William T. Hale
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Executive Compensation

Summary Compensation Table

The following information is provided for our President and Chief Executive Officer and other executive
officers who received a salary and bonus totaling $100,000 or more during the year ended June 30, 2006.

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Compensation Awards
Restricted  Securities
Other Annual Stock Underlying All Other

Fiscal Salary Bonus  Compensation Awards Options Compensation
Name and Principal Positions Year ) (D) (%) %) (2) $)(3) #) [63]C))
AndersonL, Smith ............ 2006 $189,150  $42,533 $21,374 ) — — $44,562
President and Chief 2005 188,950 34,650 21,077 — — 63,703
Executive Officer 2004 181,000 64,350 21,077 478,301 69,875 41,259
Charles G. Robinette @ ... ... ... 2006 $159,400 $68,709 $20,472 $198,750 — $35,386
Chairman of the Knoxville 2005 72,269 15,940 7,800 — — —
Region of the Bank
Anthony J. Carasso ® .. ........ 2006 $127,500  $22,415 $ 4,359 $ 79,500 — 325,868
President of the Knoxville 2005 75,766 14,583 — — — —
Region of the Bank

(1)  For Mr. Smith, includes fees received for service on the board of directors which totaled $15,900 in fiscal
2006.

(2) Represents life, health and disability insurance premiums of $5,774, $4,872 and $4,359 that Jefferson
Federal paid on behalf of Messrs. Smith, Robinette and Carasso, respectively, in fiscal 2006. For Messrs.
Smith and Robinette, also includes an automobile allowance of $12,000 and taxable fringe benefits of
$3,600.

(3) The dollar amount represents the market value of 34,938 shares, 15,000 shares and 6,000 shares on
the date of grant for Messrs. Smith, Robinette and Carasso, respectively. The restricted stock awards
vest over five years, beginning in January 2005 for Mr. Smith and January 2006 for Messrs. Robinette
and Carasso. Restricted stock award recipients are entitled to receive all dividends paid (if any) on the
shares of common stock, subject to the terms of the restricted stock awards. The number and value of all
unvested shares of restricted stock that have been awarded to each named executive officer as of June 30,
2006, based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on June 30, 2006 ($12.95), is as follows:

Number of Value of
Unvested Shares Unvested Shares
AndersonL.Smith. ... ... .. ... .. ... ... ..... 20,962 $271,458
Charles G.Robinette. . ........... ... ... ... .... 15,000 $194,250
Anthony J. Carasso. .. ...coi i 6,000 $ 77,700

4) For Mr. Smith in fiscal 2006, includes stock allocated under the employee stock ownership plan with a
market value of $38,918 and receipt of $5,644 as the economic benefit of employer-paid premiums for
a split-dollar life insurance arrangement. For Messrs. Robinette and Carasso in fiscal 2006, consists of
stock allocated under the employee stock ownership plan with a market value of $35,386 and $25,868,
respectively.

(5) Messrs. Robinette and Carasso became employees of Jefferson Federal in January 2005. Therefore,
information for the first six months of fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 is not disclosed since they were not
executive officers during that period.
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Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Option Value at Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information regarding the exercise of options during the year ended June 30,
2006 and unexercised stock options as of June 30, 2006.

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Shares Dollar Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Options
Acquired Value Options at Fiscal Year End (1)
Name on Exercise Realized Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
AndersonL. Smith........... 3,000 $24,840 35,615 41,925 $59,480 $—

Charles G. Robinette. .. ... .... — — — — —_ _
Anthony J. Carasso........... — — —_ — — _

(1)  Value of unexercised in-the-money stock options equals the market value ($12.95) of shares covered by
in-the-money options on June 30, 2006 less the option exercise price. Options are in-the-money if the
market value of shares covered by the options is greater than the exercise price.

Employment Agreements. Jefferson Federal has entered into employment agreements with Anderson
L. Smith (effective June 25, 2003 and amended July 1, 2004) and Charles G. Robinette (effective January
1, 2005), each an “executive.” Mr. Smith’s agreement has an initial three-year term, while Mr. Robinette’s
agreement has an initial three and a half year term. The agreements commence on the first anniversary date
of the employment agreement (or in the case of Mr. Robinette, on June 30, 2006), and continuing on each
anniversary thereafter, the disinterested members of the Board of Directors may extend the agreement for an
additional year so that the remaining term of the agreement is 36 months, unless Mr. Smith or Mr. Robinette
provides written notice of termination. The fiscal 2006 base salaries for Mr. Smith and Mr. Robinette are
$173,250 and $159,400, respectively, which amounts may be increased at the discretion of the Board of
Directors on an annual basis. The employment agreements provide both Mr. Smith and Mr. Robinette with
a bonus program that enables them to earn up to 50% of their respective base salaries, on an annual basis.
The amount of the bonus is determined by specific performance standards and a formula agreed to by the
executives and Jefferson Federal annually. The employment agreements are terminable by Jefferson Federal at
any time, with or without cause, and by the executives at any time with or without cause, or for Good Reason
(as defined in the agreements). If an executive is terminated from employment without cause or he elects to
terminate his agreement following an event constituting Good Reason, Jefferson Federal would be required to
honor the terms of the agreement through the expiration of the current term, including payment of current cash
compensation and continuation of employee benefits. In the event an executive is terminated for disability, as
defined in the agreements, he will be paid an amount equal to 75% of his weekly rate of base salary in effect as
of the date of his termination of employment due to disability.

The employment agreements also provide for severance payments and other benefits in the event an
executive is terminated without cause or he elects to terminate the agreement with Good Reason in connection
with any change in control of Jefferson Federal. The maximum present value of the severance benefits
under the employment agreements is 2.99 times the average of the executive’s five taxable years’ annual
compensation preceding the change in control. The employment agreements also provide that the value of
the maximum benefit is to be distributed in the form of a lump sum cash payment. Also, upon such event, the
executive will continue to participate in any retirement plans he participated in prior to the change in control
and under any health, life or disability plans for 36 months following his termination of employment. Section
280G of the Internal Revenue Code provides that severance payments that equal or exceed three times the
individual’s base amount are deemed to be “excess parachute payments” if they are contingent upon a change
in control. Individuals receiving excess parachute payments are subject to a 20% excise tax on the amount of
the payment in excess of the base amount, and we would not be entitled to deduct such an amount.

Mr. Smith’s employment agreement further provides that he will receive a supplemental retirement
benefit of $15,083 per year, beginning during the calendar year in which he attains age 65 and continuing for a
total of 15 years and a supplemental life insurance policy with a death benefit of not less than $350,000.
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The employment agreements restrict the executives’ right to compete against us for a period of two years \
following their termination of employment for any reason.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Program. The Jefferson Federal Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan provides for supplemental retirement benefits with respect to the ESOP. The plan provides
participating executives with benefits otherwise limited by other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code or
the terms of the ESOP loan. Specifically, the plan provides benefits to eligible individuals (those designated
by the Board of Directors) that cannot be provided under the ESOP as a result of the limitations imposed by
the Internal Revenue Code, but that would have been provided under the ESOP but for such limitations. In
addition to providing for benefits lost under tax-qualified plans as a result of limitations imposed by the
Internal Revenue Code, the plan provides supplemental benefits to designated individuals upon a change
of control before the complete scheduled repayment of the ESOP loan. Generally, upon such an event, the
supplemental executive retirement plan will provide the individual with a benefit equal to what the individual
would have received under the ESOP had he or she remained employed throughout the term of the ESOP loan
less the benefits actually provided under the ESOP on behalf of such individual. An individual’s benefits under
the supplemental executive retirement plan generally become payable upon a change in control of Jefferson
Federal or Jefferson Bancshares. The Board of Directors has designated Mr. Smith as a participant in the plan
and may designate other officers as participants in future years.

Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation

The following is a report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors regarding
executive compensation. The Compensation Committee’s membership and duties are described in this proxy
statement under the heading “Corporate Governance — Committees of the Board of Directors of Jefferson
Bancshares — Compensation Committee.”

Compensation Policies

The Compensation Committee bases its executive compensation policy on the same principles that guide
the Company in establishing all of its compensation programs. The Company designs programs to attract,
retain and motivate highly talented individuals at all levels of the organization while balancing the interests of
stockholders. The compensation program for executives consists of three key elements:

. Annual base salary;
. Performance-based annual bonus; and

] Long-term stock incentive compensation.

Components of Executive Compensation

Base Salary. Salary levels for all employees, including executive officers, are set so as to reflect
the duties and levels of responsibilities inherent in the position and to reflect competitive conditions in the
banking business in the Company’s market area. Comparative salaries paid by other financial institutions
are considered in establishing the salary for a given position. The Compensation Committee utilizes the
Compensation Survey and the Salary and Benefits Survey compiled by the America’s Community Bankers
and the Tennessee Bankers Association, respectively, as well as other surveys prepared by trade groups
and independent benefits consultants. Base salaries for all employees, including the executive officers, are
reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee, which takes into account the competitive level of pay
as reflected in the surveys consulted. In setting base salaries, the Compensation Committee also considers a
number of factors relating to the particular executive, including individual performance, job responsibilities,
level of experience, ability and knowledge of the position. These factors are considered subjectively in the
aggregate and none of the factors is accorded a specific weight.
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Bonus. During fiscal 2006, bonuses were awarded to executive officers based on the Compensation
Committee’s recognition of the individual contributions made by executive officers that enabled the Company
to perform well both financiaily and operationally, despite the very difficult economic environment, and based
on competitive levels of compensation at similar companies. Cash bonuses are paid pursuant to a Management
Incentive Plan which focuses on components such as asset quality, financial performance and strategy. Goals
are weighted differently at each level.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation. Under the Company’s 1995 Jefferson Federal Savings and Loan
Association Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Stock Option Plan™) and 2004 Stock-Based Incentive Plan, the
Compensation Committee is authorized, in its discretion, to grant stock options and restricted stock awards in
such proportions and upon such terms and conditions as the Compensation Committee may determine, subject
to regulatory limits. All stock options granted have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the time of grant and are exercisable within a ten-year period. In order to assure
the retention of high level executives and tie the compensation of those executives to the creation of long-term
value for stockholders, the Compensation Committee requires that stock options granted under the 1995 Stock
Option Plan and the 2004 Stock-Based Incentive Plan vest proportionately over a five-year period.

The awards of restricted stock to executive officers and other key employees represent shares of Jefferson
Bancshares common stock that the recipient cannot sell or otherwise transfer until the applicable restriction
period lapses. Restricted stock awards are also intended to increase the ownership of executives in the
Company, thereby further integrating the compensation of the executive with the creation of long-term value
for stockholders. The Compensation Committee has provided that restricted stock awards granted under the
2004 Stock-Based Incentive Plan vest in equal portions over five years.

Anderson L. Smith — Chief Executive Officer Compensation

Jefferson Federal and Mr. Smith entered into an employment agreement effective June 25, 2003. The
terms of Mr. Smith’s employment agreement are set forth under “Executive Compensation” in this proxy
statement. In determining Mr. Smith’s cash compensation for fiscal 2006, the board focused on the Company’s
financial performance during the year, the number of initiatives begun, expanded or completed by the
Company since Mr. Smith’s employment began, competitive levels of compensation for CEOQs managing
operations of similar size, complexity and performance level and the importance of retaining a President and
Chief Executive Officer with the strategic, financial and leadership skills to ensure the Company’s continued
growth into the foreseeable future. Under the Management Incentive Plan, Mr. Smith received a cash payment
of $42,500 in September for the 2006 fiscal year. The Commiittee believes that Mr. Smith’s total compensation
package for 2006 will be slightly above the median of total compensation for CEOs in the peer group, based
on data obtained via the 2006 Tennessee Bankers Association Salary and Benefits Survey and the America’s
Community Bankers Compensation Survey.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc.

Dr. Terry M. Brimer (Chairman)
Dr. Jack E. Campbell
William T. Hale
H. Scott Reams
William F. Young

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No executive officer of the Company or the Bank serves or has served as a member of the compensation
committee of any other entity, one of whose executive officers serves on the Compensation Committee of
the Company. No executive officer of the Company or the Bank serves or has served as a director of another
entity, one of whose executive officers serves on the Compensation Committee of the Company.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on Jefferson Bancshares common
stock with the cumulative total return on the Nasdaq Index (U.S. Companies) and with the SNL Thrift Index.
Total return assumes the reinvestment of all dividends.

Total Return Performance
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Other Information Relating to Directors and Executive Officers

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s executive officers and
directors, and persons who own more than 10% of any registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to
file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Executive
officers, directors and greater than 10% shareholders are required by regulation to furnish the Company with
copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

Based solely on the Company’s review of the copies of the reports it has received and written
representations provided to it from the individuals required to file the reports, the Company believes that each
of its executive officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners has complied with the applicable
reporting requirements for transactions in the Company’s common stock during the year ended June 30, 2006.

Transactions with Management

Loans to Officers and Directors. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act generally prohibits loans by Jefferson
Bancshares to its executive officers and directors. However, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act contains a specific
exemption from such prohibition for loans by Jefferson Federal to its executive officers and directors in
compliance with federal banking regulations. Federal regulations require that all loans or extensions of credit
to executive officers and directors of insured institutions must be made on substantially the same terms,
including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other
persons and must not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavorable features.
Jefferson Federal is therefore prohibited from making any new loans or extensions of credit to executive
officers and directors at different rates or terms than those offered to the general public, except for loans made
pursuant to programs generally available to all employees. Notwithstanding this rule, federal regulations
permit Jefferson Federal to make loans to executive officers and directors at reduced interest rates if the loan
is made under a benefit program generally available to all other employees and does not give preference to
any executive officer or director over any other employee. Jefferson Federal has adopted a policy of offering
employees residential mortgage loans at a discount of 1/2% to published rates and personal consumer loans at a
discount of 1% to published rates. Jefferson Federal gives employees a discount of 50% on closing fees.

In addition, loans made to a director or executive officer in an amount that, when aggregated with the
amount of all other loans to the person and his or her related interests, are in excess of the greater of $25,000 or
5% of Jefferson Federal’s capital and surplus, up to a maximum of $500,000, must be approved in advance by a
majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors.

The aggregate amount of loans by Jefferson Federal to its executive officers and directors was $7.5
million at June 30, 2006, or approximately 10.0% of stockholders’ equity at June 30, 2006. These loans were
performing according to their original terms at June 30, 2006.

Other Transactions. H. Scott Reams is a partner in the law firm of Taylor, Reams, Tilson & Harrison of
Morristown, Tennessee. We pay a monthly retainer of $500 to the law firm. In fiscal 2006, Jefferson Federal
paid a total of $16,000 in legal fees to Mr. Reams’ firm. We believe that the fees paid to Mr. Reams’ firm were
based on normal terms and conditions as would apply to other clients of the firm.
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Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee Procedures

General

It is the policy of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Company to consider director candidates recommended by stockholders who appear to be qualified to serve
on the Company’s Board of Directors. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee may choose not to
consider an unsolicited recommendation if no vacancy exists on the Board of Directors and the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee does not perceive a need to increase the size of the Board of Directors.

In order to avoid the unnecessary use of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee’s resources, the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will consider only those director candidates recommended in
accordance with the procedures set forth below.

Procedures to be Followed by Stockholders

To submit a recommendation of a director candidate to the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee, a stockholder should submit the following information in writing, addressed to the Chairman of
the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee, care of the Corporate Secretary, at the main office of the
Company:

1. The name of the person recommended as a director candidate;

2. All information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies
for election of directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended;

3. The written consent of the person being recommended as a director candidate to being named in the
proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected;

4. As to the stockholder making the recommendation, the name and address, as they appear on the
Company’s books, of such stockholder; provided, however, that if the stockholder is not a registered
holder of the Company’s common stock, the stockholder should submit his or her name and address
along with a current written statement from the record holder of the shares that reflects ownership
of the Company’s common stock; and

5. A statement disclosing whether such stockholder is acting with or on behalf of any other person and,
if applicable, the identity of such person.

In order for a director candidate to be considered for nomination at the Company’s annual meeting of
stockholders, the recommendation must be received by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
at least 120 calendar days prior to the date the Company’s proxy statement was released to stockholders in
connection with the previous year’s annual meeting, advanced by one year.

Minimum Qualifications

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has adopted a set of criteria that it considers when
it selects individuals to be nominated for election to the Board of Directors. A candidate must meet any
qualification requirements set forth in any Board or committee governing documents.

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will consider the following criteria in selecting
nominees: financial, regulatory and business experience; familiarity with and participation in the local
community; integrity, honesty and reputation; dedication to the Company and its stockholders; independence;
and any other factors the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee deems relevant, including age,
diversity, size of the Board of Directors and regulatory disclosure obligations.

In addition, prior to nominating an existing director for re-election to the Board of Directors, the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will consider and review an existing director’s Board and
committee attendance and performance; length of Board service; experience, skills and contributions that the
existing director brings to the Board; and independence.
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Process for Identifying and Evaluating Nominees

The process that the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee follows when it identifies and
evaluates individuals to be nominated for election to the Board of Directors is as follows:

Identification. For purposes of identifying nominees for the Board of Directors, the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee relies on personal contacts of the committee members and other members of
the Board of Directors, as well as their knowledge of members of the communities served by Jefferson Federal.
The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee also will consider director candidates recommended
by stockholders in accordance with the policy and procedures set forth above. The Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee has not previously used an independent search firm to identify nominees.

Evaluation. In evaluating potential nominees, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee
determines whether the candidate is eligible and qualified for service on the Board of Directors by evaluating
the candidate under the selection criteria set forth above. In addition, the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee will conduct a check of the individual’s background and interview the candidate.

Submission of Business Proposals and Stockholder Nominations

The Company must receive proposals that shareholders seek to include in the proxy statement for the
Company’s next annual meeting no later than May 21, 2007. If next year’s annual meeting is held on a date
more than 30 calendar days from October 26, 2007, a shareholder proposal must be received by a reasonable
time before the Company begins to print and mail its proxy solicitation for such annual meeting. Any
shareholder proposals will be subject to the requirements of the proxy rules adopted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

The Company’s Bylaws provide that, in order for a shareholder to make nominations for the election of
directors or proposals for business to be brought before the annual meeting, a shareholder must deliver notice
of such nominations and/or proposals to the Corporate Secretary not less than 90 days prior to the date of the
annual meeting; however, if less than 100 days’ notice of the annual meeting is given to shareholders, such
notice must be delivered not later than the close of the tenth day following the day on which notice of the
annual meeting was mailed to shareholders or public disclosure of the meeting date. A copy of the Bylaws may
be obtained from the Company.

Board Policies Regarding Stockholder Communications
and Attendance at Annual Meetings

The Company encourages stockholder communications to the Board of Directors and/or individual
directors. Stockholders who wish to communicate with the Board of Directors or an individual director
should send their communications to the care of Jane P. Hutton, Corporate Secretary, Jefferson Bancshares,
Inc., 120 Evans Avenue, Morristown, Tennessee 37814. Communications regarding financial or accounting
policies should be sent to the attention of the Chairman of the Audit/Compliance Committee. All other
communications should be sent to the attention of the Chairman of the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee.

Directors are expected to prepare themselves for and to attend all Board meetings, the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and the meetings of the committees on which they serve, with the understanding that on occasion
a director may be unable to attend a meeting. All of the Company’s directors attended the Company’s 2005
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Miscellaneous

The Company will pay the cost of this proxy solicitation. The Company will reimburse brokerage firms
and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for reasonable expenses incurred by them in sending proxy
materials to the beneficial owners of Jefferson Bancshares common stock. In addition to soliciting proxies by
mail, directors, officers and regular employees of the Company may solicit proxies personally or by telephone
without receiving additional compensation.

The Company’s Annual Report to Shareholders has been mailed to pefsons who were shareholders as of
the close of business on August 31, 2006. Any shareholder who has not received a copy of the Annual Report
may obtain a copy by writing to the Corporate Secretary of the Company. The Annual Report is not to be
treated as part of the proxy solicitation material or as having been incorporated in this proxy statement by
reference.

A copy of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, without exhibits, for the year ended June
30, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will be furnished without charge to
persons who were shareholders as of the close of business on August 31, 2006 upon written request
to Jane P. Hutton, Corporate Secretary, Jefferson Bancshares, Inc., 120 Evans Avenue, Morristown,
Tennessee 37814.

Householding of Proxy Statements and Annual Reports

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries
such as brokers to satisfy delivery requirements for proxy statements and annual reports with respect to two or
more stockholders sharing the same address by delivering a single proxy statement and annual report to that
address. This practice, known as “householding,” is designed to reduce the Company’s printing and postage
costs. Once you have received notice from your broker or the Company that they or it will be householding
materials to your address, householding will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke
your consent. If, at any time, you no longer wish to participate in householding and would prefer to receive a
separate annual report or proxy statement, please notify your broker or other holder of record if your shares
are held in “street name” or the Company if you hold registered shares. You can notify the Company by
contacting its transfer agent, Registrar and Transfer Company, either by phone at (800) 368-5948, by fax at
(908) 497-2318, by e-mail at info@rtco.com or by mail at 10 Commerce Drive, Cranford, New Jersey 07016. If
you are receiving multiple copies of our annual report and proxy statement, you can request householding by
contacting the same parties listed above.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

%@Wm

Jane P. Hutton
Corporate Secretary

Morristown, Tennessee
September 18, 2006
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APPENDIX A

JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC.
AUDIT/COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER

Organization

The primary function of the Audit/Compliance Committee (the “Audit Committee™) of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company™) is to review: the integrity of the
financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to any governmental body or
the public, including any certification, report, opinion or review performed by the Company’s independent
accountants; the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; the independent accountant’s
qualifications and independence; the performance of the Company’s internal audit functions, its independent
accountants and system of internal controls and disclosure procedures regarding finance, accounting, legal
compliance and ethics that management and the Board have established; the Company’s auditing, accounting
and financial reporting processes generally; and the preparation of information required by the Securities and
Exchange Commission rules to be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement.

The Audit Committee will be comprised of three or more directors as determined by the Board each of
whom shall satisfy the definition of independent director as defined in any qualitative listing requirements
for Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. issuers and any applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
regulations. All members of the Audit Committee must be financially literate at time of appointment,
meaning they must have the ability to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including the
Company’s balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement. In addition, at least one member of the
Audit Committee shall have past employment in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification
in accounting, or any other comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s financial
sophistication, including having been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer or other senior officer
with financial oversight responsibilities. The members of the Audit Committee will be elected by the Board on
an annual basis.

Responsibilities

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Audit Committee believes its policies and procedures should
remain flexible, in order to best react to changing conditions and to ensure to the directors and shareholders
that the corporate accounting and reporting practices of the Company are in accordance with all requirements
and are of the highest quality. To fulfill its responsibilities and duties the Audit Committee shall:

1. Provide an open avenue of communication between management, the independent auditor, internal
audit department and the Board.

2. Meet four times per year or more frequently as circumstances may require. A quorum of the Audit
Committee shall be declared when a majority of the appointed members of the Audit Committee are
in attendance.

3. The Audit Committee shall meet with the independent auditors and management at least quarterly
to review the Company’s financial statements. In meetings attended by the independent auditors or
by regulatory examiners, a portion of the meeting will be reserved for the Audit Committee to meet
in closed session with these parties.

4. Keep written minutes for all meetings.

5. Review with the independent auditor and internal audit department the work to be performed by
each to assure completeness of coverage, reduction of redundant efforts and the effective use of
audit resources.




10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

18.

Review all significant risks or exposures to the Company found during audits performed by the
independent auditor and internal audit department and ensure that these items are discussed with
management. From these discussions, assess and report to the Board regarding how the findings
should be addressed.

Review recommendations from the independent auditor and internal auditing department regarding
internal controls and other matters relating to the accounting policies and procedures of the
Company.

Following each meeting of the Audit Committee, the chairman of the committee will submit a
record of the meeting to the Board including any recommendations that the Committee may deem
appropriate.

Ensure that the independent auditor discusses with the Audit Committee their judgments about the
quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company’s accounting principles as applied in the financial
reports. The discussion should include such issues as the clarity of the Company’s financial
disclosures and degree of aggressiveness or conservatism of the Company’s accounting principles
and underlying estimates and other significant decisions made by management in preparing the
financial disclosures.

Review the Company’s audited annual financial statements and the independent auditor’s opinion
regarding such financial statements, including a review of the nature and extent of any significant
changes in accounting principles.

Arrange for the independent auditor to be available to the full Board at least annually to discuss the
results of the annual audit and the audited financial statements that are a part of the annual report to
shareholders.

Review with management, the independent auditor, internal audit department and legal counsel,
legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements.

Review with management and the independent auditor all interim financial reports filed pursuant to
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Generally discuss earnings press releases and financial information as well as earnings guidance
provided to analysts and rating agencies.

Select the independent auditor, considering independence and effectiveness, and be ultimately
responsible for their compensation, retention and oversight (including resolution of disagreements
between management and the auditor regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or
issuing an audit report or related work, and each such registered public accounting firm shall report
directly to the audit committee. The Audit Committee should confirm the independence of the
independent auditor by requiring them to disclose in writing all relationships that, in the auditor’s
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on the ability to perform the audit
independently and objectively.

Review the performance of the independent auditor.

Review the activities, organizational structure and qualifications of the internal audit department.
The Audit Committee should also review and concur in the appointment, replacement,
reassignment, or dismissal of the manager of the internal audit department.

Be authorized to retain independent counse! and other advisors as it deems necessary to carry out
its duties. In connection therewith, the Audit Committee shall be provided appropriate funding, as
determined by the Audit Committee, for payment to such counsel and other advisors. In addition,
the Audit Committee shall be provided funding for ordinary administrative expenses of the Audit
Commnittee.




19. Have in place procedures for (1) receiving, retaining and treating complaints regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, and (2) the confidential, anonymous submission
by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

20. Approve, in advance, all permissible non-audit services to be completed by the independent auditor.
Such approval process will ensure that the independent auditor does not provide any non-audit
services to the Company that are prohibited by law or regulation.

21.  Set clear hiring policies for hiring employees or former employees of the independent auditors.
22. Review and approve all related-party transactions.

In addition to the responsibilities presented above, the Audit Committee will examine this Charter on an
annual basis to assure that it remains adequate to address the responsibilities that the Committee has. Further,
the Committee will disclose in each annual proxy statement to its shareholders whether it satisfied the
responsibilities during the prior year in compliance with the Charter, and will disclose a copy of the Charter
triennially either in the annual report to shareholders or proxy statement.
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Signatures

This report contains certain * forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities
laws. These statements are not historical fact; rather, they arve statements based on Jefferson Bancshares,
Inc.’s current expectations regarding its business strategies, intended results and future performance.
Forward-looking statements are preceded by terms such as “expects,” “'believes,” “anticipates,” “intends”
and similar expressions.

Management’s ability to predict results or the effect of future plans or strategies is inherently uncertain.
Factors which could affect actual results include: intervest rate trends; the general economic climate in the
market area in which Jefferson Bancshares operates, as well as nationwide; Jefferson Bancshares’ ability to
control costs and expense; competitive products and pricing, loan delinquency rates, and changes in federal
and state legislation and regulation. These factors should be considered in evaluating the forward-looking
statements and undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. Jefferson Bancshares assumes no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements.




PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (also referred to as the “Company” or “Jefferson Bancshares™) was organized
as a Tennessee corporation at the direction of Jefferson Federal Bank, formerly “Jefferson Federal Savings
and Loan Association of Morristown” (referred to as the “Bank” or “Jefferson Federal), in March 2003 to
become the holding company for Jefferson Federal upon the completion of the “second-step” mutual-to-stock
conversion (the “Conversion”) of Jefferson Bancshares, M.H.C. (the “MHC”). The Conversion was completed
on July 1, 2003. As part of the Conversion, the MHC merged into Jefferson Federal, thereby ceasing to exist
and Jefferson Federal Savings and Loan Association of Morristown changed its name to “Jefferson Federal
Bank.” The Company sold 6,612,500 shares of its common stock at a price of $10.00 per share to depositors of
the Bank in a subscription offering raising approximately $64.5 million in net proceeds. The Company also
exchanged approximately 1,389,000 shares of its common stock for all the outstanding shares of the Bank’s
common stock (other than shares held by the MHC), representing an exchange ratio of 4.2661 for each share of
Jefferson Federal outstanding. In addition, the Bank established the Jefferson Federal Charitable Foundation,
which was funded with $250,000 and 375,000 shares of Company common stock.

Management of the Company and the Bank are substantially similar and the Company neither owns nor
leases any property, but instead uses the premises, equipment and furniture of the Bank. Accordingly, the
information set forth in this report, including the consolidated financial statements and related financial data,
relates primarily to the Bank.

Jefferson Federal operates as a community-oriented financial institution offering traditional financial
services to consumers and businesses in its market area. Jefferson Federal attracts deposits from the general
public and uses those funds to originate loans, which it holds for investment.

Available Information

We maintain an Internet website at http./www.jeffersonfederal.com. We make available our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and other information related to us, free of charge, on this site as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them to, the Securities Exchange
Commission. Qur Internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended
to be incorporated into this annual report on Form 10-K.

Market Area

We are headquartered in Morristown, Tennessee, which is situated approximately 40 miles northeast of
Knoxville, Tennessee in the northeastern section of the state. We consider Hamblen County, with an estimated
2005 population of approximately 60,000, and its contiguous counties to be our primary market area. The
economy of our market area is primarily oriented to manufacturing and agriculture. Morristown and Hamblen
County also serve as a hub for retail shopping and medical services for a number of surrounding rural counties.
The manufacturing sector is focused on three types of products: automotive and heavy equipment components;
plastics, paper and corrugated products; and furniture. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, the
average monthly unemployment rate in Hamblen County has increased from 5.6% for 2004 to 5.9% for 2005,
which was slightly above both the state and national averages.

We began expansion into the Knoxville, Tennessee market in January 2005 with the opening of a lending
office. We opened a full-service branch in Knoxville in mid-2006 and anticipate opening a second full-service
branch office in 2007. Knoxville’s population is approximately 178,000 and its economy is largely fueled
by the location of the main campus of the University of Tennessee, the Oak Ridge National Laboratory, the
National Transportation Research Center and the Tennessee Valley Authority. Additionally, Knoxville has




many warchousing and distribution companies because of its central location in the eastern half of the United
States. The average monthly unemployment rate for the Knoxville metropolitan statistical area was 4.4% for
2005, which was below both the national and state averages.

Competition

We face significant competition for the attraction of deposits and origination of loans. Our most direct
competition for deposits has historically come from the several financial institutions operating in our market
area and, to a lesser extent, from other financial service companies, such as brokerage firms, credit unions
and insurance companies. We also face competition for investors’ funds from money market funds and
other corporate and government securities. At June 30, 2005, which is the most recent date for which data is
available from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, we held 25.4% of the deposits in Hamblen County,
which is the largest market share out of nine financial institutions with offices in the county at that date.
However, banks owned by SunTrust Banks, Inc., First Tennessee National Corporation and Regions Financial
Corporation, all of which are large regional bank holding companies, also operate in Hamblen County. These
institutions are significantly larger than us and, therefore, have significantly greater resources.

Our competition for loans comes primarily from financial institutions in our market area, and to a lesser
extent from other financial service providers, such as mortgage companies and mortgage brokers. Competition
for loans also comes from the increasing number of non-depository financial service companies entering the
mortgage market, such as insurance companies, securities companies and specialty finance companies.

We expect to continue to face significant competition in the future as a result of legislative, regulatory
and technological changes and the continuing trend of consolidation in the financial services industry.
Technological advances, for example, have lowered barriers to entry, allowed banks to expand their geographic
reach by providing services over the Internet and made it possible for non-depository institutions to offer
products and services that traditionally have been provided by banks. Changes in federal law permit affiliation
among banks, securities firms and insurance companies, which promotes a competitive environment in the
financial services industry. Competition for deposits and the origination of loans could limit our growth in the
future.

Lending Activities

General. Our loan portfolio consists of a variety of mortgage, commercial and consumer loans. As a
community-oriented financial institution, we try to meet the borrowing needs of consumers and businesses in
our market area. Mortgage loans constitute a significant majority of the portfolio, and residential mortgage
loans are the largest segment in that category.

One- to Four-Family Residential Loans. We originate mortgage loans to enable borrowers to purchase
or refinance existing homes or to construct new one- to four-family homes. We offer fixed-rate mortgage loans
with terms up to 30 years and adjustable-rate mortgage loans with terms up to 25 years. Borrower demand
for adjustable-rate loans versus fixed-rate loans is a function of the level of interest rates, the expectations of
changes in the level of interest rates, the difference between the interest rates and loan fees offered for fixed-
rate mortgage loans and the first year interest rates and loan fees for adjustable-rate loans. The relative amount
of fixed-rate mortgage loans and adjustable-rate mortgage loans that can be originated at any time is largely
determined by the demand for each in a competitive environment and the effect each has on our interest rate risk.

The loan fees charged, interest rates and other provisions of mortgage loans are determined by us on
the basis of our own pricing criteria and competitive market conditions. Interest rates and payments on our
adjustable-rate loans generally are adjusted annually based on any change in the National Average Contract
Mortgage Rate for the Purchase of Previously Occupied Homes by Combined Lenders as published by the
Federal Housing Finance Board. Changes in this index tend to lag behind changes in market interest rates.
Our adjustable-rate mortgage loans may have initial fixed-rate periods ranging from one to seven years.

We originate all adjustable-rate loans at the fully indexed interest rate. The maximum amount by which
the interest rate may be increased or decreased is generally 2% per year and the lifetime interest rate cap is
generally 5% over the initial interest rate of the loan. Our adjustable-rate residential mortgage loans generally



do not provide for a decrease in the rate paid below the initial contract rate. The inability of our residential real
estate loans to adjust downward below the initial contract rate can contribute to increased income in periods of
declining interest rates, and also assists us in our efforts to limit the risks to earnings and equity value resulting
from changes in interest rates, subject to the risk that borrowers may refinance these loans during periods of
declining interest rates.

While one- to four-family residential real estate loans are normally originated with up to 30-year terms,
such loans typically remain outstanding for substantially shorter periods because borrowers often prepay their
loans in full upon sale of the property pledged as security or upon refinancing the original loan. In addition,
substantially all of the mortgage loans in our loan portfolio contain due-on-sale clauses providing that Jefferson
Federal may declare the unpaid amount due and payable upon the sale of the property securing the loan.
Jefferson Federal enforces these due-on-sale clauses to the extent permitted by law. Therefore, average loan
maturity is a function of, among other factors, the level of purchase and sale activity in the real estate market,
prevailing interest rates and the interest rates payable on outstanding loans.

Historically, we have not emphasized the origination of loans that conform to guidelines for sale in
the secondary mortgage market. However, beginning in January 2005, we began originating loans for the
secondary mortgage market. We generally do not make conventional loans with loan-to-value ratios exceeding
85% and generally make loans with a loan-to-value ratio in excess of 85% only when secured by first liens on
owner-occupied, one- to four-family residences. Loans with loan-to-value ratios in excess of 90% generally
require private mortgage insurance or additional collateral. We require all properties securing mortgage
loans in excess of $100,000 to be appraised by a board-approved appraiser. We require title insurance on all
mortgage loans in excess of $25,000. Borrowers must obtain hazard or flood insurance (for loans on property
located in a flood zone) prior to closing the loan.

Home Equity Lines of Credit. We offer home equity lines of credit on single family residential property
in amounts up to 80% of the appraised value. Rates and terms vary by borrower qualifications, but are
generally offered on a variable rate, open-end term basis with maturities of ten years or less.

Commercial Real Estate and Multi-Family Loans. An important segment of our loan portfolio is
mortgage ioans secured by commercial and multi-family real estate. Our commercial real estate loans are
secured by professional office buildings, shopping centers, manufacturing facilities, hotels, vacant land,
churches and, to a lesser extent, by other improved property such as restaurants and retail operations. We
intend to continue to emphasize and grow this segment of our loan portfolio.

We originate both fixed- and adjustable-rate loans secured by commercial and multi-family real estate
with terms up to 25 years. Fixed-rate loans have provisions that allow us to call the loan after five years.
Adjustable-rate loans are based on prime and adjust monthly. Loan amounts generally do not exceed 85%
of the lesser of the appraised value or the purchase price. When the borrower is a corporation, partnership
or other entity, we generally require personal guarantees from significant equity holders. Currently, it is our
philosophy to originate commercial real estate loans only to borrowers known to us and on properties in or
near our market area.

At June 30, 2006, loans with principal balances of $500,000 or more secured by commercial real estate
totaled $51.8 million, or 66.9% of commercial real estate loans, and loans with principal balances of $500,000
or more secured by multi-family properties totaled $3.7 million, or 47.1% of multifamily loans. At June 30,
2006, all of these loans were performing in accordance with their terms.

Construction Loans. We originate loans to finance the construction of one-to four-family homes and,
to a lesser extent, multi-family and commercial real estate properties. At June 30, 2006, $4.7 million of
our construction loans was for the construction of one- to four-family homes and $8.8 million was for the
construction of commercial or multi-family real estate. We principally finance the construction of single-
family, owner-occupied homes. Construction loans are generally made on a “pre-sold” basis; however,
contractors who have sufficient financial strength and a proven track record are considered for loans for
model and speculative purposes, with preference given to contractors with whom we have had successful
relationships. We generally limit loans to contractors for speculative construction to a total of $225,000 per
contractor. Construction loans generally provide for interest-only payments at fixed-rates of interest and have




terms of six to 12 months. At the end of the construction period, the loan generally converts into a permanent
loan. Construction loans to a borrower who will occupy the home, or to a builder who has pre-sold the home,
will be considered for loan-to-value ratios of up to 85%. Construction loans for speculative purposes, models
and commercial properties may be considered for loan-to-value ratios of up to 80%. Loan proceeds are
disbursed in increments as construction progresses and as inspections warrant. We generally use in-house
inspectors for construction disbursement purposes; however, we may rely on architect certifications and
independent third party inspections for disbursements on larger commercial loans.

Land Loans. We originate loans secured by unimproved property, including lots for single family
homes, raw land, commercial property and agricultural property. We originate both fixed- and adjustable-rate
land loans with terms up to 15 years. Adjustable-rate loans are based on prime and adjust monthly. Loans
secured by unimproved commercial property or for land development generally have five-year terms with a
longer amortization schedule.

At June 30, 2006, our largest land loan was for $4.3 million and was secured by commercial real estate.
At June 30, 2006, loans with principal balances of $500,000 or more secured by unimproved property totaled
$10.7 million, or 39.3% of land loans. All of these loans were performing in accordance with their terms at that
date.

Commercial Business Loans. We extend commercial business loans on an unsecured and secured basis.
Secured loans generally are collateralized by industrial/commercial machinery and equipment, livestock, farm
machinery and, to a lesser extent, accounts receivable and inventory. We originate both fixed- and adjustable-
rate commercial loans with terms up to 20 years. Fixed-rate loans have provisions that allow us to call the
loan after five years. Adjustable-rate loans are based on prime and adjust monthly. Where the borrower 1s
a corporation, partnership or other entity, we generally require personal guarantees from significant equity
holders.

Consumer Loans. We offer a variety of consumer loans, including loans secured by automobiles and
savings accounts. Other consumer loans include loans on recreational vehicles and boats, debt consolidation
loans and personal unsecured debt.

The procedures for underwriting consumer loans include an assessment of the applicant’s payment
history on other debts and ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loans. Although
the applicant’s creditworthiness is a primary consideration, the underwriting process also includes a
comparison of the value of the collateral, if any, to the proposed loan amount. We use a credit scoring system
and charge borrowers with poorer credit scores higher interest rates to compensate for the additional risks
associated with those loans.

Loan Underwriting Risks.

Adjustable-Rate Loans. While we anticipate that adjustable-rate loans will better offset the adverse
effects of an increase in interest rates as compared to fixed-rate mortgages, the increased mortgage payments
required of adjustable-rate loan borrowers in a rising interest rate environment could cause an increase in
delinquencies and defaults. The marketability of the underlying property also may be adversely affected in a
high interest rate environment. In addition, although adjustable-rate mortgage loans help make our asset base
more responsive to changes in interest rates, the extent of this interest sensitivity is limited by the annual and
lifetime interest rate adjustment limits.

Commercial and Multi-Family Real Estate Loans. Loans secured by commercial and multi-family
real estate are generally larger and involve a greater degree of risk than one- to four-family residential
mortgage loans. Of primary concern in commercial and multi-family real estate lending is the borrower’s
creditworthiness and the feasibility and cash flow potential of the project. Payments on loans secured by
income properties are often dependent on the successful operation or management of the properties. As a
result, repayment of such loans may be subject to a greater extent than residential real estate loans to adverse
conditions in the real estate market or the economy. In order to monitor cash flows on income properties, we




require borrowers and loan guarantors, if any, to provide annual financial statements and rent rolls on multi-
family loans. We also perform annual reviews and prepare write-ups on all lending relationships of $500,000
or more where the loan is secured by commercial or multi-family real estate.

Construction Loans. Construction financing is generally considered to involve a higher degree of risk
of loss than long-term financing on improved, occupied real estate. Risk of loss on a construction loan is
dependent largely upon the accuracy of the initial estimate of the property’s value at completion of construction
or development and the estimated cost (including interest) of construction. During the construction phase,
a number of factors could result in delays and cost overruns. If the estimate of construction costs proves
to be inaccurate, we may be required to advance funds beyond the amount originally committed to permit
completion of the development. If the estimate of value proves to be inaccurate, we may be confronted, at or
prior to the maturity of the loan, with a project having a value which is insufficient to assure full repayment.
As a result of the foregoing, construction lending often involves the disbursement of substantial funds with
repayment dependent, in part, on the success of the ultimate project rather than the ability of the borrower or
guarantor to repay principal and interest. If we are forced to foreclose on a project prior to or at completion due
to a default, there can be no assurance that we will be able to recover all of the unpaid balance of, and accrued
interest on, the loan as well as related foreclosure and holding costs.

Land Loans. Loans secured by undeveloped land or improved lots generally involve greater risks than
residential mortgage lending because land loans are more difficult to evaluate. If the estimate of value proves
to be inaccurate, in the event of default and foreclosure, we may be confronted with a property the value of
which is insufficient to assure full repayment.

Commercial Loans. Commercial business lending generally involves greater risk than residential
mortgage lending and involves risks that are different from those associated with commercial and multi-
family real estate lending. Although the repayment of commercial and multi-family real estate loans depends
primarily on the cash-flow of the property or related business, the underlying collateral generally provides a
sufficient source of repayment. Although commercial business loans are often collateralized by equipment,
inventory, accounts receivable or other business assets, the liquidation of collateral if a borrower defaults is
often an insufficient source of repayment because accounts receivable may be uncollectible and inventories and
equipment may be obsolete or of limited use, among other things. Accordingly, the repayment of a commercial
business loan depends primarily on the cash-flow, character and creditworthiness of the borrower (and any
guarantors), while liquidation of collateral is secondary.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans may entail greater risk than do residential mortgage loans,
particularly in the case of consumer loans that are unsecured or secured by assets that depreciate rapidly, such
as automobiles, boats and recreational vehicles. In such cases, repossessed collateral for a defaulted consumer
loan may not provide an adequate source of repayment for the outstanding loan and the remaining deficiency
often does not warrant further substantial collection efforts against the borrower. In addition, consumer
loan collections are dependent on the borrower’s continuing financial stability, and thus are more likely to be
adversely affected by job loss, divorce, illness or personal bankruptcy. Furthermore, the application of various
federal and state laws, including federal and state bankruptcy and insolvency laws, may limit the amount which
can be recovered on such loans.

Loan Originations. All of our loans are originated by in-house lending officers and are underwritten and
processed in-house. We rely on advertising, referrals from realtors and customers, and personal contact by our
staff to generate loan originations. We occasionally purchase participation interests in commercial real estate
loans through other financial institutions in our market area.

Loan Approval Procedures and Authority. Loan approval authority has been granted by the Board
of Directors to certain officers on an individual and combined basis for consumer (including residential
mortgages) and commercial purpose loans up to a maximum of $1.0 million per transaction. All loans with
aggregate exposure of $2.0 million or more require the approval of our Loan Committee or Board of Directors.




The Loan Committee meets every two weeks to review all mortgage loans made within granted lending
authority of $75,000 or more and all non-mortgage loans made within granted lending authority of $50,000 or
more. The committee approves all requests which exceed granted lending authority or when the request carries
aggregate exposure to us of $2.0 million or more. The minutes of the committee are reported to and reviewed
by the Board of Directors.

Loans to One Borrower. The maximum amount that we may lend to one borrower and the borrower’s
related entities is limited by regulation. At June 30, 2006, our regulatory limit on loans to one borrower
was $10.1 million. At that date, our largest lending relationship was $9.7 million and consisted of multiple
commercial real estate and commercial business loans. These loans were performing according to their
original repayment terms at June 30, 2006.

Loan Commitments. We issue commitments for fixed-rate and adjustable-rate single-family residential
mortgage loans conditioned upon the occurrence of certain events. Commitments to originate mortgage loans
are legally binding agreements to lend to our customers and generally expire in 90 days or less.

Delinquencies. When a borrower fails to make a required loan payment, we take a number of steps to
have the borrower cure the delinquency and restore the loan to current status. We make initial contact with the
borrower when the loan becomes 17 days past due. If payment is not then received, additional letters and phone
calls generally are made. When the loan becomes 60 days past due, we send a letter notifying the borrower
that we will commence foreclosure proceedings if the loan is not brought current within 30 days. When the
loan becomes 90 days past due, we will commence foreclosure proceedings against any real property that
secures the loan or attempt to repossess any personal property that secures a consumer loan. If a foreciosure
action is instituted and the loan is not brought current, paid in full or refinanced before the foreclosure sale, the
real property securing the loan generally is sold at foreclosure. Exceptions on commencement of foreclosure
actions for commercial real estate loans and mortgage loans are made on a case-by-case basis by the Board of
Directors. We may consider loan workout arrangements with certain borrowers under certain circumstances.

Investment Activities

We have legal authority to invest in various types of liquid assets, including U.S. Treasury obligations,
securities of various federal agencies and of state and municipal governments, deposits at the Federal Home
Loan Bank of Cincinnati and certificates of deposit of federally insured institutions. Within certain regulatory
limits, we also may invest a portion of our assets in corporate securities. We also are required to maintain an
investment in Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati stock.

At June 30, 2006, our investment portfolio consisted of federal agency debt securities with maturities of
seven years or less and municipal bonds with maturities of 20 years or less. We purchase mortgage-backed
securities in an effort to increase yield, improve liquidity, provide call protection and enhance our qualified
thrift lender ratio.

Our investment objectives are to provide and maintain liquidity, to maintain a balance of high quality
investments, to diversify investments to minimize risk, to provide collateral for pledging requirements, to
establish an acceptable level of interest rate risk, to provide an alternate source of low-risk investments when
demand for loans is weak, and to generate a favorable return. Any two of the following officers are authorized
to purchase or sell investments: the President, Executive Vice President and/or Vice President. Thereisa
limit of $2.0 million par value on any single investment purchase unless approval is obtained from the Board
of Directors. For mortgage-backed securities, real estate mortgage investment conduits and collateralized
mortgage obligations issued by Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae, purchases are limited to a current par
value of $2.5 million without Board approval.




Deposit Activities and Other Sources of Funds

General. Deposits and loan repayments are the major sources of our funds for lending and other
investment purposes. Loan repayments are a relatively stable source of funds, while deposit inflows and
outflows and loan prepayments are significantly influenced by general interest rates and money market
conditions. We may use borrowings on a short-term basis to compensate for reductions in the availability of
funds from other sources. Borrowings may also be used on a longer-term basis for general business purposes.

Deposit Accounts. Substantially all of our depositors are residents of the State of Tennessee. Deposits
are attracted from within our primary market area through the offering of a broad selection of deposit
instruments, including NOW accounts, money market accounts, regular savings accounts, Christmas club
savings accounts, certificates of deposit and retirement savings plans. We do not utilize brokered funds.
Deposit account terms vary according to the minimum balance required, the time periods the funds must
remain on deposit and the interest rate, among other factors. In determining the terms of our deposit accounts,
we consider the rates offered by our competition, profitability to us, matching deposit and loan products and
customer preferences and concerns. We generally review our deposit mix and pricing monthly. Our current
strategy is to offer competitive rates, but not be the market leader in every type and maturity. In recent years,
our advertising has emphasized transaction accounts, with the goal of shifting our mix of deposits towards a
smaller percentage of higher cost time deposits.

Borrowings. We have relied upon advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati to
supplement our supply of lendable funds and to meet deposit withdrawal requirements. Advances from the
Federal Home Loan Bank are typically secured by our first mortgage loans.

The Federal Home Loan Bank functions as a central reserve bank providing credit for member financial
institutions. As a member, we are required to own capital stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank and are
authorized to apply for advances on the security of such stock and certain of our mortgage loans and other
assets (principally securities which are obligations of, or guaranteed by, the United States), provided certain
standards related to creditworthiness have been met. Advances are made pursuant to several different
programs. Each credit program has its own interest rate and range of maturities. Depending on the program,
limitations on the amount of advances are based either on a fixed percentage of an institution’s net worth or.
on the Federal Home Loan Bank’s assessment of the institution’s creditworthiness. Under its current credit
policies, the Federal Home Loan Bank generally limits advances to 50% of a member’s assets. The availability
of Bank advances to each borrower is based on the financial condition and the degree of security provided to
collateralize borrowings.

Personnel

As of June 30, 2006, we had 98 full-time employees and three part-time employees, none of whom is
represented by a collective bargaining unit. We believe our relationship with our employees is good.
Executive Officers

The executive officers of Jefferson Federal are elected annually by the Board of Directors and serve at the
Board’s discretion. Ages presented are as of June 30, 2006. The executive officers of Jefferson Federal are:

Name Age Position
AndersonL. Smith................... 58  President and Chief Executive Officer
DouglasH. Rouse.................... 53 Senior Vice President

Jane P.Hutton....................... 47  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
EricS. McDaniel. .................... 35  Vice President and Senior Operations Officer
JanetJ. Ketner....................... 53 Executive Vice President of Retail Banking
Charles G. Robinette. . ................ 61  Chairman—Knoxville Region

Anthony J. Carasso. .................. 47  President—Knoxville Region




Biographical Information

Anderson L. Smith has been President and Chief Executive Officer of Jefferson Bancshares since March
2003 and President and Chief Executive Officer of Jefferson Federal since January 2002. Prior to joining
Jefferson Federal, Mr. Smith was President, Consumer Financial Services - East Tennessee Metro, First
Tennessee Bank National Association. Age 58. Director since 2002.

Jane P. Hutton has been Treasurer and Secretary of Jefferson Bancshares since March 2003 and Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Jefferson Federal since July 2002. Ms. Hutton was named Chief
Financial Officer of Jefferson Bancshares in connection with the consummation of the Conversion on July 1,
2003. From June 1999 until July 2002, Ms. Hutton served as Assistant Financial Analyst. Age 47.

Douglas H. Rouse has been Senior Vice President of Jefferson Federal since January 2002. From March
1994 until January 2002, Mr. Rouse served as Vice President. Age 53.

Eric §. McDaniel has been Vice President and Senior Operations Officer of Jefferson Federal since July
2002. From March 1996 until July 2002, Mr. McDaniel served as Director of Compliance and Internal Auditor.

Age 35.

Janet J. Ketner has been Executive Vice President of Retail Banking since January 2006. Prior to
joining Jefferson Federal, Ms. Ketner was Executive Vice President of First Tennessee Bank for Morristown,
Dandridge and Greeneville, Tennessee. Age 53.

Charles G. Robinette has been the Chairman of Jefferson Federal’s Knoxville Region since January 2005.
Prior to joining Jefferson Federal, Mr. Robinette was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the East
Tennessee/ Southeast Kentucky Region of Union Planters National Bank since 1997. Age 61.

Anthony J. Carasso has been the President of Jefferson Federal’s Knoxville Region since January 2005,
In 1999, Mr. Carasso was Chief Executive Officer and President of Union Planters in Murfreesboro, Tennessee.
Since then, he has been President of two other Union Planters Banks, one in Somerset, Kentucky as well as
Harriman, Tennessee. During his tenure in Harriman, he had a dual role as an Area Sales Manager managing
22 branches in 11 communities. Age 47.

Subsidiaries

We have one subsidiary, Jefferson Service Corporation of Morristown, Tennessee, Inc., which has an
ownership interest in Bankers Title of East Tennessee, LLC, a title insurance agency. Our subsidiary also has a
small investment in a credit life reinsurance company.




REGULATION AND SUPERVISION

General

As a savings and loan holding company, Jefferson Bancshares is required by federal law to report to,
and otherwise comply with, the rules and regulations of the Office of Thrift Supervision. Jefferson Federal is
subject to extensive regulation, examination and supervision by the Office of Thrift Supervision, as its primary
federal regulator, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, as the deposit insurer. Jefferson Federal
is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and, with respect to deposit insurance, of the Deposit
Insurance Fund managed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Jefferson Federal must file reports
with the Office of Thrift Supervision and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation concerning its activities
and financial condition in addition to obtaining regulatory approvals prior to entering into certain transactions
such as mergers with, or acquisitions of, other savings institutions. The Office of Thrift Supervision conducts
periodic examinations to test Jefferson Federal’s safety and soundness and compliance with various regulatory
requirements. This regulation and supervision establishes a comprehensive framework of activities in which
an institution can engage and is intended primarily for the protection of the insurance fund and depositors.
The regulatory structure also gives the regulatory authorities extensive discretion in connection with their
supervisory and enforcement activities and examination policies, including policies with respect to the
classification of assets and the establishment of adequate loan loss reserves for regulatory purposes. Any
change in such regulatory requirements and policies, whether by the Office of Thrift Supervision, the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or Congress, could have a material adverse impact on us and our operations.
Certain regulatory requirements applicable to us are referenced below or elsewhere herein. The description of
statutory provisions and regulations applicable to savings institutions and their holding companies set forth in
this report does not purport to be a complete description of such statutes and regulations and their effects on us
and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the actual laws and regulations.

Holding Company Regulation

Jefferson Bancshares is a nondiversified unitary savings and loan holding company within the meaning
of federal law. Under prior law, a unitary savings and loan holding company, such as Jefferson Bancshares,
was not generally restricted as to the types of business activities in which it may engage, provided that the
association continued to be a qualified thrift lender. See “Federal Savings Institution Regulation - QTL
Test.” The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 provides that no company may acquire control of a savings
institution after May 4, 1999 unless it engages only in the financial activities permitted for financial holding
companies under the law or for multiple savings and loan holding companies as described below. Further, the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act specifies that existing savings and loan holding companies may only engage in such
activities. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, however, grandfathered the unrestricted authority for activities with
respect to unitary savings and loan holding companies existing prior to May 4, 1999, so long as the holding
company’s savings institution subsidiary continues to comply with the QTL test. Jefferson Bancshares does
not qualify for the grandfathering. Upon any non-supervisory acquisition by Jefferson Bancshares of another
savings association or savings bank that meets the qualified thrift lender test (as described below) and is
deemed to be a savings institution by the Office of Thrift Supervision, Jefferson Bancshares would become a
multiple savings and loan holding company (if the acquired association is held as a separate subsidiary) and
would generally be limited to activities permissible for bank holding companies under Section 4(c)(8) of the
Bank Holding Company Act, subject to the prior approval of the Office of Thrift Supervision, and certain
activities authorized by Office of Thrift Supervision regulations. However, the Office of Thrift Supervision
has issued an interpretation concluding that multiple savings and loan holding companies may also engage in
activities permitted for financial holding companies.

A savings and loan holding company is prohibited from, directly or indirectly, acquiring more than
5% of the voting stock of another savings institution or savings and loan holding company, without prior
written approval of the Office of Thrift Supervision and from acquiring or retaining control of a depository
institution that is not insured by the Federal Depaosit Insurance Corporation. In evaluating applications by
holding companies to acquire savings institutions, the Office of Thrift Supervision considers the financial and




managerial resources and future prospects of the company and institution involved, the effect of the acquisition
on the risk to the deposit insurance funds, the convenience and needs of the community and competitive
factors.

The Office of Thrift Supervision may not approve any acquisition that would result in a multiple savings
and loan holding company controlling savings institutions in more than one state, subject to two exceptions:
(1) the approval of interstate supervisory acquisitions by savings and loan holding companies; and (2) the
acquisition of a savings institution in another state if the laws of the state of the target savings institution
specifically permit such acquisitions. States vary in the extent to which they permit interstate savings and loan
holding company acquisitions.

Although savings and loan holding companies are not currently subject to specific capital requirements or
specific restrictions on the payment of dividends or other capital distributions, federal regulations do prescribe
such restrictions on subsidiary savings institutions as described below. Jefferson Federal must notify the
Office of Thrift Supervision 30 days before declaring any dividend to Jefferson Bancshares. In addition, the
financial impact of a holding company on its subsidiary institution is a matter that is evaluated by the Office
of Thrift Supervision and the agency has authority to order cessation of activities or divestiture of subsidiaries
deemed to pose a threat to the safety and soundness of the institution.

Acquisition of the Company. Under the Federal Change in Bank Control Act (“CIBCA”), a notice must
be submitted to the Office of Thrift Supervision if any person (including a company or savings association),
or group acting in concert, seeks to acquire “control” of a savings and loan holding company or savings
association. A change of control may occur, and prior notice is required, upon the acquisition of 10% or
more of the Company’s outstanding voting stock, unless the Office of Thrift Supervision has found that the
acquisition will not result in a change of control of the Company. Under the CIBCA, the Office of Thrift
Supervision has 60 days from the filing of a complete notice to act, taking into consideration certain factors,
including the financial and managerial resources of the acquirer and the anti-trust effects of the acquisition.
Any company that acquires control would then be subject to regulation as a savings and loan holding company.

Federal Savings Institution Regulation

Business Activities. The activities of federal savings institutions are governed by federal law and
regulations. These laws and regulations delineate the nature and extent of the activities in which federal
associations may engage. In particular, certain lending authority for a federal association, e.g., commercial,
non-residential real property loans and consumer loans, is limited to a specified percentage of the institution’s
capital or assets.

Capital Requirements. The Office of Thrift Supervision capital regulations require savings institutions
to meet three minimum capital standards: a 1.5% tangible capital to total assets ratio, a 4% leverage (core
capital) ratio (3% for certain institutions receiving the highest rating on the CAMELS examination rating
system) and an 8% total risk-based capital ratio. In addition, the prompt corrective action regulations discussed
below also establish, in effect, a minimum 2% tangible capital standard, a 4% leverage (core capital) ratio (3%
for institutions receiving the highest CAMELS rating), and, together with the risk-based capital standard itself,
a 4% Tier 1 risk-based capital standard. The Office of Thrift Supervision regulations also require that, in
meeting the tangible, leverage and risk-based capital standards, institutions must generally deduct investments
in and loans to subsidiaries engaged in activities as principal that are not permissible for a national bank.

The risk-based capital standards for savings institutions requires the maintenance of Tier 1 (core) and
total capital (which is defined as core capital and supplementary capital) to risk-weighted assets of at least
4% and 8%, respectively. In determining the amount of risk-weighted assets, all assets, including certain
off-balance sheet assets, recourse obligations, residual interests and direct credit substitutes, are multiplied
by a risk-weight factor of 0% to 100%, assigned by the Office of Thrift Supervision capital regulation based
on the risks believed inherent in the type of asset. Core (Tier 1) capital is defined as common stockholders’
equity (including retained earnings), certain noncumulative perpetual preferred stock and related surplus,
and minority interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries less intangibles other than certain
mortgage servicing rights and credit card relationships. The components of supplementary capital currently
include cumulative perpetual preferred stock, long-term perpetual preferred stock, mandatory convertible
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securities, subordinated debt and intermediate preferred stock, the allowance for loan and lease losses limited
to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets and up to 45% of unrealized gains on available-for-sale equity
securities with readily determinable fair market values. Overall, the amount of supplementary capital included
as part of total capital cannot exceed 100% of core capital.

The Office of Thrift Supervision also has authority to establish individual minimum capital requirements
in appropriate cases upon a determination that an institution’s capital level is or may become inadequate in
light of the particular circumstances. At June 30, 2006, Jefferson Federal met each of its capital requirements.

Prompt Corrective Regulatory Action. The Office of Thrift Supervision is required to take certain
supervisory actions against undercapitalized institutions, the severity of which depends upon the institution’s
degree of undercapitalization. Generally, a savings institution that has a ratio of total capital to risk weighted
assets of less than 8%, a ratio of Tier 1 (core) capital to risk-weighted assets of less than 4% or a ratio of
core capital to total assets of less than 4% (3% or less for institutions with the highest examination rating) is
considered to be “undercapitalized.” A savings institution that has a total risk-based capital ratio less than 6%,
a Tier | capital ratio of less than 3% or a leverage ratio that is less than 3% is considered to be “significantly
undercapitalized” and a savings institution that has a tangible capital to assets ratio equal to or less than 2% is
deemed to be “critically undercapitalized.” Subject to a narrow exception, the Office of Thrift Supervision is
required to appoint a receiver or conservator within specified time frames for an institution that is “critically
undercapitalized.” The regulation also provides that a capital restoration plan must be filed with the Office of
Thrift Supervision within 45 days of the date a savings institution receives notice that it is “undercapitalized,”
“significantly undercapitalized” or “critically undercapitalized.” Compliance with the plan must be guaranteed
by any parent holding company in the amount of up to the lesser of 5% of the savings association’s total assets
when it was deemed to be undercapitalized or the amount necessary to achieve compliance with applicable
capital requirements. In addition, numerous mandatory supervisory actions become immediately applicable
to an undercapitalized institution, including, but not limited to, increased monitoring by regulators and
restrictions on growth, capital distributions and expansion. The Office of Thrift Supervision could also take
any one of a number of discretionary supervisory actions, including the issuance of a capital directive and the
replacement of senior executive officers and directors. Significantly and critically undercapitalized institutions
are subject to additional mandatory and discretionary measures.

Insurance of Deposit Accounts. Jefferson Federal is a member of the Deposit Insurance Fund. The
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation maintains a risk-based assessment system by which institutions are
assigned to one of three categories based on their capitalization and one of three subcategories based on
examination ratings and other supervisory information. An institution’s assessment rate depends upon the
categories to which it is assigned. Assessment rates for Deposit Insurance Fund member institutions are
determined semiannually by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and currently range from zero basis
points for the healthiest institutions to 27 basis points for the riskiest.

In addition to the assessment for deposit insurance, institutions are required to make payments on bonds
issued in the late 1980s by the Financing Corporation (“FICO”) to recapitalize a predecessor insurance fund.

Our total assessment for 2006 (including the Financing Corporation assessment) was $101,000. The
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation has authority to increase insurance assessments. A significant increase
in insurance premiums would likely have an adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations
of Jefferson Bancshares. Management cannot predict what insurance assessment rates will be in the future.

I[nsurance of deposits may be terminated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation upon a finding
that the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue
operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or Office of Thrift Supervision. We do not know of any practice, condition or
violation that might lead to termination of deposit insurance.

Federal Deposit Insurance Reform Act of 2005. The Federal Deposit Insurance Reform Act of 2005 (the
“Act”), signed by the President on February 8, 2006, revised the laws governing the federal deposit insurance
system. The Act provided for the consolidation of the Bank and Savings Association Insurance Funds into a
combined “Deposit Insurance Fund.”
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Under the Act, insurance premiums are to be determined by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
based on a number of factors, primarily the risk of loss that insured institutions pose to the Deposit Insurance
Fund. The legislation eliminates the current minimum 1.25% reserve ratio for the insurance funds, the
mandatory assessments when the ratio fall below 1.25% and the prohibition on assessing the highest quality
banks when the ratio is above 1.25%. The Act provides the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation with
flexibility to adjust the new insurance fund’s reserve ratio between 1.15% and 1.5%, depending on projected
losses, economic changes and assessment rates at the end of a calendar year.

The Act increased deposit insurance coverage limits-from $100,000 to $250,000 for certain types of
Individual Retirement Accounts, 401(k) plans and other retirement savings accounts. While it preserved
the $100,000 coverage limit for individual accounts and municipal deposits, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation was furnished with the discretion to adjust all coverage levels to keep pace with inflation
beginning in 2010. Also, institutions that become undercapitalized will be prohibited from accepting certain
employee benefit plan deposits.

Pursuant to the Act, the consolidation of the Bank and Savings Association Insurance Funds into the
Deposit Insurance Fund occurred on March 31, 2006. The Act also states that the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation must promulgate final regulations implementing the remainder of its provisions not later than 270
days after its enactment.

At this time, management cannot predict the effect, if any, that the Act will have on insurance premiums
paid by Jefferson Federal.

Loans to One Borrower. Federal law provides that savings institutions are generally subject to the limits
on loans to one borrower applicable to national banks. Generally, subject to certain exceptions, a savings
institution may not make a loan or extend credit to a single or related group of borrowers in excess of 15% of
its unimpaired capital and surplus. An additional amount may be lent, equal to 10% of unimpaired capital
and surplus, if secured by specified readily-marketable collateral. At June 30, 2006, our limit on loans to one
borrower was $10.1 million, and our largest aggregate outstanding balance of loans to one borrower was $9.7
million.

Qualified Thrift Lender Test. Tederal law requires savings associations to meet a qualified thrift
lender test. Under the test, a savings association is required to either qualify as a “domestic building and loan
association” under the Internal Revenue Code or maintain at least 65% of its “portfolio assets” (total assets
less: (1) specified liquid assets up to 20% of total assets; (2) intangibles, including goodwill; and (3) the value
of property used to conduct business) in certain “qualified thrift investments” (primarily residential mortgages
and related investments, including certain mortgage-backed securities) in at least 9 months out of each 12-
month period.

A savings association that fails the qualified thrift lender test is subject to certain operating restrictions
and may be required to convert to a bank charter. As of June 30, 2006, Jefferson Federal met the qualified
thrift lender test. Recent legislation has expanded the extent to which education loans, credit card loans and
small business loans may be considered “qualified thrift investments.”

Limitation on Capital Distributions. Office of Thrift Supervision regulations impose limitations upon
all capital distributions by a savings institution, including cash dividends, payments to repurchase its shares
and payments to shareholders of another institution in a cash-out merger. Under the regulations, an application
to and the prior approval of the Office of Thrift Supervision is required prior to any capital distribution if
the institution does not meet the criteria for “expedited treatment” of applications under Office of Thrift
Supervision regulations (i.e., generally, examination and Community Reinvestment Act ratings in the two
top categories), the total capital distributions for the calendar year exceed net income for that year plus the
amount of retained net income for the preceding two years, the institution would be undercapitalized following
the distribution or the distribution would otherwise be contrary to a statute, regulation or agreement with
or condition imposed by the Office of Thrift Supervision. If an application is not required, the institution
must still provide prior notice to the Office of Thrift Supervision of the capital distribution if, like Jefferson
Federal, it is a subsidiary of a holding company. In the event Jefferson Federal’s capital fell below its
regulatory requirements or the Office of Thrift Supervision notified it that it was in need of more than normal
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supervision, Jefferson Federal’s ability to make capital distributions could be restricted. In addition, the Office
of Thrift Supervision could prohibit a proposed capital distribution by any institution, which would otherwise
be permitted by the regulation, if the Office of Thrift Supervision determined that such distribution would
constitute an unsafe or unsound practice.

Transactions with Related Parties. Jefferson Federal’s authority to engage in transactions with
“affiliates” (e.g., any company that controls or is under common control with an institution, including Jefferson
Bancshares and any non-savings institution subsidiaries) is limited by federal law. The aggregate amount of
covered transactions with any individual affiliate is limited to 10% of the capital and surplus of the savings
institution. The aggregate amount of covered transactions with all affiliates is limited to 20% of the savings
institution’s capital and surplus. Certain transactions with affiliates are required to be secured by collateral
in an amount and of a type described in federal law. The purchase of low quality assets from affiliates is
generally prohibited. Transactions with affiliates must generally be on terms and under circumstances that
are at least as favorable to the institution as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with
non-affiliated companies. In addition, savings associations are prohibited from lending to any affiliate that
is engaged in activities that are not permissible for bank holding companies and no savings institution may
purchase the securities of any affiliate other than a subsidiary.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 generally prohibits loans by Jefferson Bancshares to its executive
officers and directors. However, that act contains a specific exception for loans by federally insured depository
institutions to its executive officers and directors in compliance with federal banking laws. Under such laws,
Jefferson Federal’s authority to extend credit to executive officers, directors and 10% shareholders (“insiders”),
as well as entities such persons control, is limited. The law limits both the individual and aggregate amount of
loans Jefferson Federal may make to insiders based, in part, on Jefferson Federal’s capital position and requires
certain board approval procedures to be followed. Such loans are required to be made on terms substantially
the same as those offered to unaffiliated individuals and not to involve more than the normal risk of repayment.
There is an exception for loans made pursuant to a benefit or compensation program that is widely available to
all employees of the institution and does not give preference to insiders over other employees.

Standards for Safety and Soundness. The federal banking agencies have adopted Interagency
Guidelines prescribing Standards for Safety and Soundness. The guidelines set forth the safety and soundness
standards that the federal banking agencies use to identify and address problems at insured depository
institutions before capital becomes impaired. If the Office of Thrift Supervision determines that a savings
institution fails to meet any standard prescribed by the guidelines, the Office of Thrift Supervision may require
the institution to submit an acceptable plan to achieve compliance with the standard.

Enforcement. The Office of Thrift Supervision has primary enforcement responsibility over savings
associations and has the authority to bring actions against the institution and all institution-affiliated parties,
including shareholders, and any attorneys, appraisers and accountants who knowingly or recklessly participate
in wrongful action likely to have an adverse effect on an insured institution. Formal enforcement action may
range from the issuance of a capital directive or cease and desist order to removal of officers and/or directors
to institution of receivership, conservatorship or termination of deposit insurance. Civil penalties cover a
wide range of violations and can amount to $25,000 per day, or even $1 million per day in especially egregious
cases. The OTS also has enforcement authority over savings and loan holding companies such as Jefferson
Bancshares. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation has the authority to recommend to the Director of the
Office of Thrift Supervision that enforcement action be taken with respect to a particular savings institution. If
action is not taken by the Director, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation has authority to take such action
under certain circumstances. Federal law also establishes criminal penalties for certain violations.

Federal Home Loan Bank System

Jefferson Federal is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank System, which consists of 12 regional
Federal Home Loan Banks. The Federal Home Loan Bank provides a central credit facility primarily for
member institutions. Jefferson Federal, as a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati, is
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required to acquire and hold shares of capital stock in that Federal Home Loan Bank. Jefferson Federal was
in compliance with this requirement with an investment in Federal Home Loan Bank stock at June 30, 2006 of
$1.7 million.

The Federal Home Loan Banks are required to provide funds for the resolution of insolvent thrifts in
the late 1980s and to contribute funds for affordable housing programs. These requirements could reduce
the amount of dividends that the Federal Home Loan Banks pay to their members and could also result in the
Federal Home Loan Banks imposing a higher rate of interest on advances to their members. If dividends were
reduced, or interest on future Federal Home Loan Bank advances increased, Jefferson Federal’s net interest
income would likely also be reduced.

Federal Reserve System

The Federal Reserve Board regulations require savings institutions to maintain non-interest earning
reserves against their transaction accounts (primarily NOW and regular checking accounts). The regulations
generally provide that reserves be maintained against aggregate transaction accounts as follows: a 3% reserve
ratio is assessed on net transaction accounts up to and including $48.3 million; a 10% reserve ratio is applied
above $48.3 million. The first $7.8 million of otherwise reservable balances (subject to adjustments by the
Federal Reserve Board) are exempted from the reserve requirements. The amounts are adjusted annually.
Jefferson Federal complies with the foregoing requirements.

FEDERAL AND STATE TAXATION

Federal Income Taxation

General. We report our income on a fiscal year basis using the accrual method of accounting. The
federal income tax laws apply to us in the same manner as to other corporations with some exceptions,
including particularly our reserve for bad debts discussed below. The following discussion of tax matters is
intended only as a summary and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of the tax rules applicable
to us. Our federal income tax returns have been either andited or closed under the statute of limitations
through tax year 1995. For its 2006 year, the Company’s maximum federal income tax rate was 34%.

Bad Debt Reserves. For fiscal years beginning before June 30, 1996, thrift institutions that qualified
under certain definitional tests and other conditions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, were
permitted to use certain favorable provisions to calculate their deductions from taxable income for annual
additions to their bad debt reserve. A reserve could be established for bad debts on qualifying real property
loans, generally secured by interests in real property improved or to be improved, under the percentage
of taxable income method or the experience method. The reserve for nonqualifying loans was computed
using the experience method. Federal legislation enacted in 1996 repealed the reserve method of accounting
for bad debts and the percentage of taxable income method for tax years beginning after 1995 and require
savings institutions to recapture or take into income certain portions of their accumulated bad debt reserves.
Approximately $1.3 million of our accumulated bad debt reserves would not be recaptured into taxable income
unless Jefferson Federal makes a “non-dividend distribution” to Jefferson Bancshares as described below.

Distributions. If Jefferson Federal makes “non-dividend distributions” to Jefferson Bancshares,
the distributions will be considered to have been made from Jefferson Federal’s unrecaptured tax bad
debt reserves, including the balance of its reserves as of June 30, 1988, to the extent of the “non-dividend
distributions,” and then from Jefferson Federal’s supplemental reserve for losses on loans, to the extent of those
reserves, and an amount based on the amount distributed, but not more than the amount of those reserves,
will be included in Jefferson Federal’s taxable income. Non-dividend distributions include distributions in
excess of Jefferson Federal’s current and accumulated earnings and profits, as calculated for federal income tax
purposes, distributions in redemption of stock, and distributions in partial or complete liquidation. Dividends
paid out of Jefferson Federal’s current or accumulated earnings and profits will not be so included in Jefferson
Federal’s taxable income.
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The amount of additional taxable income triggered by a non-dividend is an amount that, when reduced
by the tax attributable to the income, is equal to the amount of the distribution. Therefore, if Jefferson Federal
makes a non-dividend distribution to Jefferson Bancshares, approximately one and one-half times the amount
of the distribution not in excess of the amount of the reserves would be includable in income for federal income
tax purposes, assuming a 34% federal corporate income tax rate. Jefferson Federal does not intend to pay
dividends that would result in a recapture of any portion of its bad debt reserves.

State Taxation

Tennessee imposes franchise and excise taxes. The franchise tax ($0.25 per $100} is applied either to
our apportioned net worth or the value of property owned and used in Tennessee, whichever is greater, as of
the close of our fiscal year. The excise tax {6.5%) is applied to net earnings derived from business done in
Tennessee. Under Tennessee regulations, bad debt deductions are deductible from the excise tax. There have
not been any audits of our state tax returns during the past five years.

Any cash dividends, in excess of a certain exempt amount, that are paid with respect to Jefferson
Bancshares common stock to a shareholder (including a partnership and certain other entities) who is a resident
of the State of Tennessee will be subject to the Tennessee income tax which is levied at a rate of six percent.
Any distribution by a corporation from earnings according to percentage ownership is considered a dividend,
and the definition of a dividend for Tennessee income tax purposes may not be the same as the definition of a
dividend for federal income tax purposes. A corporate distribution may be treated as a dividend for Tennessee
tax purposes if it is made from funds that exceed the corporation’s earned surplus and profits under certain
circumstances.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Additional operating expenses relating to our expansion activities may reduce our profitability.

We will incur additional expenses relating to our lending and branch expansion strategy. These expenses
will be primarily salaries and employee benefits for the additional employees hired to staff our new offices and
occupancy and equipment relating to our two new full-service branch offices that opened in mid-2006 and our
anticipated branch office in Knoxville, Tennessee scheduled to open in 2007. Initially, we expect that these
expenses will be greater than the additional income that we generate through our new facilities. Over time, we
anticipate that we will generate sufficient income to offset the expenses related to our new facilities and new
employees, although we cannot guarantee when that will occur.

We may not be able to implement successfully our plans for growth.

We have operated out of our main office and two drive-through facilities in Morristown, Tennessee
since 1963 and have historically considered Hamblen County to be our primary market area. Recently, our
management began to implement a growth strategy that expands our presence in Morristown, as well as into
Knoxville, Tennessee, approximately 40 miles southwest of Morristown. In mid-2006, we opened two full-
service branch offices, one in Morristown and one in Knoxville. In addition, we intend to open a second full-
service branch office in Knoxville during 2007. In connection with these new branches, we will have, among
others, construction expenses, as well as the cost of equipment and hiring new employees.

We cannot assure you that our expansion strategy will be accretive to earnings, or that our strategy
will be accretive to earnings within a reasonable period of time. Numerous factors will affect our expansion
strategy, such as our ability to select suitable office locations, real estate acquisition costs, competition,
interest rates, managerial resources, our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel, the effectiveness of our
marketing strategy and our ability to attract deposits. We can provide no assurance that we will be successful
in increasing the volume of our loans and deposits by expanding our lending and branch network. Building and
staffing new offices will increase our operating expenses. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to
manage the costs and implementation risks associated with this strategy so that expansion of our lending and
branch network will be profitable.
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A downturn in the local economy or a decline in real estate values could hurt our earnings.

The success of our business depends on our ability to generate profits and grow our franchise. We
are located in Morristown, Tennessee and consider Hamblen County, with a population of 60,000, and its
contiguous counties to be our primary market area, although we are currently expanding into the Knoxville
region. The economy of the Hamblen County market area is based primarily on manufacturing and
agriculture. Our primary lending activity is the origination of loans secured by real estate. Nearly all of
these loans are made to borrowers who live and work in our primary market area. As a result, a downturn in
the local economy could cause significant increases in nonperforming loans, which would hurt our earnings.
Decreases in real estate values could adversely affect the value of property used as collateral for our loans
which would expose us to a greater risk of loss. In addition, adverse employment conditions may have a
negative effect on the ability of our borrowers to make timely repayments of their loans and on our ability to
make new Joans, which would have an adverse impact on our earnings.

Rising interest rates may hurt our earnings and asset value.

Interest rates have recently been at historically low levels. However, since June 30, 2004, the U.S. Federal
Reserve has increased its target for the federal funds rate 17 times, from 1.00% to 5.25%. While these short-
term market interest rates {(which we use as a guide to our price deposits) have increased, longer-term market
interest rates (which we use as a guide to price our longer-term loans) have not. This “flattening” of the market
yield curve has had a negative impact on our interest rate spread and net interest margin, and if short-term
interest rates continue to rise, and if rates on our deposits and borrowings continue to reprice upwards faster
than the rates on our long-term loans and investments, we would continue to experience compression of our
interest rate spread and net interest margin, which would have a negative effect on our profitability.

Changes in interest rates also affect the value of our interest-earnings assets, and in particular our
securities portfolio. Generally, the value of fixed-rate securities fluctuates inversely with changes in interest
rates. Unrealized gains and losses on securities available for sale are reported as a separate component of
equity, net of tax. Decreases in the fair value of securities available for sale resulting from increases in interest
rates could have an adverse effect on stockholders’ equity.

Strong competition within our market area could hurt our profits and slow growth.

We face intense competition both in making loans and attracting deposits. This competition has made
it more difficult for us to make new loans and at times has forced us to offer higher deposit rates. Price
competition for loans and deposits might result in us earning less on our loans and paying more on our
deposits, which reduces net interest income. As of June 30, 2005, we held 25.4% of the deposits in Hamblen
County, which is the largest market share out of nine financial institutions with offices in the county at that
date. However, banks owned by SunTrust Banks, Inc., First Tennessee National Corporation and Regions
Financial Corporation, all of which are large regional bank holding companies, also operate in Hamblen
County. These institutions are significantly larger than us and, therefore, have significantly greater resources.
We expect competition to increase in the future as a result of legislative, regulatory and technological changes
and the continuing trend of consolidation in the financial services industry. Our profitability depends upon our
continued ability to compete successfully in our market area.

Our commercial real estate, commercial business and multi-family real estate loans expose us to
increased lending risks.

At June 30, 2006, $156.2 million, or 60.9%, of our loan portfolio consisted of commercial real estate,
commercial business and multi-family real estate loans. Commercial real estate and multi-family real estate
loans generally expose a lender to greater risk of non-payment and loss than one- to four-family residential
mortgage loans because repayment of the loans often depends on the successful operation of the property
and the income stream of the borrowers. Commercial business loans expose us to additional risks because
they typically are made on the basis of the borrower’s ability to make repayments from the cash flow of the
borrower’s business and are secured by collateral that may depreciate over time. All three of these types of
loans typically involve larger loan balances to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers compared to
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one- to four-family residential mortgage loans. Because such loans generally entail greater risk than one- to
four- family residential mortgage loans, we may need to increase our allowance for loan losses in the future

to account for the likely increase in probable incurred credit losses associated with the growth of such loans.
Also, many of our commercial borrowers have more than one loan outstanding with us. Consequently, an
adverse development with respect to one loan or one credit relationship can expose us to a significantly greater
risk of loss compared to an adverse development with respect to a one- to four-family residential mortgage
loan.

‘We may require further additions to our allowance for loan losses, which would reduce net income.

If our borrowers do not repay their loans or if the collateral securing their loans is insufficient to provide
for the full repayment, we may suffer credit losses. Credit losses are inherent in the lending business and could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results. We make various assumptions and judgments about the
collectibility of our loan portfolio and provide an allowance for loan losses based on a number of factors. If our
assumptions and judgments are wrong, our allowance for loan losses may not be sufficient to cover our losses.
If we determine that our allowance for loan losses is insufficient, we would be required to take additional
provisions for loan losses, which would reduce net income during the period those provisions are taken. In
addition, the Office of Thrift Supervision periodically reviews our allowance for loan losses and may require
us to increase our allowance for loan losses or to charge off particular loans.

Loss of our President and Chief Executive Officer could hurt our operations.

We rely heavily on our President and Chief Executive Officer, Anderson L. Smith. The loss of Mr. Smith
could have an adverse effect on us because, as a small community bank, Mr. Smith is responsible for more
aspects of our business than he might be at a larger financial institution with more employees. Moreover, as
a small community bank, we have fewer management-level employees who are in a position to succeed and
assume the responsibilities of Mr. Smith. We have entered into a three-year employment agreement with Mr.
Smith. We do not have key-man life insurance on Mr. Smith.

We operate in a highly regulated environment and we may be adversely affected by changes in laws and
regulations.

‘We are subject to extensive regulation, supervision and examination by the Office of Thrift Supervision,
our chartering authority, and by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, as insurer of our deposits. As
a savings and loan holding company, Jefferson Bancshares is subject to regulation and supervision by the
Office of Thrift Supervision. Such regulation and supervision govern the activities in which an institution
and its holding company may engage, and are intended primarily for the protection of the insurance fund and
depositors. Regulatory authorities have extensive discretion in their supervisory and enforcement activities,
including the imposition of restrictions on our operations, the classification of our assets and determination of
the level of our allowance for loan losses. Any change in such regulation and oversight, whether in the form of
regulatory policy, regulations, legislation or supervisory action, may have a material impact on our operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM2. PROPERTIES

We conduct our business through our main office and drive-through facilities. The following table sets
forth certain information relating to these facilities as of June 30, 2006.

Year Owned/
Location Opened Leased

Main Office ........... e 1997 QOwned
120 Evans Avenue
Morristown, Tennessee

Lending Office. ..., 2005 Leased®
8920 Executive Park Drive
Knoxville, Tennessee

Drive-Through ............ ... .. ...ooiiin 1995 Owned
143 E. Main Street
Morristown, Tennessee

Drive-Through ............ S 1998 Leased®
1960 W. Morris Blvd.
Morristown, Tennessee

Merchants Green Office. . ..................... 2006 Owned
123 Merchants Greene Blvd.
Morristown, Tennessee

Mortgage Office........oovvinii i, 2006 Leased ®
525 West Morris Blvd.
Morristown, Tennessee

Mortgage Office. . ............ ... ... ... ... 2006 Leased®

8920 Executive Park Drive
Knoxville, Tennessee

(1) The current lease expires in November 2006. From and after November 2006, the term of the lease will
be on a month-to-month basis.

(2) The current lease expires in April 2007, with an option for an additional five years.
(3) The current lease expires in April 2009.

(4) The current lease expires in December 2006.

As of June 30, 2006, the total net book value of the Company’s offices was $7.0 million.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Jefferson Bancshares is not a party to any pending legal proceedings. Periodically, there have been
various claims and lawsuits involving Jefferson Federal, such as claims to enforce liens, condemnation
proceedings on properties in which Jefferson Federal holds security interests, claims involving the making and
servicing of real property loans and other issues incident to Jefferson Federal’s business. Jefferson Federal
is not a party to any pending legal proceedings that it believes would have a material adverse effect on the
financial condition or operations of the Company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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PART I1

ITEMS. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Jefferson Bancshares’ common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “JFBL.”
As of June 30, 2006, Jefferson Bancshares had approximately 590 holders of record (excluding the number
of persons or entities holding stock in street name through various brokerage firms), and 6,613,557 shares
outstanding.

The following table sets forth high and low sales prices for each quarter during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 for Jefferson Bancshares’ common stock, and corresponding quarterly
dividends period per share.

Dividend Paid

High Low Per Share
Year Ended June 30, 2006
Fourthquarter.......... ... ... .. ..o ... $13.56  $12.76 $0.085
Thirdquarter. . ............. ... . it 13.60 12.95 0.06
Secondquarter .............. ... .. . 14.12 12.85 0.06
Firstquarter ......... ..., 13.25 12.61 0.06
Year Ended June 30, 2005
Fourthquarter. ........... ..o iinn., $13.30  $12.16 $0.10
Thirdquarter. . ..o 13.47 12.29 0.05
Secondquarter ................ ... ... ... 13.49 12.70 0.05
Firstquarter ...........cooiiiineiinennnnn.. 13.50 12.35 0.05

The Board of Directors of Jefferson Bancshares has the authority to declare dividends on the common
stock, subject to statutory and regulatory requirements. Declarations of dividends by the Board of Directors,
if any, will depend upon a number of factors, including investment opportunities available to Jefferson
Bancshares or Jefferson Federal, capital requirements, regulatory limitations, Jefferson Bancshares’ and
Jefferson Federal’s financial condition and results of operations, tax considerations and general economic
conditions. No assurances can be given, however, that any dividends will be paid or, if commenced, will
continue to be paid.

Jefferson Bancshares is subject to the requirements of Tennessee law, which generally prohibits
distributions to shareholders if, after giving effect to the distribution, the corporation would not be able to pay
its debts as they become due in the usual course of business or the corporation’s total assets would be less than
the sum of its total liabilities plus the amount that would be needed, if the corporation were to be dissolved at
the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of shareholders whose preferential
rights are superior to those receiving the distribution.
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The following table provides certain information with regard to shares repurchased by the Company in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

)
() Maximum Number
Total Number of (or Appropriate
(a) (b) Shares (or units) Dollar Value)
Total number Average Purchased as of Shares (or units)

of Shares Price Paid  Part of Publicly that May Yet Be
(or Units) per Share  Announced Plans Purchased Under the

Period Purchased (or Unit) or Programs Plans or Programs
Month #1

April 1, 2006 through April 30, 2006. . . . .. — — — 655,634 (1)
Month #2

May 1, 2006 through May 31,2006 ... .... 4,397 $13.05 4,397 651,237 (1)
Month #3

June 1, 2006 through June 30, 2006. ... ... 76,963 $13.23 76,963 574,274 (1)
Total ... ... 81,360 $13.22 81,360

(1) On February 24, 2006, the Company announced a stock repurchase program under which the Company
may repurchase up to 690,261 shares of the Company’s common stock, from time to time, subject to
market conditions. The repurchase program will continue until completed or terminated by the Board of

Directors.

20




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information below as of June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and for the years then ended is derived from
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company. The information below as of June 30, 2003 and
2002 and for the years then ended 1s derived from the audited financial statements of the Bank.

At or For the Year Ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Financial Condition Data:
Totalassets . ..., $327,137 $295,041 $305,474 $363,778 $267,507
Loansreceivable,net ................... 254,127 208,438 186,601 180,010 190,032
Cash and cash equivalents, '

interest-bearing deposits and

investment securities. . ............... 43,801 64,393 101,416 172,943 67,198
Borrowings. ... 52,400 17,000 6,000 2,000 2,000
Deposits ..o 198,843 194,706 204,933 324,247 231,849
Stockholders’ equity. . .................. 74,543 82,028 93,383 36,625 32,901
Operating Data:
Interestincome. ... ... ..., $ 18,092 §$ 15,779 § 16,067 $ 17,2539 $ 19,380
Interestexpense . .............cvein.n.. 6,935 4,639 4,776 6,518 10,267
Net interestincome. . ...........c.ouon... 11,157 11,140 11,291 10,741 9,113
Provision for loanlosses. ................ (68) — — 787 1,221
Net interest income after

provision for loan losses ... ........... 11,225 11,140 11,291 9,954 7,892
Noninterestincome. ... ................. 1,375 1,204 1,067 979 1,021
Noninterest expense . . .. ................ 8,950 7,031 10,265 5,273 5,069
Earnings before income taxes ............ 3,650 5,313 2,093 5,660 3,844
Total incometaxes ..................... 1,320 1,863 706 2,068 1,418
Netearnings . .....o.ooveieeinnneennnns $ 2330 § 3450 $ 1,387 § 3,592 § 2426
Per Share Data:
Earnings per share, basic .. .............. § 037 § 047 § 018 § 045@ $  030@
Earnings per share, diluted. . ............. $ 037 $ 047 $ 018 § 0459 $ 0309
Dividends pershare . ................... $ 0265 § 025§ 021 § 01609 $ 01603

(1) Represents dividends paid per share of Jefferson Federal common stock to shareholders other than
Jefferson Bancshares, MHC, which waived the receipt of all dividends during the periods presented.

(2) Per share and dividend amounts have been adjusted to reflect the exchange of 4.2661 shares of Jefferson
Bancshares common stock for each share of Jefferson Federal common stock in the conversion.
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At or For the Year Ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Performance Ratios:
Return on average assets .................. 0.75% 1.14% 0.44% 1.32% 0.91%
Return on average equity .. ................ 2.99 3.92 1.46 10.25 7.68
Interestrate spread (1) .................... 3.16 3.24 3.08 3.66 3.02
Net interest margin (2) . ................... 3.89 3.88 3.76 4.10 3.53
Noninterest expense to average assets. ... .... 2.90 2.32 3.28 1.94 1.90
Efficiency ratio(3) .......... ... ... .. 69.97 57.17 83.21 45.30 50.73
Average interest-earning assets to

average interest-bearing liabilities . .. ... .. 130.28 139.49 143.13 117.67 112.77
Dividend payoutratio (4) ... ............... 71.62 53.19 116.67 36.46 53.79
Capital Ratios:
Tangible capital. . ........................ 20.09 22.72 2221 9.75 12.00
Corecapital .. ......... ... ..ot 20.09 22.72 22.21 9.75 12.00
Risk-based capital. . ...................... 2745 35.39 38.78 21.06 21.10
Average equity to average assets .. .......... 25.21 29.00 30.40 12.90 11.87
Asset Quality Ratios:
Allowance for loan losses as a percent of

total gross loans . .............. ... ... 0.85 1.09 1.31 1.54 1.37
Allowance for loan losses as a percent of

nonperforming loans. . ................. 629.57 538.26 228.90 161.79 130.40
Net charge-offs to average outstanding

loans during the period ................ 0.02 0.09 0.19 0.34 0.38
Nonperforming loans as a percent of

totalloans ............. ... ... .. ..., 0.13 0.20 0.58 0.95 1.09
Nonperforming assets as a percent of

totalassets. ........... ..t 0.13 045 0.54 0.82 1.16

(1) Represents the difference between the weighted average yield on average interest-earning assets and the
weighted average cost of interest-bearing liabilities.

(2) Represents net interest income as a percent of average interest-earning assets.

(3) Represents noninterest expense divided by the sum of net interest income and noninterest income,
excluding gains or losses on the sale of securities. Excluding the $4.0 million contribution to the
Jefferson Federal Charitable Foundation, the efficiency ratio for 2004 would be 50.78%.

(4) Reflects dividends per share declared in the period divided by earnings per share for the period.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATION

The objective of this section is to help shareholders and potential investors understand our views on
our results of operations and financial condition. You should read this discussion in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements that appear elsewhere in
this report.

Overview

Income

We have two primary sources of pre-tax income. The first is net interest income. Net interest income is
the difference between interest income — which is the income that we earn on our loans and investments — and
interest expense — which is the interest that we pay on our deposits and borrowings.

Our second principal source of pre-tax income is fee income — the compensation we receive from
providing products and services. Most of our fee income comes from service charges on NOW accounts and
fees for late loan payments. We also earn fee income from ATM charges, insurance commissions, safe deposit
box rentals and other fees and charges.

We occasionally recognize gains or losses as a result of sales of investment securities or foreclosed real
estate. These gains and losses are not a regular part of our income.

Expenses

The expenses we incur in operating our business consist of compensation and benefits expenses,
occupancy expenses, equipment and data processing expense, deposit insurance premiums, advertising
expenses, expenses for foreclosed real estate and other miscellaneous expenses.

Compensation and benefits consist primarily of the salaries and wages paid to our employees, fees paid to
our directors and expenses for retirement and other employee benefits.

Occupancy expenses, which are the fixed and variable costs of building and equipment, consist primarily
of lease payments, real estate taxes, depreciation charges, maintenance and costs of utilities.

Equipment and data processing expense includes fees paid to our third-party data processing service and
expenses and depreciation charges related to office and banking equipment. Depreciation of premises and
equipment is computed using the straight-line and accelerated methods based on the useful lives of the related
assets. Estimated lives are five to 40 years for building and improvements, and three to 10 years for furniture
and equipment.

Deposit insurance premiums are payments we make to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for
insurance of our deposit accounts.

Expenses for foreclosed real estate include maintenance and repairs on foreclosed properties prior to sale.

Other expenses include expenses for attorneys, accountants and consultants, payroll taxes, franchise
taxes, charitable contributions, insurance, office supplies, postage, telephone and other miscellaneous
operating expenses.

Critical Accounting Policies

We consider accounting policies involving significant judgments and assumptions by management
that have, or could have, a material impact on the carrying value of certain assets or on income to be critical
accounting policies. We consider the following to be our critical accounting policies: allowance for loan losses
and deferred income taxes.
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Allowance for Loan Losses. Determining the amount of the allowance for loan losses necessarily
involves a high degree of judgment. Management reviews the level of the allowance on a monthly basis and
establishes the provision for loan losses based on the composition of the loan portfolio, delinquency levels, loss
experience, economic condition and other factors related to the collectibility of the loan portfolio. Although
we believe that we use the best information available to establish the allowance for loan losses, future additions
to the allowance may be necessary based on estimates that are susceptible to change as a result of changes in
economic conditions and other factors. In addition, the Office of Thrift Supervision, as an integral part of
its examination process, periodically reviews our allowance for loan losses. Such agency may require us to
recognize adjustments to the allowance based on its judgments about information available to it at the time of
its examination.

Deferred Income Taxes. We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under
this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. If current available information raises doubt as to the realization of the deferred tax
assets, a valuation allowance is established. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. We exercise significant judgment in evaluating the amount and timing of recognition of
the resulting tax liabilities and assets, including projections of future taxable income. These judgments and
estimates are reviewed on a continual basis as regulatory and business factors change.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Overview.
% Change % Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Netearnings ..........oveeernnnneennn. $2,330 $3,450 $1,387 (32.5)% 148.7%
Net earnings per share, basic . .............. $ 037 $ 047 $ 0.18 (21.3) 161.1
Net earnings per share, diluted. . .. .......... $ 037 § 047 $ 0.18 (21.3) 161.1
Return on average assets .................. 0.75% 1.14% 0.44%
Return on averageequity .. ................ 2.99% 3.92% 1.46%

2006 v. 2005. Net income was $2.3 million, or $0.37 per diluted share, for the year ended June 30, 2006
compared to net income of $3.5 mitlion, or $0.47 per diluted share, for the year ended June 30, 2005. The
decline in net income for the year ended June 30, 2006 was primarily the result of an increase in noninterest
expense, partially offset by an increase in noninterest income. The increase in noninterest expense was the
result of our expansion activities, as well as our adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Statement 123R, which requires the expensing of stock options.

2005 v. 2004. Net earnings were $3.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2005 compared to net earnings
of $1.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2004, Net income for the year ended June 30, 2004 reflected
the nonrecurring expense associated with the $4.0 million contribution to the Jefferson Federal Charitable
Foundation which was formed in July 2003. Net earnings for the year ended June 30, 2005 included an
increase in compensation expense related to expansion activities in Knoxville, Tennessee and expenses related
to the Stock Incentive Plan. Compensation expense amounted to $4.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2005
compared to $3.2 million for the same period in 2004.
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Net Interest Income.

The following table summarizes changes in interest income and expense for the years ended June 30,
2006, 2005 and 2004:

Year Ended June 30, % Change
2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004

Interest income:
Loans . ..o e $16,152  §$13,026  $12,692 24.0% 2.6%
Investment securities. . .. ...........c..on.... 1,248 2,008 2,620 (37.8) (23.4)
Mortgage-backed securities. . ................ 260 360 540 (27.8) (33.3)
Municipal securities ......... ... ... 123 98 44 25.5 122.7
Interest-earning deposits. . .................. 216 215 109 0.5 97.2
FHLBstock............... ... ... 93 72 62 29.2 16.1

Total interest income .. .................. 18,092 15,779 16,067 14.7 (1.8)
Interest expense:
Deposits. . ... 5,527 4,199 4,670 31.6 (10.1)
Borrowings ........ ... ... i 1,408 440 106 220.0 315.1

Total interestexpense. .. ................. 6,935 4,639 4,776 49.5 2.9
Net interestincome . ... .................... $11,157  $11,140  $11,291 0.2 (1.3)%

2006 v. 2005. Net interest income before loan loss provision increased $17,000 to $11.2 million for the
year ended June 30, 2006 due to an increase in interest income, partially offset by an increase in interest
expense. The increase in short-term interest rates has improved the yield on earning assets; however, our
cost of funds has also been affected by the increase in rates. The interest rate spread and net interest margin
for the year ended June 30, 2006 were 3.16% and 3.89%, respectively, compared to 3.24% and 3.88% for the
same period in 2005. The average yield on interest-earning assets increased 81 basis points to 6.31% while
the average volume of earning assets declined $368,000, to $286.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2006
compared to the same period in 2005. The average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities increased 90 basis
points to 3.15%, while the average volume of interest-bearing liabilities increased $14.3 million, to $220.0
million for the year ended June 30, 2006.

Total interest income increased $2.3 million, or 14.7%, to $18.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2006
compared to $15.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. The increase in interest income was primarily due
to an increase in both the volume and yield on average loans more than offsetting a decrease in the volume of
investment securities.

Interest on loans increased $3.1 million, or 24.0%, to $16.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2006.
The increase in interest on loans is the result of a higher average balance, primarily due to growth in the
commercial and consumer loan portfolio, combined with a higher average yield. The increase in the average
yield on loans was primarily the result of increases in the prime lending rate. The average yield on loans
increased 45 basis points, to 6.93%, for 2006 compared to 6.48% for 2005. A significant portion of the
commercial loans that have been originated have been tied to prime and will reprice quickly as interest rates
change.

Interest on investment securities decreased $835,000, or 33.9%, to $1.6 million, for the year ended June
30, 2006. The decrease was the result of a decline in the average balance of investment securities more than
offsetting an increase in the average yield. The average balance of investment securities decreased $29.2
million, to $43.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2006. Proceeds from the sale of investment securities
were used to reduce the level of short-term borrowings and to fund loan growth. The average yield on
investments increased 35 basis points to 3.73% for 2006 compared to the 3.38% for 2005. Dividends on Federal
Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) stock were $93,000 for the year ended June 30, 2006, compared to $72,000 for the
year ended June 30, 2005. FHLB dividends are paid with additional shares of FHLB stock.
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Total interest expense increased $2.3 million, or 49.5%, to $6.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2006,
compared to $4.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. The increase was due to an increase in the average
rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities combined with an increase in the average balance of FHLB advances.
Interest expense on deposits increased $1.3 million, or 31.6%, to $5.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2006.
The increase was due to an increase in the average rate paid on deposits more than offsetting a decrease in the
average balance of deposits. The average rate paid on deposits increased 79 basis points to 2.97% for the year
ended June 30, 2006 due to higher rates paid on money market accounts and time deposits. The increase in
the rate paid on deposits reflects an increase in short-term market interest rates. Interest expense on FHLB
advances was $1.4 million for 2006 compared to $440,000 for 2005. The increase was due to a higher average
balance and a higher rate paid. FHLB advances were utilized as a funding source for supporting loan growth
during the year ended June 30, 2006.

2005 v. 2004. Net interest income before loan loss provision decreased $151,000, or 1.3%, to $11.1 million
for the year ended June 30, 2005 due to a decrease in interest income, partially offset by a decrease in interest
expense. For the year ended June 30, 2005, the interest rate spread and net interest margin were 3.24% and
3.88%, respectively. The increase in the interest rate spread and net interest margin was primarily attributable
to changes in the volume and composition of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Interest-
earning assets decreased $13.1 million to $286.9 million while the average yield increased 14 basis points to
5.50% for the year ended June 30, 2005. The decline in interest-earning assets was the result of a $31.3 million
decrease in the average balance of investments offset by a $15.0 million increase in the average balance of
loans. Interest bearing liabilities decreased $3.9 million to $205.7 million, while the average rate paid declined
two basis points to 2.26% for the year ended June 30, 2005.

Total interest income decreased $288,000, or 1.8%, to $15.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2005
compared to $16.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2004. Interest on investment securities decreased
$738,000, or 23.0%, to $2.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. The average balance of investment
securities was $73.0 million for 2005 compared to $104.3 million for 2004 due primarily to sales of investment
securities. The average yield on investments increased 31 basis points to 3.4% at June 30, 2005. Proceeds from
the sale of investment securities were used to fund stock repurchases and to fund growth in the loan portfolio.
For the year ended June 30, 2005, interest on loans increased $335,000, or 2.6%, to $13.0 million due to an
increase in the average balance of loans more than offsetting a reduction in the average yield. The average
balance of loans increased $15.0 million to $200.9 million and the average yield decreased 35 basis points to
6.48% at June 30, 2005. Interest income on interest-earning deposits increased $106,000 to $215,000 due to a
higher average balance combined with a higher average yield. Dividends on FHLB stock were $72,000 for the
year ended June 30, 2005 and $62,000 for the same period in 2004.

Total interest expense decreased $137,000, or 2.9%, to $4.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2005
compared to $4.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2004. Interest expense on deposits decreased $471,000,
or 10.1%, to $4.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. The average balance of deposits decreased $14.4
million to $192.5 million and the average rate paid decreased eight basis points to 2.18% for the year ended
June 30, 2005. The decline in the average rate paid on deposits reflects lower repricing of certificates of
deposit during the period, more than offsetting higher rates paid on money market accounts. The decline in
the average balance of deposits was primarily attributable to a decline in the average balance of certificates
of deposit more than offsetting an increase in transaction accounts. Our pricing strategy, combined with
increased competition for certificates of deposit in our market, resulted in a decrease in the average balance of
deposits. Interest on Federal Home Loan Bank advances increased $334,000 to $440,000 for June 30, 2005 due
to a higher average balance. During the year ended June 30, 2005, advances were utilized as a funding source
for supporting loan growth.
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Average Balances and Yields. The following table presents information regarding average balances of
assets and liabilities, as well as the total dollar amounts of interest income and dividends from average interest-
earning assets and interest expense on average interest-bearing liabilities and the resulting average yields and
costs. The yields and costs for the periods indicated are derived by dividing income or expense by the average
balances of assets or liabilities, respectively, for the periods presented. For purposes of this table, average
balances have been calculated using the average of month-end balances, and nonaccrual loans are included in
average balances; however, accrued interest income has been excluded from these loans.

Interest-earning assets:

Mortgage-backed securities . . . ..
Investment securities. . .........
Municipal securities ...........
Daily interest deposits. . . .......
Other earning assets . ..........

Total interest-earning assets. .

Noninterest-earning assets.........
Total assets...............

Interest-bearing liabilities:
Passbook accounts ............
NOWaccounts . ..............
Money market accounts .. ......
Certificates of deposit..........

Total interest-bearing
deposits..............

Borrowings . .................

Total interest-bearing
liabilities . .. ..........

Noninterest-bearing deposits . . . .

Other noninterest-bearing
liabilities ................
Total liabilities . . . .........

Stockholders’ equity . ..........
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity . . . .
Net interest income. ...........
Interest rate spread ............
Net interest margin . .. .........
Ratio of average interest-earning
assets to average interest-
bearing liabilities . .. .......

Year Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Interest Interest Interest
Average and Yield/ Average and Yield/ Average and Yield/
Balance  Dividends Cost Balance  Dividends Cost Balance Dividends Cost
(Dollars in thousands)
$233,232  §$16,152 6.93% $200,943  $13,026 6.48% $185899  $12,692 6.83%
5,465 260 4.76 10,070 360 3.57 15,218 540 3.55
34,226 1,248 3.65 59,597 2,008 3.37 87,335 2,620 3.00
4,063 123 3.03 3312 98 2.96 1,711 44 2.57
7,882 216 2.74 11,397 215 1.89 8,287 109 1.32
1,700 93 5.47 1,617 72 445 1,552 62 3.99
286,568 18,092 6.31 286,936 15,779 5.50 300,002 16,067 5.36
22,480 — 16,491 12,881
$309,048 — $303,427 $312,883
$ 12,122 61 0.50% $ 13,142 66 0.50% $ 13,994 75 0.54%
16,859 85 0.50 17,486 88 0.50 15,785 85 0.54
37,900 1,228 3.24 30,652 605 1.97 28,649 358 1.25
119,214 4153 348 131,252 3440 262 148499 4152 2.80
186,095 5,527 2.97 192,532 4,199 2.18 206,927 4,670 2.26
33,867 1,408 4.16 13,167 440 3.34 2,667 106 3.97
219,962 6,935 3.15 205,699 4,639 2.26 209,594 4,776 2.28
10,001 — 8,633 6,955
1,170 — 1,089 1,222
231,133 215,421 217,771
77,915 — 88,006 95,112
$309,048 $303,427 $312,883
$11,157 $11,140 $11,291
3.16% 3.24% 3.08%
3.89% 3.88% 3.76%
130.28% 139.49% 143.13%
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Rate/Volume Analysis. The following table sets forth the effects of changing rates and volumes on
our net interest income. The rate column shows the effects attributable to changes in rate (changes in rate
multiplied by prior volume). The volume column shows the effects attributable to changes in volume (changes
in volume multiplied by prior rate). The net column represents the sum of the prior columns. For purposes
of this table, changes attributable to changes in both rate and volume that cannot be segregated have been
allocated proportionately based on the changes due to rate and the changes due to volume.

2006 Compared to 2005 2005 Compared to 2004
Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
Due to Due to
Volume Rate Net Volume Rate Net
(In Thousands)
Interest income:
Loansreceivable. ................... $2,193 $ 932 $3,125 $ 889 $(554) $335
Mortgage-backed securities . .. ........ (362) 262 (100) (184) 4 (180)
Investment securities .. .............. (942) 182 (760) (999) 387 (612)
Municipals. ........ ... ..o oo 23 2 25 47 7 54
Daily interest-bearing deposits and
other interest-earning assets ....... (26) 49 23 51 64 115
Total interest-earning assets . ....... 886 1,427 2,313 (196) (92) (288)
Interest expense:
Deposits ... (135) 1,463 1,328 (317) (154) 471
Borrowings. ........ ... .o o 838 130 968 348 (14) 334
Total interest-bearing liabilities . . . .. 703 1,593 2,296 31 (168) (137)
Net change in interest income ......... $ 183 $ 66y § 17 $(227) §$ 76 $(15H

Provision for Loan Losses.

We review the level of the loan loss allowance on a monthly basis and establish the provision for loan
losses based on the volume and types of lending, delinquency levels, loss experience, the amount of classified
loans, economic conditions and other factors related to the collectibility of the loan portfolio.

2006 v. 2005. Net charge-offs for the year ended June 30, 2006 amounted to $53,000, respectively,
compared to $186,000 for the year ended June 30, 2005. As a result of continued improvement in asset quality,
the provision for loan losses for the year ended 2006 was a recovery of $68,000, compared to no provision for
fiscal 20035. Nonperforming loans totaled $345,000 at June 30, 2006 compared to $426,000 at June 30, 2005.

2005 v. 2004. There were no additions to the allowance for loan losses for either period. Net charge-offs
were $186,000 for 2005 compared to $362,000 for 2004. Nonaccrual loans were $426,000 at June 30, 2005
compared to $1.1 million at June 30, 2004.

An analysis of the changes in the allowance for loan losses is presented under “dllowance for Loan Losses
and Asset Quality.”
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Noninterest Income. The following table shows the components of noninterest income and the
percentage changes from 2006 to 2005 and from 2005 to 2004.

% Change % Change

2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(Dollars in Thousands)
Dividends from investments. .. ................. $ 44 § 52 $ 48 (15.4% 8.3%
Mortgage originationfees .. ...... ... .. ... .. .. 578 122 — 3738 NM
Service chargesand fees. ...................... 544 549 625 (0.9) (12.2)
Gain on sale of fixedassets . ................... — — 1 NM (100.0)
Gain (loss) on sale of investments . .............. (293) (284) 22 3.2 NM
Gain on sale of equity investment .. ............. 35 329 — (894 NM
Gain on sale of foreclosed property .. ............ 170 84 152 1024 (44.7)
BOLI increase incash value. . .................. 206 205 80 0.5 156.3
Other. ... ..o e 91 147 139  (38.1) 5.8
Total noninterestincome . .................. $1,375 $1.,204 $1,067 14.2 12.8

2006 v. 2005. Noninterest income increased $171,000, or 14.2%, to $1.4 million for the year ended
June 30, 2006 compared to $1.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. Mortgage origination fee income
accounted for the largest increase in noninterest income with $578,000 for fiscal 2006 and $122,000 for fiscal
2005. In January 2005, we began originating and selling loans in the secondary market. For the year ended
June 30, 2006, we originated $56.4 million in non-portfolio loans that were sold in the secondary market
compared to $16.3 miilion for the year ended June 30, 2005. Loss on sale of investment securities amounted to
$293,000 for the year ended June 30, 2006 compared to $284,000 for the corresponding period in 2005. During
the year ended June 30, 2006, investment securities were sold in response to liquidity and funding objectives.
Gain on sale of foreclosed property was $170,000 for the year ended June 30, 2006 compared to $84,000 for the
same period in 2003.

2005 v. 2004. Noninterest income increased $137,000, or 12.8%, for the year ended June 30, 2005, due
to a combination of factors, including an increase in mortgage origination fees and an increase in the cash
value of bank owned life insurance more than offsetting a decrease in service charges and gain on sale of
foreclosed real estate. Mortgage origination fee income increased $122,000, as we began originating loans
for the secondary mortgage market in January 2005. The decrease in service charges and fees was primarily
attributable to lower NSF fees.

Noninterest Expense. The following table shows the components of noninterest expense and the
percentage changes from 2006 to 2005 and from 2005 to 2004.

% Change %Change

2006 2005 2004 2006/2005 2005/2004
(Dollars in Thousands)
Compensation and benefits . ................... $5,577 $4,074 § 3,175 36.9% 28.3%
OCCUPANCY .\ttt et e e i 388 323 257 20.1 25.7
Equipment and data processing . ................ 1,059 968 974 94 (0.6)
DIF deposit insurance premiums . . ... ........... 26 29 37 (10.3) (21.6)
REOEXPENSe ... ovv ittt e e 51 89 209 (42.7) (57.4)
Advertising. ... i i 370 210 213 76.2 (1.4)
Contribution to the Jefferson
Federal Charitable Foundation................. — — 4,000 NM (100.0)
Other. ... 1,479 1,338 1,400 10.5 4.4)
Total noninterest expense. . .. ............... $8,950 $7,031  $10,265 273 (31.5)

2006 v. 2005. For the year ended June 30, 2006, noninterest expense increased $1.9 million, or 27.3%, to
$9.0 million due primarily to an increase in compensation and benefits expense. Compensation and benefits
expense increased $1.5 million, or 36.9%, to $5.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2006, primarily due to
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staff additions for our new branch offices in Hamblen and Knox Counties and our future branch office in
Knox County that is anticipated to open in 2007. There were 98 bank employees at June 30, 2006 compared
to 77 employees at June 30, 2005. Further, on July 1, 2005, we adopted FASB Statement No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment,” using the modified prospective approach, which requires the expensing of unvested stock
options granted prior to the adoption date. The expense will be based on the grant-date fair value and will be
recognized over the remaining vesting period. The cost of stock options that have vested prior to the adoption
of SFAS 123R is never recognized. Accordingly, for the year ended June 30, 2006, compensation expense
included $265,000 related to the expensing of stock options.

2005 v. 2004. Noninterest expense decreased $3.2 million, or 31.5%, to $7.0 million for the year ended
June 30, 2005 due to the nonrecurring expense associated with the $4.0 million contribution to the Jefferson
Federal Charitable Foundation during the year ended June 30, 2004, Compensation expense increased
$899,000, or 28.3%, to $4.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2005 primarily due to staff additions for the
lending office in Knoxville, Tennessee which opened on January 1, 2005 and our two anticipated branch
offices to open in 2006 in Knoxville, Tennessee, combined with normal salary increases and expenses related
to the Stock Incentive Plan.

Income Taxes.

2006 v. 2005. For the year ended June 30, 2006, income tax expense decreased $543,000, or 29.1%, to
$1.3 million due to lower taxable income.

2005 v. 2004. Income tax expense for the year ended June 30, 2005 was $1.9 million compared to
$706,000 for the comparable period in 2004. The income tax expense for the year ended June 30, 2004
reflected the contribution of cash and common stock to the Jefferson Federal Charitable Foundation. The
contribution to the Foundation was tax deductible, subject to a limitation based on 10% of the Company’s
annual taxable income. Any unused portion of the deduction may be carried forward for five years following
the year in which the contribution is made.

Balance Sheet Analysis

Loans. Net loans increased $45.7 million, or 21.9%, to $254.1 million at June 30, 2006. Our expansion
into the Knoxville, Tennessee market has generated additional lending opportunities, which has resulted in
significant growth in our loan portfolio. Our primary lending activity is the origination of loans secured by
real estate. We originate real estate loans secured by one- to four-family homes, commercial real estate, multi-
family real estate and land. We also originate construction loans and home equity loans. At June 30, 2006,
real estate loans totaled $209.4 million, or 81.6% of our total loans, compared to $168.8 million, or 80.0% of
total loans at June 30, 2005 and $170.9 million, or 90.2% of total loans, at June 30, 2004. Real estate loans
increased $40.6 million, or 24.0%, in the year ended June 30, 2006 and decreased $2.1 million, or 2.2%, in the
year ended June 30, 2005.

Commercial real estate loans increased $23.3 million, or 42.9%, to $77.5 million in the year ended June
30, 2006 and decreased $5.7 million, or 11.2%, to $54.3 million in the year ended June 30, 2005. Commercial
real estate loans increased due to our emphasis on this type of lending. At June 30, 2006, commercial real
estate loans represented 37.0% of mortgage loans and 30.2% of total loans.

One-to four-family loans decreased $2.2 million, or 2.8%, to $77.4 million for the year ended June 30,
2006 and decreased $5.1 million, or 6.1%, to $79.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2005. At June 30, 2006,
one-to four-family loans represented 37.0% of mortgage loans and 30.2% of total loans.

Multi-family real estate loans decreased $639,000, or 7.5% in the year ended June 30, 2006 and decreased
$645,000, or 7.0%, in the year ended June 30, 2005. Construction loans increased $6.4 million, or 91.4%, in the
year ended June 30, 2006 and increased $4.0 million, or 134.2%, in the year ended June 30, 2005. The increase
in construction loans as of June 30, 2006 was primarily due to an increase in demand. Land loans increased
$12.7 million, or 88.2%, in the year ended June 30, 2006 and increased $3.7 million, or 34.0%, in the year
ended June 30, 2005.
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Commercial business loans increased $1.1 million, or 3.1%, in the year ended June 30, 2006 and increased
$22.0 million, or 173.8%, in the year ended June 30, 2005. Since January 2002, a significant portion of the
commercial business loans that we have originated have been tied to prime and, thus, will reprice quickly as
interest rates change.

We originate a variety of consumer loans, including loans secured by automobiles, mobile homes and
deposit accounts at Jefferson Federal. Consumer loans totaled $11.5 million and represented 4.5% of total loans
at June 30, 2006, compared to $7.6 million, or 3.6% of total loans, at June 30, 2005 and $5.9 million, or 3.1% of
total loans, at June 30, 2004, Consumer loans increased in the year ended June 30, 2006 due to an increase in
indirect automobile loans.

The following table sets forth the composition of our loan portfolio at the dates indicated.

At June 30,
2006 200s 2004 2003 2002
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent

(Dollars in thousands)
Real estate loans:
Residential one- to

four-family ........... $ 77415 30.2% $ 79,652 37.7% § 84,784 44.8% $ 84,628 46.2% $ 94,595 49.0 %
Home equity lines
ofcredit.............. 5,954 23 4,898 23 3,143 1.7 1,736 09 253 0.1
Commercial. ............ 77,519 30.2 54,252 25.7 59,993 31.7 49,020 26.7 46,672 24.2
Multi-family ............ 7,929 31 8,568 4.1 9,213 49 13,229 7.2 13,163 6.8
Construction . ........... 13,454 S2 7,029 33 3,001 1.6 3,584 2.0 7,465 39
Land .................. 27,133 10.6 14,415 6.8 10,760 57 10,197 5.6 13,011 6.7
Total real estate loans. ... 209,404 8l.6 168,814 80.0 170,894 90.2 162,394 88.6 175,159 90.7
Commercial business loans. . 35,665 13.9 34,603 16.4 12,640 6.7 13,472 7.4 7,759 4.0
Non-real estate loans:
Automobile loans ........ 8,458 33 4457 2.1 2,200 1.2 3,081 1.7 4,243 2.2
Mobile home loans . . ... .. 234 0.1 379 0.2 531 0.3 719 04 954 0.5
Loans secured by deposits. . 977 04 1,041 0.5 1,084 0.6 1,841 1.0 2,787 1.4
Other consumer loans . . . . . 1,854 0.7 1,705 0.8 2,038 1.1 1,715 0.9 2,249 1.2
Total non-real estate
loans............... 11,523 4.5 7,582 3.6 5,853 3.1 7,356 4.0 10,233 53
Total gross loans. ....... 256,592 100.0% 210,999 100.0% 189,387 100.0% 183,222 100.0% 193,151 LM) %
Less:
Uneamed discount on loans — — ) 5) (36)
Deferred loan fees, net . . .. (293) (268) (306) (366) (387)
Allowance for losses. . . . .. (2,172) (2,293) (2,479) (2,841) (2,696)
Total loans
receivable, net .. ..... $254,127 $208,438 $186,601 $180,010 $190,032
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The following table sets forth certain information at June 30, 2006 regarding the dollar amount of
principal repayments becoming due during the periods indicated for loans. The table does not include any
estimate of prepayments which significantly shorten the average life of all loans and may cause our actual
repayment experience to differ from that shown below. Demand loans having no stated schedule of repayments
and no stated maturity are reported as due in one year or less.

Commercial
Real Estate Business Consumer Total
Loans Loans Loans Loans
Amounts due in: (In thousands)

Oneyearorless..........ovvviniiennnnnenon, $ 32,916 $12,755 $ 2,407 5 483,078
More thanone to three years. .. .................. 40,301 9,603 2,348 52,252
More than three to fiveyears. .. .................. 40,812 13,084 5,054 58,950
More than fiveto 1Syears. ...................... 47,798 223 1,714 49,735
Morethan 15years ........... ... ... .. ... ... .. 47,577 — — 47,577
Total. ..o $209,404 $35,665 $11,523  $256,592

The following table sets forth the dollar amount of all loans at June 30, 2006 that are due after June 30,
2007 and have either fixed interest rates or floating or adjustable interest rates.

Floating or
Adjustable
Fixed-Rates Rates Total

(In thousands)

Real estate loans:

One-to four-family . . ....... .. ..o i $21,541 $ 51,275 § 72,816
Home equity linesof credit. . ............ ... .. ... .. ..., — 5,887 5,887
Commercial. . ........ . 31,153 37,678 68,331
Multi-family ....... .. 2,304 5,560 7,364
CONSIUCHION . o\ ottt e 1,508 4919 6,427
Land. . ... e 12,295 2,368 14,663
Commercial business loans ......... ..., 12,163 10,747 22910
Consumer loans ... ... e e 9,116 — 9,116
Total. ..o $90,080 $118,434  $208,514

The following table shows activity in our loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale, during the periods
indicated.

Year Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Total loans at beginning of period . . .................. ... ... ... $210,999  $189,387  $184,904
Loans originated:
Realestate . ... ... 87,114 43,072 55,333
Commercial business. ... ........ ... . i 59,398 70,644 7,772
CONSUIMET . . .ttt e e e e e 15,385 6,844 5,122
Total loans originated ........... ... ... iviiiiin.. .. 161,897 120,560 68,227
Real estate loan principal repayments . .. ......... ... 0.0, (48,205) (47,444) (41,485)
Other repayments . ... ..ot (68,099) (51,504) (22,259)
Net1oan activity . ..ot e 45,593 21,612 4,483
Total gross loans atend of period. . . ............................ $256,592  $210,999  $189,387
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Investments. Our investment portfolio consists primarily of federal agency debt securities with
maturities of seven years or less and mortgage-backed securities with stated final maturities of thirty years or
less and municipal bonds with maturities of 20 years or less. Investment securities decreased $21.5 million, or
40.3%, in the year ended June 30, 2006 due primarily to sales of investment securities. Proceeds from the sale
of investment securities were used to generate liquidity and to fund growth in the loan portfolio.

The following table sets forth the carrying values of our investment securities portfolio at the dates
indicated. All of our investment securities are classified as available-for-sale.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value
(Dollars in thousands)

Federal agency securities. . ................ $28,330 $27,503 $42,447 $42,137 $80,443 $79,273
Municipal securities . .................... 4,502 4,342 3,475 3,417 3,425 3,314
Mortgage-backed securities. . .............. — — 7,695 7,812 12,422 12418
Total ... o $32,832 $31,845 $53,617 $53,366 396,290 $95,005

The following table sets forth the maturities and weighted average yields of investment securities at
June 30, 2006.

More than More than
One Year to Five Years to More than
Five Years Ten Years Ten Years Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

Carrying Average Carrying Average Carrying Average Carrying Average
Value Yield Value Yield Value Yield Value Yield

Federal agency securities . . . .. .. $27,503 341% $§ — 000% $§ — 0.00% $27,503 341%
Municipal securities . . . ........ 2,022 2.61 1,134 343 1,041 3.53 4,197 3.03
Total. .................... $29,525 335% § 1,134 343% § 1,041 3.53% §31,700 3.36%

Other Assets. Other assets increased $3.9 million to $4.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2006. The
increase reflects a receivable of $3.9 million for mortgage-backed securities that have been sold, but have not
settled at June 30, 2006,

Deposits. Our primary source of funds is our deposit accounts. The deposit base is comprised of
checking, savings, money market and time deposits. These deposits are provided primarily by individuals and
businesses within our market areca. We do not use brokered deposits as a source of funding. Total deposits
increased $4.1 million, or 2.1%, to $198.8 million at June 30, 2006 primarily due to growth in money market
accounts and time deposits. Time deposits increased $3.5 million, or 2.9%, to $124.6 million, while money
market accounts increased $3.7 million, or 11.5%, to $35.5 million at June 30, 2006. The increase in the
balance of money market accounts and time deposits reflect competitive pricing and customer preference for
higher-rate deposit accounts.

The decrease in total deposits for the year ended June 30, 2005 was primarily attributable to a decrease
in time deposits. The decrease in time deposits was the result of our pricing strategy combined with strong
competition for deposits in our market.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Noninterest-bearing accounts. . . .......... $ 10,806 $ 9973 § 7,958
NOWaccounts . .................o..... 16,408 18,818 15,220
Passbookaccounts ..................... 11,524 12,944 13,849
Money market deposit accounts. .......... 35,502 31,841 28,930
Certificates of deposit. . ................. 124,603 121,130 138,976
Total. ... o $198,843 $194,706 $204,933




The following table indicates the amount of jumbo certificates of deposit by time remaining until
maturity as of June 30, 2006. Jumbo certificates of deposit require minimum deposits of $100,000.

Certificates
of Deposit
Maturity Period (In thousands)
Three months OT 1688 . . v vt et ittt e $ 9,487
Over three through sixmonths . .................... . ... 2,673
Over six through twelvemonths . ... .................... 8,133
Overtwelvemonths. . ........ ... ... ... . ... ... .... 17,074
Total ..o e $37,367

The following table sets forth the time deposits classified by rates at the dates indicated.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
0.00-1.00% ........... ... ... $ — ¥ — § 7442
1.01-2.00%. ............. ... ..., 60 7,449 35,578
201-300%. ... 7,914 68,640 54,532
301-4.00%. ............... 35,795 43,359 26,984
401-500%. ...... ... 77,152 1,453 13,785
501-6.00%. .......... ... 3,682 229 655
Total .............. ... ... ... $124,603 $121,130 $138,976

The following table sets forth the amount and maturities of time deposits at June 30, 2006,

Amount Due

Percent of Total
Less Than 1-2 2-3 3-4 Certificate
One Year Years Years Years Total Accounts

(Dollars in thousands)

101-200% . ... $ 60 % —8%§ — 8% — 5§ 60 0.0%
201-3.00% .. ... 6,322 1,592 — — 7,914 6.4%
301-4.00% . ... 15,707 16,646 3,390 52 35,795 28.7%
401-5.00% ...l 55,331 9,846 11,020 955 77,152 61.9%
S01-600%............. Ll 3,682 — — — 3,682 3.0%

Total........... ... $81,102 $28,084 $14,410 $1,007 $124,603  100.0%

Borrowings. We have relied upon advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Cincinnati
to supplement our supply of lendable funds and to meet deposit withdrawal requirements. FHLB advances
were $52.4 million at June 30, 2006 compared to $17.0 million at June 30, 20035. The following table presents
certain information regarding our use of FHLB advances during the periods and at the dates indicated.

Year Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004

(Dollars in thousands)

Maximum amount of advances outstanding

atanymonthend ........................ $52,400 $17,000 $6,000
Average advances outstanding. .. ............... 33,867 13,167 2,667
Weighted average interest rate during the period . . . 4.16% 3.34% 3.97%
Balance outstanding at end of period. ............ $52,400 $17,000 $6,000
Weighted average interest rate at end of period. . . . . 4.49% 3.4% 2.77%
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Stockholders’ Equity. Stockholders equity decreased $7.5 million to $74.5 million at June 30, 2006 due
to the Company’s purchase of common stock through its repurchase program. Retained earnings increased
$711,000 to $34.8 million at June 30, 2006 due to net earnings of $2.3 million partially offset by the payment
of dividends to shareholders in the amount of $1.8 million. Unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, in the
available-for-sale investment portfolio are reflected as an adjustment to stockholders’ equity. At June 30, 2006,
the adjustment to stockholders’ equity was a net unrealized loss of $609,000 compared to a net unrealized loss
of $155,000 at June 30, 2005. During the year ended June 30, 2006, there were 687,259 shares of Company
common stock purchased through the repurchase program at a cost of $9.2 million. At June 30, 2006, an
additional 574,274 shares remained eligible for repurchase under the current stock repurchase program.

Allowance for Loan Losses and Asset Quality

Allowance for Loan Losses. The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable losses
inherent in the loan portfolio. We evaluate the need to establish reserves against losses on loans on a monthly
basis. When additional reserves are necessary, a provision for loan losses is charged to earnings.

In connection with assessing the allowance, we have established a systematic methodology for
determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. The methodology utilizes a loan grading system
which segments loans with similar risk characteristics. Management conducts monthly loan reviews to assess
credit risks and the overall quality of the loan portfolio.

The Office of Thrift Supervision, as an integral part of its examination process, periodically reviews our
allowance for loan losses. The Office of Thrift Supervision may require us to make additional provisions for
loan losses based on judgments different from ours.

The allowance for loan losses decreased $121,000 to $2.2 million at June 30, 2006. As a result of
continued improvement in asset quality, the provision for loan losses for the year ended June 30, 2006 was
a recovery of $68,000, compared to no provision for the year ended June 30, 2005. Net charge-offs were
$53,000 for fiscal 2006 compared to $186,000 for fiscal 2005. At June 30, 2006, our allowance for loan losses
represented 0.85% of total gross loans and 629.57% of nonperforming loans, compared to 1.09% of total gross
loans and 538.3% of nonperforming loans at June 30, 2005.

At June 30, 2005, our allowance for loan losses represented 1.09% of total gross loans and 538.3% of
nonperforming loans, compared to 1.31% of total gross loans and 228.9% of nonperforming loans at June 30,
2004. The allowance for loan losses decreased $186,000 to $2.3 million at June 30, 2005.

Although we believe that we use the best information available to establish the allowance for loan
losses, future adjustments to the allowance for loan losses may be necessary and results of operations
could be adversely affected if circumstances differ substantially from the assumptions used in making
the determinations. Furthermore, while we believe we have established our allowance for loan losses in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, there can be no assurance that regulators, in
reviewing our loan portfolio, will not request us to increase our allowance for loan losses. In addition, because
future events affecting borrowers and collateral cannot be predicted with certainty, there can be no assurance
that the existing allowance for loan losses is adequate or that increases will not be necessary should the quality
of any loans deteriorate as a result of the factors discussed above. Any material increase in the allowance for
loan losses may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
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Summary of Loan Loss Experience. The following table sets forth an analysis of the allowance for
loan losses for the periods indicated. Where specific loan loss reserves have been established, any difference
between the loss reserve and the amount of loss realized has been charged or credited to current income.

Year Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

Allowance at beginning of period. ... ......... $ 2,293 $ 2,479 $ 2,841 $ 2,696 $ 2,209
Provision for loanlosses ........... ......... (68) — — 787 1,221
Recoveries:

Realestate loans. ....................... 29 47 60 5 —

Commercial business loans . .............. 45 52 53 171 204

Consumerloans ........................ 119 155 150 259 479

Total recoveries. .. ................... 193 254 263 435 683

Charge offs: ,

Realestateloans. . ...................... (107) (180) (313) (397) (295)

Commercial businessloans . .............. (2) 2) (82) (219) (312)

Consumerloans ............. ... ... ..... (137) (258) (230) (461) (810)

Total charge-offs. . ................... (246) (440) (625) (1,077) (1,417)

Netcharge-offs ........... ... ... ... ...... (53) (186) (362) (642) (734)

Allowance at end of period ............... $ 2,172 $ 2,293 $ 2,479 $ 2,841 $ 2,696
Allowance to nonperforming loans. ........... 629.57%  538.26%  22890% 161.79%  130.40%
Allowance to total gross loans

outstanding at the end of the period ........ 0.85% 1.09% 1.31% 1.54% 1.37%
Net charge-offs to average loans

outstanding during the period .. ........... 0.02% 0.09% 0.19% 0.34% 0.38%

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the allowance for loan losses by loan category at the dates
indicated.

At June 30,
2006 2005
% of % of
% of Loans in % of Loans in
Allowance Category Allowance Category
to Total to Total to Total to Total
Amount Allowance Loans Amount Allowance Loans
Realestate. ......................... $ 1,649 75.9% 81.6% $ 1,981 86.4%  80.0%
Commercial business .. ............... 454 209 13.9 250 10.9 16.4
CONSUMer . ........coviiinannnn., 69 32 4.5 62 2.7 3.6
Unallocated. ........................ — — N/A — — N/A
Total allowance for loan losses. . ........ $2,172 100.0% $2293 100.0%
At June 30,
2004 2003 2002
% of % of % of
% of Loans in % of Loans in % of Loans in
Allewance  Category Allowance Category Allowance Category
to Total to Total to Total to Total to Total to Total
Amount Allowance Loans Amount Allowance Loans Amount Allowance Loans
Realestate............. $2,108 85.0% 90.2% $2,203 77.5% 88.7% $ 800 29.7% 90.9%
Commercial business. . .. 193 7.8 6.7 293 10.3 7.3 569 21.1 39
Consumer............. 178 7.2 3.1 345 12.2 4.0 1,327 49.2 5.2
Unallocated. . . ......... —_ — N/A — — N/A — — N/A
Total allowance for
loanlosses........... $2.479 100.0% $2,841 100.0% $2,696 100.0%




Nonperforming and Classified Assets. When a loan becomes 90 days delinquent, the loan is placed on
nonaccrual status at which time the accrual of interest ceases and the reserve for any uncollectible accrued
interest is established and charged against operations. Typically, payments received on a nonaccrual loan are
applied to the outstanding principal and interest as determined at the time of collection of the loan.

As a community financial institution, we have strived to serve the credit needs of our local communities,
which has included lending to borrowers with marginal credit histories. Consequently, we have experienced
a higher level of delinquencies, classified assets and charge-offs. In recent periods, we have taken steps that
are intended to help us to continue to serve the credit needs of the community while improving asset quality.
These measures include the use of a credit scoring model that is designed to assist in predicting payment
performance for newly originated loans. We now use Beacon credit scores to price loans according to risk, to
monitor loan profitability, to monitor the diversification of the loan portfolio, including subprime loans, and to
track loans that are charged off. We believe that these efforts have helped to reduce nonperforming assets.

We consider repossessed assets and loans that are 90 days or more past due to be nonperforming assets.
Real estate that we acquire as a result of foreclosure or by deed-in-lieu of foreclosure is classified as real estate
owned until it is sold. When property is acquired, it is recorded at the lower of its cost, which is the unpaid
balance of the loan plus foreclosure costs, or fair market value at the date of foreclosure. Holding costs and
declines in fair value after acquisition of the property result in charges against income.

Nonperforming assets totaled $435,000, or 0.13% of total assets, at June 30, 2006, compared to $1.3
million, or 0.45% at June 30, 2005. Foreclosed real estate decreased $840,000 to $74,000 at June 30, 2006. At
June 30, 2006, foreclosed real estate consisted of $48,000 of single family homes and $26,000 of parcels of real
estate. Nonaccrual loans at June 30, 2006 included $296,000 of residential mortgage loans, and $49,000 of
commercial business loans.

Under current accounting guidelines, a loan is defined as impaired when, based on current information
and events, it is probable that a creditor will be unable to collect all amounts due under the contractual terms
of the loan agreement. We consider consumer installment loans to be homogeneous and, therefore, do not
separately evaluate them for impairment. All other loans are evaluated for impairment on an individual basis.
At June 30, 2006, we had 356,000 of impaired loans, which consisted of a residential mortgage loan.

The following table provides information with respect to our nonperforming assets at the dates indicated.
We did not have any troubled debt restructurings at the dates presented.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands)

Nonaccrual loans:

Realestate.......... ... ... .. $ 296 $ 426 $1,047 $1,739 $1,935
Commercial business. . ..................... 49 — 15 — —
COonSUMET . ...ttt e e i — — 21 17 133

Total. ... 345 426 1,083 1,756 2,068

Accruing loans past due
90 daysormore. ...t — — — — —
Total of nonaccrual and 90 days

ormore pastdue loans. ............... 345 426 1,083 1,756 2,068
Realestateowned............................ 74 914 552 1,227 978
Other nonperforming assets (1} ................. 16 — — 16 66

Total nonperforming assets . .............. $ 435 $1,340 $1,635 $2,999 $3,112
Total nonperforming loans to total loans.......... 0.13% 0.20% 0.58% 0.98% 1.09%
Total nonperforming loans to total assets ......... 0.11% 0.14% 0.35% 0.48% 0.77%

Total nonperforming assets to total assets......... 0.13% 0.45% 0.54% 0.82% 1.16%

(1) Consists primarily of repossessed automobiles and mobile homes.
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Interest income that would have been recorded for the year ended June 30, 2006 and the year ended
June 30, 2005 had nonaccruing loans been current according to their original terms amounted to $26,000 and
$33,000, respectively. The amount of interest related to these loans included in interest income was $19,000 for
the year ended June 30, 2006 and $25,000 for the year ended June 30, 2005.

Pursuant to federal regulations, we review and classify our assets on a regular basis. In addition, the
Office of Thrift Supervision has the authority to identify problem assets and, if appropriate, require them to be
classified. There are three classifications for problem assets: substandard, doubtful and loss. “Substandard
assets” must have one or more defined weaknesses and are characterized by the distinct possibility that we will
sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. “Doubtful assets” have the weaknesses of substandard
assets with the additional characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full on the basis
of currently existing facts, conditions and values questionable, and there is a high possibility of loss. An
asset classified “loss™ is considered uncollectible and of such little value that continuance as an asset of the
institution is not warranted. The regulations also provide for a “special mention™ category, described as assets
which do not currently expose us to a sufficient degree of risk to warrant classification but do possess credit
deficiencies or potential weaknesses deserving our close attention. When we classify an asset as substandard
or doubtful we must establish a general allowance for loan losses. If we classify an asset as loss, we must either
establish specific allowances for loan losses in the amount of 100% of the portion of the asset classified loss or
charge off such amount.

The following table shows the aggregate amounts of our classified assets at the dates indicated.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
Substandardassets . ......... ... ... . ..., $5,370 $4,287 $5,592
Doubtfulassets. . ...............ciiin... — — —
Lossassets .......... .o, — — —
Total classified assets ..................... $5,370 84,287 $5,592

At each of the dates in the above table, substandard assets consisted of all nonperforming assets plus
other loans that we believed exhibited weakness. These substandard but performing loans totaled $4.9 million,
$2.7 million and $4.0 million at June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. At June 30, 2006, we also had
$10.6 million of loans that we were monitoring because of concerns about the borrowers’ ability to continue
to make payments in the future, none of which were nonperforming or classified as substandard. At that date,
$368,000 of the allowance for loan losses related to those loans.

Delinquencies. The following table provides information about delinquencies in our loan portfolio at the
dates indicated.

At June 30,
2006 2005 2004

30-59 Days 60-89 Days 30-59 Days 60-89 Days 30-59 Days 60-89 Days
Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due
(In thousands)

Realestateloans ................. $ 828 $ 145 $2,711 $ 589 $4,773 $1,142
Commercial business loans. ........ 396 171 595 165 1,176 15
Consumerloans.................. 102 1 185 4 231 84

Total ........ ... ... $1,326 $317 $3.,491 $758 $6,180 $1,241

At each of the dates in the above table, delinquent real estate loans consisted primarily of loans secured
by residential real estate.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is the ability to meet current and future financial obligations of a short-term nature. Our
primary sources of funds consist of deposit inflows, loan repayments, maturities and sales of investment
securities and borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati. While maturities and scheduled
amortization of loans and securities are predictable sources of funds, deposit flows and mortgage prepayments
are greatly influenced by general interest rates, economic conditions and competition,

We regularly adjust our investments in liquid assets based upon our assessment of (1) expected loan
demand, (2) expected deposit flows, (3) vields available on interest-earning deposits and securities and (4) the
objectives of our asset/liability management program. Excess liquid assets are invested generally in interest-
earning deposits and short-and intermediate-term U.S. Government agency obligations.

QOur most liquid assets are cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing deposits. The levels of these
assets are dependent on our operating, financing, lending and investing activities during any given period. At
June 30, 2006, cash and cash equivalents totaled $3.1 million and interest-bearing deposits totaled $8.8 million.
Securities classified as available-for-sale, which provide additional sources of liquidity, totaled $31.8 million
at June 30, 2006. In addition, at June 30, 2006, we had arranged the ability to borrow a total of approximately
$58.3 million from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Cincinnati. On that date, we had advances outstanding of
$52.4 million.

At June 30, 2006, we had $2.1 million in loan commitments outstanding. In addition to commitments
to originate loans, we had $16.1 million in loans-in-process primarily to fund undisbursed proceeds of
construction loans, $1.4 in unused standby letters of credit and $11.9 million in unused lines of credit.
Certificates of deposit due within one year of June 30, 2006 totaled $81.1 million. We believe, based on past
experience, that a significant portion of those deposits will remain with us. We have the ability to attract and
retain deposits by adjusting the interest rates offered.

The following table presents certain of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2006.

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years S years
(In thousands)
Long-term debt obligations (1). ..................... $32,000 $15,000 $15,000 $2,000 $—
Capital lease obligations. . . ............... ... ..., — — — — —
Operating lease obligations (2). . .................... 100 60 30 — —
Purchase obligations (3) ... ........ ... o il 693 290 403 — —
Other long-term liabilities reflected
onthebalancesheet ........... ... ... .. ... ...... — — — — _—
Total ... e e $32,793 $15,350 $15,433 $2,000 $—

(1)  $2.0 million of this amount is callable on September 9, 2006.

(2) Payments are for lease of real property. The lease expires in 2007, with an option to extend for an
additional five years.

(3) Payments are minimum payments for data processing services. Actual payments may be higher,
depending on usage.

Our primary investing activities are the origination of loans and the purchase of securities. In the year
ended June 30, 2006, we originated $161.9 million of loans and purchased $1.2 million in securities. In fiscal
2003, we originated $120.6 million of loans and purchased $265,000 million of securities. In fiscal 2004, we
originated $68.2 million of loans and purchased $75.6 million of securities.

Financing activities consist primarily of activity in deposit accounts and Federal Home Loan Bank
advances. We experienced a net increase in total deposits of $4.1 million in the year ended June 30, 2006 and
a net decrease in total deposits of $10.2 million and $119.3 million for the years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Deposit flows are affected by the overall level of interest rates, the interest rates and products
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offered by us and our local competitors and other factors. We generally manage the pricing of our deposits to
be competitive and to increase core deposit relationships. Occasionally, we offer promotional rates on certain
deposit products in order to attract deposits. Federal Home Loan Bank advances were $52.4 million at June
30, 2006. Federal Home Loan Bank advances at June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 were $17.0 million and $6.0
million, respectively.

We are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the Office of Thrift
Supervision, including a risk-based capital measure. The risk-based capital guidelines include both a
definition of capital and a framework for calculating risk-weighted assets by assigning balance sheet assets
and off-balance sheet items to broad risk categories. At June 30, 2006, we exceeded all of our regulatory
capital requirements. We are considered “well capitalized” under regulatory guidelines. See “Regulation and
Supervision—Federal Savings Institution Regulation—Capital Requirements.”

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of operations, we engage in a variety of financial transactions that, in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, are not recorded in our financial statements. These transactions
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate, and liquidity risk. Such transactions are used
primarily to manage customers’ requests for funding and take the form of loan commitments, unused lines
of credit, amounts due mortgagors on construction loans, amounts due on commercial loans and commercial
letters of credit.

For the three months and year ended June 30, 2006, we engaged in no off-balance-sheet transactions
reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Impact of New Accounting Pronouncements

The impact of new accounting pronouncements is discussed in Note 4 to the Company’s Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements attached hereto and is incorporated by reference.

Effect of Inflation and Changing Prices

The financial statements and related financial data presented in this prospectus have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, which require the measurement of financial position
and operating results in terms of historical dollars without considering the change in the relative purchasing
power of money over time due to inflation. The primary impact of inflation on our operations is reflected
in increased operating costs. Unlike most industrial companies, virtually all the assets and liabilities of a
financial institution are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates generally have a more significant impact
on a financial institution’s performance than do general levels of inflation. Interest rates do not necessarily
move in the same direction or to the same extent as the prices of goods and services.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Qualitative Aspects of Market Risk. Our most significant form of market risk is interest rate risk. We
manage the interest rate sensitivity of our interest-bearing liabilities and interest-earning assets in an effort
to minimize the adverse effects of changes in the interest rate environment. Deposit accounts typically react
more quickly to changes in market interest rates than mortgage loans because of the shorter maturities of
deposits. As a result, sharp increases in interest rates may adversely affect our earnings while decreases in
interest rates may beneficially affect our earnings. To reduce the potential volatility of our earnings, we have
sought to improve the match between asset and liability maturities and rates, while maintaining an acceptable
interest rate spread. Pursuant to this strategy, we actively originate adjustable-rate mortgage loans for retention
in our loan portfolio. These loans generally reprice beginning after five years and annually thereafter. Most
of our residential adjustable-rate mortgage loans may not adjust downward below their initial interest rate.
Although historically we have been successful in originating adjustable-rate mortgage loans, the ability to
originate such loans depends to a great extent on market interest rates and borrowers’ preferences. This
product enables us to compete in the fixed-rate mortgage market while maintaining a shorter maturity. Fixed-
rate mortgage loans typically have an adverse effect on interest rate sensitivity compared to adjustable-rate
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loans. In recent years, we have used investment securities with terms of seven years or less and adjustable-
rate mortgage-backed securities to help manage interest rate risk. We currently do not participate in hedging
programs, interest rate swaps or other activities involving the use of off-balance sheet derivative financial
instruments.

We have established an Asset/Liability Committee to communicate, coordinate and control all aspects
involving asset/liability management. The committee establishes and monitors the volume and mix of assets
and funding sources with the objective of managing assets and funding sources to produce results that are
consistent with liquidity, capital adequacy, growth, risk limits and profitability goals.

Quantitative Aspects of Market Risk. We use an interest rate sensitivity analysis prepared by the Office
of Thrift Supervision to review our level of interest rate risk. This analysis measures interest rate risk by
computing changes in net portfolio value of our cash flows from assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items
in the event of a range of assumed changes in market interest rates. Net portfolio value represents the market
value of portfolio equity and is equal to the market value of assets minus the market value of liabilities, with
adjustments made for off-balance sheet items. This analysis assesses the risk of loss in market risk sensitive
instruments in the event of a sudden and sustained 100 to 300 basis point increase or 100 to 200 basis point
decrease in market interest rates with no effect given to any steps that we might take to counter the effect of
that interest rate movement. Because of the low level of market interest rates, this analysis is not performed for
decreases of more than 200 basis points. We measure interest rate risk by modeling the changes in net portfolio
value over a variety of interest rate scenarios.

The following table, which is based on information that we provide to the Office of Thrift Supervision,
presents the change in our net portfolio value at June 30, 2006 that would occur in the event of an immediate
change in interest rates based on Office of Thrift Supervision assumptions, with no effect given to any steps
that we might take to counteract that change.

Net Portfolio Value
Net Portfolio Value as % of
(Dollars in thousands) Portfolio Value of Assets
Basis Point (“bp”) Change in Rates Amount  $ Change % Change NPV Ratio Change
300DP . o v oo $65,860 (5,451) (8%)  20.67%  (110)bp
2000 . 67,926 (3,385) (5%)  21.11%  (66)
100 .« 69,442  (1,869) (3%)  21.40% (36)
O 71,312 — — 21.77% —

() 71,510 198 0% 21.72% %)
(00) ..o 71,862 550 1% 21.71% 6)

The Office of Thrift Supervision uses certain assumptions in assessing the interest rate risk of savings
associations. These assumptions relate to interest rates, loan prepayment rates, deposit decay rates and the
market values of certain assets under differing interest rate scenarios, among others. As with any method
of measuring interest rate risk, certain shortcomings are inherent in the method of analysis presented in the
foregoing table. For example, although certain assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods
to repricing, they may react in different degrees to changes in market interest rates. Also, the interest rates
on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of changes in market interest rates, while
interest rates on other types may lag behind changes in market rates. Additionally, certain assets, such as
adjustable-rate mortgage loans, have features that restrict changes in interest rates on a short-term basis and
over the life of the asset. Further, in the event of a change in interest rates, expected rates of prepayments on
loans and early withdrawals from certificates could deviate significantly from those assumed in calculating the
table.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements required by this Item are incorporated by reference to the Company’s Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements found on pages F-4 through F-29 hereto.
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ITEM 9. CHANGE IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, including the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). Based upon their evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded
that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were effective for the purpose of ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in the reports that
the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) (1) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms, and (2) is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In addition, based on that evaluation, no change in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting is incorporated by reference to page F-1.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART 111
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information relating to the directors and officers of Jefferson Bancshares and information regarding
compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated herein by reference to Jefferson Bancshares’
Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to Part I, Item 1, “Description of Business
— Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a written code of ethics, which applies to our senior financial officers. We intend
to disclose any changes or waivers from our Code of Ethics applicable to any senior financial officers on
our website at http:./www.jeffersonfederal.com or in a report on Form 8-K. A copy of the Code of Ethics is
available, without charge, upon written request to Jane P. Hutton, Corporate Secretary, Jefferson Bancshares,
Inc., 120 Evans Avenue, Morristown, Tennessee 37814,

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information contained under the sections captioned “Executive Compensation” and “Director
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDERS MATTERS

(@ Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners. The information required by this item
is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Stock Ownership” in the Proxy
Statement.

(b) Security Ownership of Management. The information required by this item is incorporated
herein by reference to the section captioned “Stock Ownership” in the Proxy Statement.
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(¢) Changes in Control. Management of Jefferson Bancshares knows of no arrangements, including
any pledge by any person of securities of Jefferson Bancshares, the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change in control of the registrant.

(d) Equity Compensation Plan Information.

The following table provides information as of June 30, 2006 for compensation plans under which equity
securities may be issued. The data included in this table has been adjusted to reflect the exchange of 4.2661
shares of Jefferson Bancshares common stock for each share of Jefferson Federal common stock in connection
with the Conversion. Jefferson Bancshares does not maintain any equity compensation plans that have not

been approved by security holders.

Plan category

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders. ...................

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders. .. .................

Total ... . .

Number of securities =~ Weighted-average
to be issued upon exercise price

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation

exercise of of outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding options,  options, warrants securities reflected
warrants and rights and rights in column (a))
(3 (b) ©
441,504 $12.82 296,972
441,504 $12.82 296,972

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned

“Transactions with Management” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned

“Proposal 2 — Ratification of Independent Auditors” in the Proxy Statement.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@ (1) The exhibits and financial statement schedules filed as a part of this report are as follows:

e  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

] Consolidated Balance Sheets for the Years Ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.
. Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and

2004.

. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended
June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

° Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and

2004.

. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) All schedules are omitted as the required information either is not applicable or is included
in the financial statements or related notes.

43



(3) Exhibits

3.1 Charter of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (1)
32 Bylaws of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (1)
4.0 Specimen Stock Certificate of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (1)
10.1 *Employment Agreement between Anderson L. Smith, Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. and
Jefferson Federal Bank (2)
10.2 *Amendment to Employment Agreement between Anderson L. Smith, Jefferson

Bancshares, Inc. and Jefferson Federal Bank (3)
10.3 *Employment Agreement Between Charles G. Robinette and Jefferson Federal Bank (4)

10.4 *Jefferson Federal Savings and Loan Association of Morristown Employee Severance
Compensation Plan (1)

10.5 *1995 Jefferson Federal Savings and Loan Association of Morristown Stock Option
Plan (1)

10.6 *Jefferson Federal Bank Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (1)

10.7 *Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. 2004 Stock-Based Incentive Plan (5)

11.0 Statement re: computation of per share earnings (6)

21.0 List of Subsidiaries

23.0 Consent of Craine, Thompson & Jones, P.C.

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.0 Section 1350 Certifications

(1)

@

€y

)

®)

©)

Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

Incorporated herein by reference from the Exhibits to Form S-1, Registration Statement and amendments
thereto, initially filed on March 21, 2003, Registration No. 333-103961.

Incorporated herein by reference from the Exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on
September 29, 2003.

Incorporated herein by reference from the Exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on
September 13, 2004.

Incorporated herein by reference from the Exhibits to the Quarterly Report, as amended, on Form 10-
Q/A, filed on February 24, 2005.

Incorporated herein by reference from Appendix A to the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed on
December 1, 2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to Note 3 to the Company’s Audited Financial Statements found on page
F-14.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC.

Date: September 11, 2006 By: /s/ Anderson L. Smith
Anderson L. Smith
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Anderson L. Smith President, Chief Executive Officer and Director September 11, 2006
Anderson L. Smith (principal executive officer)
/s/ Jane P. Hutton Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary  September 11, 2006
Jane P. Hutton (principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/ John F. McCrary, Jr. Director September 11, 2006

John F. McCrary, Jr.

/s/ H. Scott Reams Director September 11, 2006
H. Scott Reams

/s/ Dr. Jack E. Campbell Director September 11, 2006
Dr. Jack E. Campbell

/s/ Dr. Terry M. Brimer Director September 11, 2006
Dr. Terry M. Brimer

/s/ William F. Young Director ] September 11, 2006
William F. Young

/s/ William T. Hale Director September 11, 2006
William T. Hale '

45




REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. The Company’s management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2006 based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO™).
Based on this evaluation, management concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective

- as of June 30, 2006 based on the specified criteria. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2006 has been audited by Craine, Thompson
& Jones, P.C., an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.




CRAINE, THOMPSON, & J @NE& P.C.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
225 WEST FIRST NORTH STREET
P.O. Box 1779
SUITE 300, MILLENNIUM SQUARE
MORRISTOWN, TENNESSEE 37816-1779
423-586-7650

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors
Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiary
Morristown, Tennessee

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiary as of June 30,
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company ‘s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiary as of June 30, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiary’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 20086,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO)}, and our report dated August 30, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting.

‘QM,J/W ° et f,SC.

Morristown, Tennessee
August 30, 2006

JAMES W. CRAINE, CPA THOMAS M. JONES, CPA
GLENN B. THOMPSON, CPA, CFP, PFS HIRAM H. JONES, CPA
MIRA J. CRAINE, CPA




CRAINE, THOMPSON, & JONES, P.C.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
225 WEST FIRST NORTH STREET
P.O. Box 1779
SUITE 300, MILLENNIUM SQUARE
MORR!STOWN, TENNESSEE 37816-1779
423-586-7650

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Jefferson Bancshares, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Form 10-K, that Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOQ). Jefferson Bacnshares, Inc.'s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit including abtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of June 30, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOQ). Also in our opinion, Jefferson Bancshares, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
balance sheets and the related statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows of Jefferson
Bancshares, Inc., and our report dated August 30, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion.

Morristown, Tennessee
August 30, 2006

JAMES W. CRAINE, CPA THOMAS M. JONES, CPA
GLENN B. THOMPSON, CPA, CFP, PFS HIRAM H. JONES, CPA
MIRA J. CRAINE, CPA F-3




JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in Thousands)

June 30,
2006 2005

Assets
Cashandcashequivalents. .............. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ........ $ 3,146 $ 3,799
Interest-bearing deposits . . ... ... . 8,810 7,228
Investment securities classified as available forsale,net...................... 31,845 53,366
Federal Home Loan Bank stock . ...... ... 0 i, 1,745 1,652
Bank owned life insurance . ............. .. 5,491 5,285
Loans receivable, net of allowance for loan losses of $2,172 and $2,293.......... 254,127 208,438
Loans held-for-sale .. ... ... . . e 1,645 3,137
Premises and equipment, net. .. .. ... ... 11,926 7,073
Foreclosed real estate, et .. ... vt e e e e 74 914
Accrued interest receivable:

VeSS, . . .o e e 330 489

Loansreceivable, met . ... .. . e 1,342 1,059
Deferred tax asset . ... i 1,986 1,878
OtReT 58T . . . o ot 4,670 723
TOtal ASSEES . . . ..o $327,137 $295,041
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Deposits:

NonintereSt-bearing . ... ... ..ttt $ 10,806 $ 9,973

Interest-bearing. . . . ... oot 188,037 184,733
Federal Home Loan Bank advances . . .. ..ottt 52,400 17,000
Other labilities . ... .. . e e e 1,295 1,307
ACCTUEA INCOMIE TAXES .« o v vttt st ettt et et e e ettt 56 —

Total Habilities . . .. ... i e 252,594 213,013

Commitments and contingent liabilities . . .......... ... ... ... ... .. ....... — —

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued
and outstanding — NOME. . ... .ottt — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized; 8,406,648
shares issued and 6,613,557 and 7,289,284 outstanding at June 30, 2006 and

2005 1eSPECLIVELY . o\t 84 84
Additional paid-in capital. . . ... .. . .. e 72,171 71,694
Unearned ESOP shares. . .. ... e e s (5,401) (5,833)
Unearned COMPEnSatION. . ..o v vttt ettt e et (2,733) (3,232)
Accumulated other comprehensiveincome. . .......... ... ... (609) (155)
Retained eammings. . ... ...t i e 34,780 34,069
Treasury stock, at cost (1,793,091 and 1,105,832 shares) .. ................. (23,749) (14,599)

Total stockholders'equity. . ... ... . .. o 74,543 82,028

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ................... e $327,137 $295,041

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(Dollars in Thousands Except Per Share Amounts)

Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Interest income:
Interest on loansreceivable. ......... ..o, $16,152 $13,027 $12,692
Interest on investment SECUrities. . ... ...ovveevnennvnn .. 1,631 2,466 3,204
Otherinterest. .. ...t i e 309 286 171
Total interest INCOME . . . .. ..ttt 18,092 15,779 16,067
Interest expense:
DEPOSIS. . . oot e 5,527 4,199 4,670
AdvancesfromFHLB. .......... ... ... ... ... ... ....... 1,408 440 106
Total interest €Xpense .. .......ouvereeiunernienaas 6,935 4,639 4,776
Netinterest inCome .. ..ot 11,157 11,140 11,291
Reductioninlossallowance . ........................... (68) — —
Net interest income after provision for loan losses. . ......... 11,225 11,140 11,291
Noninterest income:
Dividends . ... e 44 52 48
Mortgage originationincome . ............ .. i, 578 122 —
Servicechargesandfees. ..., 544 549 625
Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities,net............. (293) (284) 22
Gain on sale of equity investment. .. ..................... 35 329 —
Gain on sale of foreclosed real estate,net. . ................ 170 84 152
Increase in BOLIcashvalue............................ 206 205 80
OtheT . e 91 147 140
Total noninterest income . . . . . P 1,375 1,204 1,067
Noninterest expense:
Compensationand benefits . .......... ... ... ... ... ... 5,577 4,074 3,175
Occupancy expense. . .............. e 388 323 257
Equipment and data processing expenses . ........... R 1,059 968 974
DIF deposit insurance premitm . . ......c.ovuneennnen.n.. 26 29 37
AdVErtiSIng . ..o e e 370 210 213
REO eXpense. .. ... cov e 51 89 209
Charitable contributions . . ...t — — 4,000
Other ... . 1,479 1,338 1,400
Total noninterest Xpense ... ...........c.oovuveen.n.. 8,950 7,031 10,265
Earnings before income taxes .. .......................... 3,650 5,313 2,093
Income taxes (benefits): . .......... .. ... ... .. ... .. ...
CUITent, . . ot 1,146 1,704 1,694
Deferred. ....... .o 174 159 (988)
Total INCOME tAXES . . . . ottt e e i 1,320 1,863 706
Netearnings................ . ..o it $ 2330 $ 3,450 $ 1,387
Net earnings per common share —basic. . ................. $ 037 $ 047 3§ 0.18
Net earnings per common share —diluted . .. .............. $ 037 $ 047 $ 0.18

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in Thousands)

Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Netearnings . .« ..o v et $ 2,330 $ 3,450 $ 1,387
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
(used for) operating activities:
Stock contributed to the Jefferson Federal Charitable

Foundation .......... ... ... . ittt — — 3,750
Allocated ESOPshares............. ... ..., 570 561 590
Depreciation and amortization expense . . ................ 296 279 288
Amortization of premiums (discounts), net investment

SECUTTHES . o . i vt ettt i 26 17 1
Provision for loan losses. . ......... .. .. L il (68) — —
Gainonsale of fixedassets ........................... — — 1
Gain on sale of equity investments. .. ................... (35) (329) —
Loss (gain) on sale of investment securities,net ........... 293 284 (22)
FHLBstockdividends ............................... (93) (72) (62)
Amortization of deferred loan fees,net . ................. (124) (122) (175)
Gain on foreclosed real estate, net . .. ................... (170) (84) (152)
Deferredtax benefit ... ... ... ... ... ... .............. 174 159 (938)
Tax benefit from stock optionsand MRP. ................ 25 25 —
Eammed portion of MRP. .. .. .. ... . .o 500 440 220
Origination of mortgage loans held forsale. .. ............ (56,359) (16,278) —
Proceeds from sales of mortgage loans .................. 57,851 13,141 —
Increase in cash value of life insurance . ................. (206) (205) (80)
Stock optionsexpensed ............ ... ... . ... 265 — —
Decrease (increase) in:

Accrued interest receivable. . ... .. ... ... oL (124) 278 108

Other assets. .. ...t e (35) 74 533
Increase (decrease) in other lLiabilities ................... 209 175 (220)

Net cash provided by operating activities. ... .. ... ... 5,325 1,793 5,179

Cash flows from investing activities:

Loan originations, net of principal collections. . .............. (44,691) (22,245) (6,332)
Purchase of available-for-sale securities . ................... (1,246) (265) (75,590)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities ............ 18,786 35,725 24,914
Return of principal on mortgage-backed securities . ... ........ 2,726 4,211 6,861
Proceeds from maturities, calls, and prepayments. . ........... 200 2,700 22,500
Proceeds from sale of equity investments . .................. — 344 —
Proceeds from sales of securities notsettled . ................ (3,912) — —
Purchase of bank owned life insurance ..................... — — (5,000)
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment. .............. — — 7
Purchase of premises and equipment. . ..................... (5,149) (2,232) (1,246)
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed real estate,net.............. 428 480 792

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ... .. .. (32,858) 18,718 (33,094)

(continued)
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JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — (Continued)

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net increase (decrease) in deposits ..............oo ...
Proceeds from stock conversion, net . ......... ...
Merger of MHC into Jefferson Bancshares . .................
Proceeds from advances from FHLB. ......................
Repayment of FHLBadvances ...........................
Purchase of company stock for stock based incentive plan. ... ..
Purchase of treasury stock . ........ ... o i i
Proceeds from exercise of stock options .. ..................
Dividendspaid........ .. .o

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities.......

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, and
interest-bearing deposits ............ ..ol

Cash, cash equivalents, and interest-bearing deposits at
beginningofperiod . ....... ... . . . i

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ................. ...

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest on deposits and advances. . .....................
INCOmME taXeS. . . oottt e
Real estate acquired in settlement of loans ..................

Years Ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004

4137 (10227)  (119,314)

— — 57,771

— — 111
64,400 24,000 14,500
(29,000)  (13,000) (10,500)
— (185) (3,708)
(9,150) (14,599 —
49 44 34
(1,974) (1,928) (1,111)

28,462  (15,895) (62,217)

929 4,616 (90,132)

11,027 6,411 96,543

$ 11956  § 11,027 3 6411

3 6,935 $ 4,639 3 4776
§ 1,460 $ 1,810 2,052
§ 449 § 1,668 3 1,826

A2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On July 1, 2004, Jefferson Bancshares, M.H.C. (the M.H.C\) and Jefferson Federal Savings and Loan
Association of Morristown (the Association) completed a conversion from the mutual holding company form of
organization into the stock holding company form of organization. A newly organized Tennessee corporation,
Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. (the Company), was formed to become the holding company for the Association.
The Company sold 6.6 million shares at $10.00 per share and commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global
Market under the symbol JFBI.

During the process of conversion, the Association changed its name to Jefferson Federal Bank (the Bank).
The Company provides a variety of financial services to individuals and small businesses through its offices in
Upper East Tennessee. Its primary deposit products are transaction accounts and term certificate accounts and
its lending products are commercial and residential mortgages and, to a lesser extent, consumer loans.

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Jefferson
Bancshares, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, Jefferson Federal Bank. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates — In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the statement
of condition dates and revenues and expenses for the periods shown. Actual results could differ from
the estimates and assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements. Material estimates that are
particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for
loan losses, the valuation of foreclosed real estate, and deferred tax assets.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk — The Company originates residential real estate
loans and, to a lesser extent, commercial real estate and consumer loans primarily to customers located in
Upper East Tennessee. The ability of the Company’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the
real estate and general economic conditions in this area.

Significant Accounting Policies — The following comprise the significant accounting policies, which
the Company follows in preparing and presenting its consolidated financial statements:

a.  For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances due from
depository institutions and interest-bearing deposits in other depository institutions with original
maturities of three months or less. Interest-bearing deposits in other depository institutions were
$8.,810 and $7,228 at June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

b.  Investments in debt securities are classified as “held-to-maturity” or “available-for-sale” according
to the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 115. Investments classified as “held-to-maturity” are carried at cost while
those identified as “available-for-sale” are carried at fair value. All securities are adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts over the term of the security using the interest
method. Management has the positive intent and ability to carry those securities classified as “held-
to-maturity” to maturity for long-term investment purposes and, accordingly, such securities are
not adjusted for temporary declines in market value. “Available-for-sale” securities are adjusted for
changes in fair value through a direct entry to a separate component of stockholders’ equity (i.e.,
other comprehensive income). Investments in equity securities are carried at the lower of cost or
market. The cost of securities sold is determined by specific identification.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

c.  Loans receivable, net, which management has the intent and ability to hold until maturity or pay-
off, are generally carried at unpaid principal balances less loans in process, net deferred loan fees,
unearned discount on loans and allowances for losses. Loan origination and commitment fees
and certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and amortized to interest income over the
contractual life of the loan using the interest method.

The accrual of interest on all loans is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days delinquent. All
nterest accrued but not collected for loans considered impaired, placed on non-accrual or charged
off is reversed against interest income. The interest on these loans is accounted for on the cash basis
or cost-recovery method until the loan is returned to accrual status. Loans are returned to accrual
status when future payments are reasonably assured.

d.  Beginning in January 2005, the Company began originating mortgage loans conforming to
guidelines for sale in the secondary mortgage market. Because commitment letters are only given
to the borrower after an underwriter agrees to purchase the loan according to the stated terms, the
Company’s maximum time between funding the loan and completing the sale to the underwriter is
generally three weeks. The loans are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or fair market value as
determined by the amount committed to by the underwriter. The loans are sold without recourse
and the mortgaging service rights are sold as part of the loan package.

e.  The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a
provision for loan losses charged to earnings. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when
management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, if
any, are credited to the allowance.

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management and is based upon
management’s periodic review of the collectibility of the loans in light of historical experience, the
nature and volume of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability

to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral and prevailing economic conditions. This
evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision
as more information becomes available. The Company is subject to periodic examination by
regulatory agencies, which may require the Company to record increases in the allowances based on
the regulator’s evaluation of available information. There can be no assurance that the Company’s
regulators will not require further increases to the allowances.

The allowance consists of specific, general and unallocated components. The specific component
relates to loans that are classified as either doubtful, substandard or special mention. The general
component covers non-classified loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for
qualitative factors. An unallocated component is maintained to cover uncertainties that could affect
management’s estimate of probable losses. The unallocated component of the allowance reflects
the margin of imprecision inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the methodologies for
estimating specific and general losses in the portfolio.

Specific valuation allowances are established for impaired loans for the difference between the loan
amount and the fair value of collateral less estimated selling costs. The Company considers a loan
to be impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will
be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement on

a timely basis. The types of loans for which impairment is measured include non-accrual income
property loans (excluding those loans included in the homogeneous portfolio which are collectively
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JEFFERSON BANCSHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

reviewed for impairment), large non-accrual single-family loans and troubled debt restructuring.
Such loans are placed on non-accrual status at the point deemed uncollectible. Impairment losses
are recognized through an increase in the allowance for loan losses.

f.  Credit related financial instruments arising in the ordinary course of business consist primarily of
commitments to extend credit. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

g Premises and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for
assets with a life greater than one year and costing more than $1,000 are generally capitalized.
Depreciation of premises and equipment is computed using the straight-line and accelerated
methods based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Estimated lives for buildings,
leasehold improvements, equipment and furniture are thirty nine, thirty nine, five and seven years,
respectively. Estimated lives for building improvements are evaluated on a case-by-case basis and
depreciated over the estimated remaining life of the improvement.

h.  Foreclosed real estate is initially recorded, and subsequently carried, at the lower of cost or fair
value less estimated selling costs. Costs related to improvement of foreclosed real estate are
capitalized.

1. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability (or balance sheet)
method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the tax
effects of the temporary differences between the book and tax bases of the various balance sheet
assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in tax rates and laws.

jo Effective July 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Standards No. 123R Share
Based Payment which is an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation. This statement requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value
of the award (with limited exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the period during which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award - the requisite service period.

The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective application transition method.
This method requires the Company to expense the unvested portion of options granted in 2004,
which reduces net earnings by approximately $217, net of taxes for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2006 and by approximately $543 in the remaining requisite service period. SFAS 123R provides for
the use of alternative models to determine compensation cost related to stock option grants. The
Company has determined the estimated fair value of stock options at grant date using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model based on market data as of January 29, 2004. The expected dividend
yield of 1.17% and expected volatility of 7.01% were used to model the value. The risk free rate

of return equaled 4.22%, which was based on the yield of a U.S. Treasury note with a term of ten
years. The estimated time remaining before the expiration of the options equaled ten years.

Stock options issued prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R are accounted for under the intrinsic

value based method of accounting prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25 Accounting for Stock Issued
fo Employees as allowed under SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Had
compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan for the years ending June 30, 2005 and 2004
been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under the plan consistent with
the method prescribed in SFAS NO. 123, the Company’s net income and earnings per share would
have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
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NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Years Ended June 30,
2005 2004
Net income:
Asreported. . ... $3.450 $1,387
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value method for all awards, net of
relatedtaxeffects .......... ... .. .. .. L {164) (82)
Pro-forma. . ..o $3,286 $1,305
Basic net earnings per share:
Asreported. .. ... $ 0.47 $ 0.18
Pro-forma.......... ... . .. . 0.45 0.16
Earnings per common share assuming dilution:
ASTeported. ..o e e $047 $0.18
Pro-forma........................ P 0.45 0.16

k. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of
financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and due from banks and interest-bearing deposits with banks — For cash and related
instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value,

Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities — Fair values for securities, excluding
restricted equity securities, are based on quoted market prices. The carrying values of restricted
equity securities approximate fair value.

Loans receivable — The fair value of loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using
the current rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and
for the same remaining maturities.

Loans Held-For-Sale — Since mortgage loans originated for sale in the secondary market are
pre-committed to by the underwriter prior to a commitment letter being sent to the borrower and
there is generally a three week maximum time interval between funding the loan and the sale to the
underwriter, the carrying amount of the loans held-for-sale approximate fair value.

Accrued interest receivable — The carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value for
accrued interest receivable.

Deposit liabilities — The fair value of demand deposits, savings accounts, and certain money
market deposits is the amount payable on demand at the reporting date. The fair value of fixed
maturity certificates of deposit is estimated using the rates currently offered for deposits of similar
remaining maturities.

Short-term borrowings — The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings maturing within 90
days approximate their fair values. Fair values of other short-term borrowings are estimated using
discounted cash flow analysis based on the Company’s current incremental borrowing rates for
similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Off-balance-sheet instruments — Fair values for off-balance-sheet lending commitments are based
on fees currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms
of the agreements and the counter-parties’ credit standings.
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NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment Reporting — The Company’s operations are solely in the financial services industry and
include providing to its customers traditional banking and other financial services. The Company operates
primarily in Upper East Tennessee. Management makes operating decisions and assesses performance based
on an ongoing review of the Company’s financial results. Therefore, the Company has a single operating
segment for financial reporting purposes.

NOTE 2 — RESTRICTIONS ON CASH AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM BANKS

The Bank is required to maintain average balances on hand or with the Federal Home Loan Bank and
Federal Reserve Bank. At June 30, 2006 and 2005, these reserve balances amounted to $680 and $909,
respectively.

NOTE 3 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per common share and earnings per common share-assuming dilution have been computed on
the basis of dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding.
Diluted earnings per common share reflect additional common shares that would have been outstanding
if dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Potential common shares that may be issued by the
Company relate solely to outstanding stock options and are determined using the treasury stock method.
Calculations related to earnings per share are provided in the following table.

Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004

Weighted average number of common shares

used in computing basic earnings per

commonshare. ............ ... . ... ..., 6,345,549 7,265,831 7,723,215
Effect of dilutive stock options. .. ............... 16,075 16,496 42,266
Weighted average number of common shares

and dilutive potential common shares used in

computing earnings per common share

assuming dilution . .............. ... . ..., 6,361,624 7,282,327 7,765,481

NOTE 4 — IMPACT OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation
No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes as an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. The
Interpretation provides a recognition threshold and measurement guidance for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. At issue are tax
positions that are likely to come under examination and where the outcome of the examination is uncertain.
The Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2006. The Company does not
anticipate that this Interpretation would have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments — In February 2006, the FASB issued
Statement No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments as an amendment to FASB No. 133
and 140. The effective date for this pronouncement is for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 30, 2006. Since the Company does not hold
any hybrid financial instruments, this pronouncement is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
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NOTE 4 — IMPACT OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets — In March 2006, the FASB issued Statement No.
156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets as an amendment to FASB Statement No. 140. This
pronouncement provides guidance on recognizing servicing assets and liabilities each time an entity
undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by entering into a service contract in certain situations.
The statement also requires the measurement of any recognized servicing assets or liabilities to be done so
at fair value. The pronouncement also provides subsequent measurement methods for recognizing servicing
assets and liabilities. The effective date for this pronouncement is as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal
year that begins after September 15, 2006. The Company does not anticipate this statement having a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 5 — INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Investment securities are summarized as follows:

June 30, 2006

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities Available-for-Sale
Debt securities:
Federalagency ............................ $28,330 § — $(827) $27,503
Municipals ... .o 4,502 — (160) 4,342
Total securities available-for-sale .. ... ... ... $32,832 § — $(987) $31,845
Weighted-averagerate .. .................. .. ... 3.36%
June 30, 2005
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities Available-for-Sale
Debt securities:
Federalagency ............................ $42,447 $ 83 $(393) $42,137
Municipals . ... ... 3,475 2 (60) 3,417
Mortgage-backed ........... ... ... ... 7,695 117 — 7,812
Total securities available-for-sale........... §53,617 $202 $(453) $53,366
Weighted-averagerate .. ....................... 3.42%

Investment securities with a carrying value of $9,478 and $3,836 were pledged to secure public funds
and/or advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank at June 30, 2006 and 2003, respectively.
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NOTE 5 — INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONTINUED)

Securities with unrealized losses not recognized in income are as follows:

June 30, 2006
Federalagency...............
Municipals ..................

June 30, 2005
Federalagency...............
Municipals .. ................
Mortgage-backed .............

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

$ — $— $27,503 $(827)  $27,503  $(827)
144 (D 4,087 (159) 4,231 (160)

$144  $(1 $31.590  §(986)  $31.734  $(987)

$ — $— $39,003 $(393) $39,003 $(393)
255 9) 2,848 (51) 3,103 (60)

5255  S$(9)  S4L851  S(444)  $42006  $(453)

The Company evaluates its securities with significant declines in fair value on a quarterly basis to
determine whether they should be considered temporarily or other than temporarily impaired. The unrealized
losses on investments is attributable to changes in interest rates, rather than credit quality. Since the Company
has the ability and intent to hold these investments until a market price recovery or maturity, these investments

are not considered impaired on an other-than-temporary basis.

Maturities of debt securities at June 30, 2006, are summarized as follows:

Available-for-Sale Weighted
Amortized Fair Average

Cost Value Yield
Within Lyear ........ ... ... i, $§ 146 § 145 2.00%
Over 1 yearthrough Syears........................... 30,415 29,525 3.35%
After S yearsthrough 10years. .................. ... ... 1,178 1,134 3.43%
Over 10 Years .. ...t e 1,093 1,041 3.53%
32,832 31,845 3.36%

Proceeds from sale of debt securities and gross realized gains and losses on these sales are summarized

as follows:
Year Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Proceedsfromsales .............. ... . .. $18,786 $35,725 $25,000
Grossrealized gains. ....... ... ... o i i $ 40 $ 16 $ 147
Grossrealized losses ........... ... ... (333) (300) (125)
Netgains (losses) . ........co i, $ (293 §$ (284) % 22
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NOTE 6 — LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET

Loans receivable, net are summarized as follows:

June 30,
2006 2005
Real estate loans:
Residential 1-4 family ............................ $ 77,415 $ 79,652
Home equity linesof credit . ............ ... ... ... 5,954 4,898
Multi-family . ... .o 7,929 8,568
ConStruction . . .. .ot e 13,454 7,029
Commercial ........... .. .. . 77,519 54252
Land .. ... 27,133 14,415
Totalreal estate loans . . ........................ 209,404 168,814
Commercial business loans. . ......................... 35,665 34,603
Consumer loans:
Automobileloans. . ....... ... .. . 8,458 4,457
Mobilehomeloans. .. ....... ... ... . ... ... ... 234 379
Loans secured by deposits . ............. ... ... 977 1,041
Otherconsumerloans. .............ccoovtiiinann.. 1,854 1,705
Total consumerloans .......................... 11,523 7,582
Sub~total ........ ... ... 256,592 210,999
Less:
Deferred loan fees,net. ........................... (293) (268)
Unearned discountonloans. . ...................... — —
Allowance forlosses ........... .ot (2,172) (2,293)
Loans,net. . ... ... ... $254,127 $208,438
Weighted-averagerate. .. ... .....c.ivvevnneeennn.. 7.18% 6.64%

The following is a summary of information pertaining to impaired and non-accrual loans:

June 30,
2006 2005
Total impaired loans. . .................cccooiiiiinn.. $ 56 $ 80
Valuation allowance for impaired loans. . ................ $36 3§ 1
Total non-accrualloans . ............................. $345 $4206
Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Average investment in impaired loans. ............., $56 5134 $240
Interest income recognized on impaired loans ...... .. $— $ 3 % 16

No additional funds are committed to be advanced in connection with impaired loans.
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NOTE 6 — LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET (CONTINUED)

Commercial real estate loans are secured principally by office buildings, shopping centers, churches and
other rental real estate. Construction loans are secured by commercial real estate and single-family dwellings.

Following is a summary of activity in allowance for losses:

Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Balance, beginning of period. . ............ ... ... .. ... $2,293 $2,479 $2,841
Loans charged-off. .. ....... ... ... i i (246) (475) (625)
Recoveries. .. ...t 193 289 263
Reduction in provision for loanlosses . . .................. (68) — —
Balance,end of period ........... .. ... ... ... $2,172 $2,293 $2.479

Following is a summary of loans to directors, executive officers and associates of such persons:

Balance, June 30,2004 . . .. ... ... $7,180
AddItIOnS. . ... e 561
Repayment ... ... ... (150)
Balance, June 30,2005, ... ... .. 7,591
AdIIONS. . ..ot e e e 127
Repayment .. ...t e e (239)
Balance, June 30,2006. . .. ... .. . $7.479

These loans were made on substantially the same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable
transactions with unaffiliated persons.

NOTE 7 — PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Premises and equipment, net are summarized as follows:

June 30,

2006 2005
Land ... $ 3,358  $3,685
Officebuilding . . ...... .o 8,467 3,734
Leasehold improvements . .......... ... ... .. ... ... i 74 74
Furniture andequipment .......... ... .. .. .. . oo 2,845 2,102

14,744 9,595
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .. ............. 2,818 2,522

$11.926 $7,073

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004, was $296,
$288 and $306, respectively.
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NOTE 7 — PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the terms of non-cancelable lease agreements in effect at June 30, 2006, pertaining to real
property, future minimum payments are as follows:

For the vear ended June 30,

2007 e $60
2008 . 17
2000 . e 3
Total . &

Lease expense for June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $81, $54, and $15, respectively.

The Company has also entered into a service contract for data processing services. Future minimum
payments under this agreement are as follows:

For the year e e

200 e e e e e $ 290
2008 L e e 302
2000 L e 101
Otal . o $ 693

Data processing service expense for June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $463, $382, and $358,
respectively.

NOTE 8 — DEPOSITS

Deposits are summarized as follows:

June 30,
Description and Interest Rate 2006 2005
Noninterest-bearing NOW accounts . . .........oovieiinnennn. . $ 10,806 $ 9,973
NOW accounts, 0.50% . ... i e 16,408 18,818
Passbook accounts, 0.50% ......... ... 11,524 12,944
Money market deposit accounts, 3.62% and 2.76%, respectively. ... ..... 35,502 31,841
Total transaction aCCOUNES . .. .. .. ovvvr et ie et iae 74,240 73,576
Certificates: )
0.00-1.00%. . ..t e e — —
1.01-2.00%. ... e e e 60 7,449
2.01-3.00%0. .\ i 7,914 68,640
3014.00%. ..o 35,795 43,359
4015000, ..o e e 77,152 1,453
5.01=6.00%. . ..o\ o e e 3,682 229
Total certificates, 4.08% and 2.91%, respectively . ................. 124,603 121,130
Total depositS . .. oot e $198,843 $194,706
Weighted-average rate - deposits. .. ...........oo i 3.27% 2.46%
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NOTE 8 — DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

The aggregate amount of time deposits in denominations of $100,000 or more was $37,367 and $33,918,
respectively, at June 30, 2006 and 2005.

The Deposit Insurance Fund, as administrated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, insures
deposits up to applicable limits. Deposit amounts in excess of $100,000 are generally not federally insured.

At June 30, 2006, the scheduled maturities of time deposits are as follows:

2007 .ot $ 81,102
2008 ..o 28,084
2000 ..o 14,410
2010, . e et 1,007
) P $124,603

Years Ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004
NOW . $§ 8 § 88 § 85
Passbook accounts .......... ... ... L 61 66 75
Money market depositaccounts. ... ................... 1,228 605 358
Certificates . . ..o e 4,153 3,440 4,154

5,527 4,199 4,672
Less - early withdrawal penalties...................... — — 2

85,527 84,199 $4.,670

NOTE 9 — FHLB ADVANCE

Pursuant to collateral agreements with the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB™), advances are secured by
a Blanket Mortgage Collateral Agreement. The Agreement pledges the entire one-to-four family residential
mortgage portfolio and allows a maximum advance of $58,300 at June 30, 2006. Outstanding advances were
$52,400 and $17,000 at June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES

In computing federal income tax, savings institutions treated as small banks for tax years beginning
before 1996 were allowed a statutory bad debt deduction based on specified experience formulas or 8% of
otherwise taxable income, subject to limitations based on aggregate loans and savings balances. For tax years
after 1996, financial institutions meeting the definition of a small bank can use either the “experience method”
or the “specific charge-off method” in computing their bad debt deduction. The Company qualifies as a
small bank and is using the experience method. As of June 30, 2006, the end of the most recent tax year, the
Company’s tax bad debt reserves were approximately $1,312. If these tax bad debt reserves are used for other
than loan losses, the amount used will be subject to federal income taxes at the then prevailing corporate rates.
Beginning in the year ended June 30, 1999, the Company recaptured $622 of tax loss reserves over six years
(i.e. $104 per year).
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NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
Income taxes are summarized as follows:

Years Ended June 30,

2006 2005 2004
Current taxes:
Federalincome...............cuvuerninn. $ 924 $1,404 $ 1,690
State EXCISE. . .ottt e 222 300 4
1,146 1,704 1,694
Deferredtaxes .. ..o 166 151 (1,004)
Federalincome........................... 3 8 16
State EXCISE. . v vt e 174 159 (988)

$1,320 §1863 § 706

The provisions of SFAS No. 109 require the Company to establish a deferred tax liability for the tax effect
of the tax bad debt reserves over the base year amounts. There were no excess reserves at June 30, 2006 and
2005. The Company’s base year tax bad debt reserve is $1,312. The estimated deferred tax liability on the base
year amount is approximately $502, which has not been recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
The provision for income taxes differs from the federal statutory corporate rate as follows:

Percentage of Earnings Before
Income Taxes

Years Ended June 30,
2006 2005 2004
Tax at statutory rate. . .. ..ovve vt et 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
Increase (decrease) in taxes:
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit. . . . 4.0 3.7 0.1
Other,met. . ... ...t (1.3 2.6) 0.4
Effectivetaxrate ............................ 36.2% 35.1% 33.7%
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NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The components of the net deferred tax asset are summarized as follows:

June 30,
2006 2005
Deferred tax liabilities:
FHLB stock dividends . . ................... § (466) $ (431)
Allowance for “available-for-sale” securities . . . — —
Depreciation. . ... (3D) (54)

(497) (485)

Deferred tax assets:

Charitable contributions. .. ................. 939 1,040
Deferred loan fees,net..................... 112 103
Allowance for “available-for-sale” securities . . . 378 96
MRP compensation ....................... 107 169
Stock optionexpense . . .............. ... 48 —
Deferred compensation .................... 20 15
Allowance for lossesonloans . .............. 855 882
REOwritedowns ......................... 3 17
Unearned profit on sale of REO.............. 21 41
Gross deferred tax assets ................ 2,483 2,363
Valuation allowance . ................... — —
Deferred tax asset. ..................... 2,483 2,363
Netdeferred taxasset ............c.covvnin... $1,986 $1,878

NOTE 11 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401 (K) RETIREMENT PLAN. The Company has a defined contribution pension plan covering ali
employees having attained the age of 20 and ¥ and completing six months of service. Normal retirement date is
the participant’s sixty-fifth birthday.

Before the Company established the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (effective July 1, 2003), the 401(k)
plan was funded by annual employer contributions of 10% of the total plan compensation of all participants in the
plan. The amount contributed by the employer was divided among the participants in the same proportion that
each participant’s compensation bore to the aggregate compensation of all participants. Employer contributions
vest to employees over a seven-year period. Employees are permitted to make contributions of up to 50% of their
compensation subject to certain limits based on federal tax laws.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN. As part of the conversion, the Bank established an
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP). On July 1, 2003, the ESOP purchased 670,089 shares of Jefferson
Bancshares, Inc. from proceeds provided by the Company in the form of a loan. Thus, the ESOP is considered
a leveraged plan. Employees are eligible for participation in the plan upon attaining 20 and '% years of age and
completing six consecutive calendar months during which he has performed at least 500 hours of service. Each
plan year, the Bank may, in its discretion, make a contribution to the plan; however, at a minimum, the Bank
has agreed to make as a contribution the amount necessary to service the debt incurred to acquire the stock.

Shares are scheduled for release as the loan is repaid. The present amortization schedule calls for
43,206.63 shares to be released each December 31. Dividends on unallocated shares are used to repay the loan
while dividends paid on allocated shares become part of the plan’s assets. Accounting for the ESOP consists of
recognizing compensation expense for the fair market value of the shares as of the date of release. Allocated
shares are included in earnings per share calculations while unallocated shares are not included.
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ESOP compensation expense was $570, $561 and $590 for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
The original number of shares committed was 670,089 and 43,207, 43,207 and 21,990 were released during the
years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004. The 561,686 remaining unearned shares had an approximate fair

market value of $7,274 at June 30, 2006.

STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS. The Company maintains stock-based benefit plans under which
certain employees and directors are eligible to receive restricted stock grants or options. Under the 2005 Stock-
Based Benefit Plan, the maximum number of shares that may be granted as restricted stock is 279,500, and
a maximum of 698,750 shares may be issued through the exercise of nonstatutory or incentive stock options.
The exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant and an

option’s maximum term is ten years.

Restricted stock grants aggregating 45,000 shares and having a fair value of $597 were awarded in 2006
and 160,711 shares were awarded in 2004, having a fair value of $2,200. Restrictions on the grants lapse
in annual increments over five years. The market value as of the grant date of the restricted stock grants is
charged to expense as the restrictions lapse. Compensation expense for grants vesting in 2006, 2005 and 2004,

was $500, $440 and $220, respectively.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Dividend yield
Expected life (years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan is presented below:

Outstanding at beginning of year . .

Granted . .
Exercised .
Forfeited. .

Outstanding at end of year. . ... ...

Options exercisable at year-end. . . .

Weighted-average fair value of
options granted during

the year
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2006 2008 2004
............................... N/A N/A 1.17%
.......................... N/A N/A 10
........................... N/A N/A 7.01%
......................... N/A N/A 4.22%
2006 2005 2004
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
453,036 $12.60 462,635 $12.44 70,389 $ 4.07
— — — — 401,778 13.69
(11,532) 4.26 (9,599) 4.63 (9,532) 3.52
441,504 12.82 453,036 12.44 462,635 4.07
200,448 11.77 131,619 9.95 60,857 4.16
— — $ 13.69
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NOTE 11 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)

Information pertaining to options outstanding at June 30, 2006 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$3.52-8519. . ...l 39,726 .75 years § 402 39,726 § 4.02
$13.69 .. ... 401,778 7.59 years 13.69 160,722 13.69
Outstanding at end of year .. ... .. .. 441,504 6.97 years $12.82 200,448 $ 9.95

NOTE 12 — MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking
agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional
discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company
and Bank’s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of its
assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The
capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components,
risk weightings, and other factors,

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table) of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the
regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined) and core and tangible capital (as defined) to tangible assets
(as defined). Management believes as of June 30, 2006 and 2003, that the Bank met all capital adequacy
requirements to which it was subject.

As of June 30, 2006, the most recent notification from the Office of Thrift Supervision categorized the
Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized
as well capitalized, an institution must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based and Tier 1
leverage ratios as set forth in the following tables. There are no conditions or events since the notification that
management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of
June 30, 2006 and 2005 are also presented in the table.

Minimum To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Minimum Capital Prompt Corrective
Actual Requirements Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
As of June 30, 2006:
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets). . . .. $67,000 27.5% $19,523 >8.0% $24,404 >10.0%
Core Capital (to Tangible Assets). ......... 65,100 20.1% 12,961 >4.0% 16,201 > 5.0%
Tangible Capital (to Tangible Assets). ... ... 65,100 20.1% 4,860 >1.5% N/A
Tier | Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets).... 65,100 26.7% N/A 14,643 > 6.0%
As of June 30, 2005:
Total Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets). . . . . $67,648 354% $15293 >8.0% $19,116 >10.0%
Core Capital (to Tangible Assets). . ........ 65,539  22.7% 11,539  >4.0% 14,424 > 5.0%
Tangible Capital (to Tangible Assets). . ... .. 65,539  22.7% 4327 >1.5% N/A
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk Weighted Assets).... 65,539 34.3% N/A 11,470 > 6.0%
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NOTE 12 — MINIMUM REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table provides reconciliation between GAAP capital and the various categories of
regulatory capital:

Bank
June 30,
2006 2005

GAAPCapital ............. i $65,548 $66,225
Adjustments:

Deferredtaxes .......... ... ... ... ..... (1,030) (835)

Unrealized (gains)/losses . .................. 582 149
Core, Tangible and Tier 1 Capital ............... 65,100 65,539
Adjustments:

Allowances forlosses. . .................... 1,900 2,109
Total Capital. . .................iiinn . $67,000 $67,648

NOTE 13 — RESTRICTIONS ON DIVIDENDS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on dividends paid and loans or advances
made by the Bank to the Company. The total amount of dividends which may be paid at any date is generally
limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10 percent of the Bank’s
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis.

At June 30, 2006, the Bank’s retained earnings available for the payment of dividends was $32,935.
Accordingly, $41,214 of the Company’s equity in the net assets of the Bank was restricted at June 30, 2006.
Funds available for loans or advances by the Bank to the Company amounted to $6,555.

In addition, dividends paid by the Bank to the Company would be prohibited if the effect thereof would
cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

NOTE 14 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance risk in the normal course of business.
These financial instruments generally include commitments to originate mortgage loans. Those instruments
involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized on
the balance sheet. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the
borrower is represented by the contractual amount and related accrued interest receivable of those instruments.
The Company minimizes this risk by evaluating each borrower’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis.
Collateral held by the Company consists of a first or second mortgage on the borrower’s property. The amount
of collateral obtained is based upon an appraisal of the property.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the current amount that would be exchanged between
willing parties, other than in a forced liquidation. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market
prices. However, in many instances, there are no quoted market prices for the Company’s various financial
instruments. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using
present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions
used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may
not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument. SFAS 107 excludes certain financial instruments
from its disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented may not necessarily
represent the underlying fair value of the Company.
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NOTE 15 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK (CONTINUED)

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Financial assets:
Cash and balances due from banks and
interest-bearing deposits with banks. ..... .. $ 11,956 $ 11,956 $ 11,027 $ 11,027
Available-for-sale and held-to maturity
SECUNTHIES. . .ottt e 31,845 31,845 53,366 53,366
Federal Home Loan Bank stock. .. ........... 1,745 1,745 1,652 1,652
Loansreceivable. . ........................ 254,127 255,277 208,438 207,855
Accrued interestreceivable ... ..... ... ... ... 1,672 1,672 1,548 1,548
Loans held-for-sale. . .................... .. 1,645 1,645 3,137 3,137
Financial liabilities:
Deposits ..\ oot e (198,843) (192,090) (194,706) (194,354)
FHLBAdvance................coovinvn... (52,400) (52,091) (17,000) (16,971)
Off-balance-sheet credit items:
Commitments to extend credit. ... ........... — 2,094 — 3,301
Lettersofcredit .................. e — 1,389 — 330
Unused lines of credit. . . ................... — 11,879 — 10,952

NOTE 16 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments to originate mortgage loans are legally binding agreements to lend to the Company’s
customers and generally expire in ninety days or less. Commitments at June 30, 2006 to originate adjustable-
rate loans were approximately $1.15 million. Commitments at June 30, 2006 to originate fixed-rate loans were
approximately $941 with a term of fifteen years or less and interest rates of 6.65% to 7.85%. Commitments
at June 30, 2005 and 2004 to originate adjustable-rate loans were approximately $3.3 and $4.9 million,
respectively. Commitments at June 30, 2005 and 2004 to originate fixed-rate loans with terms of fifteen years
or less were approximately $21 and $332, respectively. Fixed rates were 5.95% for June 30, 2005 and ranged
from 4.45% to 7.60% for June 30, 2004. ‘

The Company has entered into employment agreements with its President and CEO Anderson L. Smith
and Charles Robinette, Chairman of the Company’s Knoxville Region. Agreement stipulations are terms,
duties, compensation and performance bonuses and provides remedies for both parties upon certain events
occurring. Mr. Smith’s agreement provides for deferred compensation upon him attaining age 63.

Upon completion of the conversion, a “liquidation account” was established in an amount equal to the
total equity of the Bank as of the latest practicable date prior to the conversion. The liquidation account
was established to provide limited priority claim to the assets of the Bank to “eligible account holders™, as
defined in the Plan of Conversion, who continue to maintain deposits in the Bank after the conversion. In
the unlikely event of a complete liquidation of the Bank, and only in such event, each eligible account holder
and supplemental eligible account holder would receive a liquidation distribution, prior to any payment to the
holder of the Bank’s common stock. This distribution would be based upon each eligible account holder’s
and supplemental eligible account holders proportionate share of the then total remaining qualifying deposits.
At the time of the conversion, the liquidation account, which is an off-balance sheet memorandum account,
amounted to $29.5 million.
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NOTE 17 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, the Company obtains products and services from directors or affiliates
thereof. In the opinion of management, such transactions are made on substantially the same terms as those
prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unaffiliated persons.

NOTE 18 — CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY

Financial information pertaining only to Jefferson Bancshares, Inc. is as follows:

Balance Sheet June 30, 2006
Assets
Cashanddue frombanks................ ... ... ... ... $ 588
Investment securities classified as available for sale, net ... ... .. 1,956
Investment in common stock of Jefferson Federal Bank. ........ 74,149
Loanreceivable from ESOP. . ........... ... ... ... . ... ..., 5,871
Deferredtax asset .............ciiiviniiiniinnnnnn. 956
Other @8SetS . ..ot vt 234
Totalassets . . ... $83,754
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Accrued EXPENSES. . ..ttt $ 609
Stockholders’equity....................... P 83,145
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .................. $83,754
Year Ended
Statement of Income June 30, 2006
Dividends from Jefferson Federal Bank .. ...................... $ 4,729
Interest on investment securities. . . ..............ov ... 73
Other INCOME . . ... . e e e e 343
Totalincome. .. ........ .. i 5,145
Other operating eXpenses . ..........c.ueveerviienannnnen .. 1268
Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed
net income of Jefferson Federal Bank .. ..................... 4,877
Incometax .. ... ... . . e 52
4,825
Equity in undistributed net income of Jefferson Federal Bank . . . ... (2,495)
NeEtINCOME. . . . oottt et e e e $ 2,330
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NOTE 18 — CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PARENT COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Year Ended
Statement of Cash Flows June 30, 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
NetinCome . . . ..ot e $ 2,330
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Dividends in excess of net income of
Jefferson Federal Bank .. ........................... 2,495
Deferredtax benefit .................................. 100
Tax benefit from stock optionsand MRP.................. 25
Loss onsale of investments ....................c....... —
Increase In other assets. . ..........veeurrriunnnnn ., (10)
Decrease in other liabilities ............................ (166)
Net cash provided by operations ........................ 4,774
Cash flows from investing activities:
Sales and maturities of debt securities. ................... ... —
Purchase of debt securities. ............ ... v, —
Investment in Jefferson Federal Bank . ...................... (30)
Return of principal on loanto ESOP . ...... ... ... ... ... 340
Net cash provided by investing activities.................. 310
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase of treasury stock .. ......... ..o i i (9,150)
Purchase of company stock for incentive plan................. —
Proceeds from exercise of options . . ........................ 49
Dividends paid on common stock .......... ... ... ... (1,777)
Net cash used for financing activities. . ................... (10,878)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents.................... (5,794)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. .. ............. 6,382
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year. .. .................. $ 588
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NOTE 19 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table summarizes selected information regarding the Company’s results of operations for
the periods indicated (in thousands except per share data):

Interestincome .......... .. ... ...
Interestexpense. ........ ... .ot
Net interestincome. . ... ...,
Reduction in provision for loanlosses ...........
Net interest income after reduction in provision
forloanlosses.........................
Noninterest iNCOME . . . ..o vunne ..
Noninterest eXpense ..................... .
Earnings before income taxes . ..............
Incometaxes ........... .. .. ... ..
Netearnings . .. ..o vvvvevn e
Earnings per share, basic. . ....................
Earnings per share, diluted . .. .................

Interestincome ............ ... oo i
Interestexpense. . ...
Netinterestincome. . . .......... ... .. .....
Provision for loan losses ......................
Net interest income after provision
forloanlosses................... ... ...
Noninterest inCOMe . . . ... .oovvnnnnnen....
Noninterest expense ............ R
Earnings before income taxes ...............
Incometaxes .......... . ... ... i
Netearnings . ............. ...,
Earnings per share, basic. . ....................
Earnings per share, diluted . . ................ ..

NOTE 20 — RECLASSIFICATIONS

Three Months Ended
September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30,
2005 2005 2006 2006
(Unaudited)
$4,194 $4,392 $4,605 $4,901
1,380 1,551 1,866 2,138
2,814 2,841 2,739 2,763
— — — (68)
2,814 2,841 2,739 2,831
456 413 313 193
2,075 2,087 2,286 2,502
1,195 1,167 766 522
410 457 290 163
§ 785 $ 710 $ 476 $ 359
$ 0.12 $ 0.11 $ 0.08 $ 0.06
$ 0.12 $ 011 $ 0.08 $ 0.06
Three Months Ended
September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30,
2004 2004 2005 2005
(Unaudited)
$3,888 $3,898 $4,000 $3,994
1,095 1,112 1,165 1,268
2,793 2,786 2,835 2,726
2,793 2,786 2,835 2,726
264 198 327 415
1,597 1,567 1,915 1,951
1,460 1,417 1,247 1,190
508 535 385 436
$ 952 $ 882 $ 862 $ 754
$ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.11
$ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.11

During the current year, the Company made an entry to reclassify loans held-for-sale from other assets to
a separate line item on the balance sheet. This reclassification is also reflected in the June 30, 2005 balances.
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